Agent Academic: Towards an understanding of experiences in innovative practice for evolving academia

A thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor of Education by Helene Wilkinson

June 2022

Abstract

The academic climate is challenging on so many levels arising from the research-teaching nexus, changes amongst the student body, appointments and distribution of resourcing, and an increasingly complex digitally connected world. To this extent, an innovative lens is necessary for evolving educational practice. It contributes to alternative perspectives in teaching and learning that ultimately seek to provide more effective means of doing so. Irrespective of its locale, novel and innovative educational solutions can advance knowledge and acquisition for learning, accreditation, and socialisation. Innovative practice is essential in higher education, but how does it evolve, and what contributes to this?

This research aims to explore this practice of innovativeness through the lens of individual academics and develop an understanding of alternative approaches in higher education and the processes and influences in that journey. How might an account of different experiences within higher education contribute to evolving ways of academic practice? How might this benefit higher education?

Assuming alternative experiences in evolving innovative practice exist, I used an interpretive phenomenological approach (IPA) to explore the phenomenon at an international level, including multiple disciplines, institutions, and locations. In addition, 15 online interviews with self-declared innovative practitioners were conducted via ZOOM. An existing innovation framework was used to design the interview schedule and lend structure to the investigation. Inductive and deductive analysis revealed key themes aligned with the individual, innovation, processes, and influences shaping new practice.

Academics, regardless of context, innovate in different ways. However, agency is revealed as critical to innovative practice and innovating, irrespective of the outcome. This study proposes extending the original framework to recognising recognise agency, awareness, and motivation as antecedents to achieving innovation. Enabling academics to develop high levels of agency alongside a culture of innovativeness can contribute to academia's sustainability in evolving meaningful practice. Furthermore, acknowledging agency has implications for how individual academics are managed, developed, and led, such that they can cultivate an agency that aligns with educational needs in this changing world. This study provides additional insights into variables and conditions for innovative practice and directions for future research.

Keywords: Agency, innovative practice, ways of innovating, innovation, culture of innovativeness, evolving innovative practice, innovation process, conditions for innovative practice

Statement of original authorship

The research contained in this thesis has not been previously submitted to meet requirements for any other award or credit at this or any institution of higher education. To the best of my knowledge, the thesis is wholly original, and all material or writing published or written by others and contained herein has been duly referenced and credited.

Date: 16 June 2022

Acknowledgments

In 1996 I completed my last formal study as a Master of Commerce student, studying Marketing and International Business. Although I have attempted a PhD in Marketing on two previous occasions, neither time nor supervisor was right for me, and I did not continue beyond the initial stages. I have since endured significant challenges in my working environment, causing me to shift my focus away from marketing toward higher education practice. I am realising my passion lies within education and supporting learners in their journey of acquiring knowledge. It is not constrained to or by my interests in marketing. Ironically, I am rebuilding my sense of agency within academia via this research. I am evolving to recognise the contribution I must make to my work, department, university, and higher education. I was becoming lost, and through undertaking this doctoral journey, I am finding my feet again. I know I am on the right path.

I am immensely grateful to Dr. Rita Kop, my primary supervisor, for sharing this journey. She understands the challenges I endured and always encouraged me to take the time to find the opportunity for writing when it was right and not to force it. Allowing myself this breathing space was critical in navigating data collection during the Covid-19 pandemic and how I could make sense of it.

I am also grateful to Mariya Ivancheva, my second supervisor, who stopped me in my tracks at different times, as she should have. She challenged me to think more deeply and critically and opened my eyes to a level of inquiry that strengthened my work.

To my husband Vaughn, my children Jaxon and Senna, and my amazing mum, Julie. You all believed in me. You supported me at every stage and through every tear and success. Thank you.

Finally, thank you to my research participants who gave up their time to share their experiences in innovating in higher education. You have given me the insights I needed and helped me see my practice differently.

Contents

1.	Ir	ntroduction	10
	1.1	Research Setting	11
	1.2	Overview of thesis	12
	1.3	Key Terms	13
2	Lite	rature review	15
	2.1	The role of Higher Education	17
	2.2	The developing role of the educators	19
	2.3	Leading innovative practice	23
	2.4	The essence of innovative practice	24
	2.5	The need for innovative practice	27
	2.6	Drivers of innovative behaviour	34
	2.7	Barriers to innovative practice	36
	2.8	The role of the institution in enabling innovative practice	39
	2.9	Innovation in education	40
	2.10	Innovation within marketing education	42
	2.11	Summary: Innovation as a process for evolving academic practice	50
3	Met	hodology	53
	3.1	Introduction	53
	3.2	The problem in context	54
	3.3	Aims	54
	3.4	Theoretical Framework	55
	3.5	The fit of a theoretical framework with the problem	56
	3.6	Choosing a methodology	57
	3.7	Interpretive Phenomenological Approach	59
	3.8	Towards a research design	62

	3.10	Collecting the data	65
	3.11	Sampling	66
	3.12	Ethical Considerations	68
	3.13	Data Collection	70
	3.14	Data Analysis	72
	3.15	Conclusion	75
4	Rese	earch Findings	76
	4.1	Introduction	76
	4.2	Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis	76
	4.3	Profile of participants	77
	4.4	Developing themes and clustering into subthemes	77
	4.5	Theme 1: Identity - understanding the individual academic (RQ1)	78
	4.6	Theme 2: Ways of innovating: motivations, technology, and solutions (RQ2	.)88
	4.7	Theme 3: Processes and influences shaping new practice (RQ3)	99
	4.8	Summary of Findings	111
5	Disc	ussion	
	5.1	Introduction	
	5.1 5.2	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114	112 112 (RQ1)
	5.1 5.2 5.3	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2)	112 112 (RQ1) 118
	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3)	112 (RQ1) 118 121
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions	112 (RQ1) 118 121 125
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con 6.1	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions Contribution to new knowledge	112 (RQ1) 118 121 125 125
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con 6.1 6.2	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions Contribution to new knowledge Observations aligned with the theory	112 (RQ1) 118 121 125 125 126
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con 6.1 6.2 6.3	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions Contribution to new knowledge Observations aligned with the theory Implications for practice	112 (RQ1) (RQ1) 118 121 125 125 126 129
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions Contribution to new knowledge Observations aligned with the theory Implications for practice Researchers' reflection	112 (RQ1) (RQ1) 118 121 125 125 126 129 132
6	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Con 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	Introduction How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? 114 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2) What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3) clusions Contribution to new knowledge Observations aligned with the theory Implications for practice Researchers' reflection Reflections on research methodology	112 (RQ1) (RQ1) 118 121 125 125 126 129 134

	6.7	Dissemination and impact on practitioner research	135
	6.8	Future Research and Conclusions	137
7	Refe	erences	139
8	Арр	endix 1: Interview Questions	160
9	Арр	endix 2: Ethics Approval	162
10	A	ppendix 3: Infographic	164

List of Figures

Figure 1: Overview of literature review	17
Figure 2: Kahn (2018) Framework of Innovation	25
Figure 3: Typology of innovation in education	41
Figure 4: Typology of innovative practice at the academic level	42
Figure 5: Thematic orientation of innovative practice in marketing	44
Figure 6: Conceptual Framework	51
Figure 7: Theoretical Framework	56
Figure 8: Choice of research methodology	58
Figure 9: Two staged Interpretive Phenomenological Approach (IPA)	63
Figure 10: Modified van Kamm analysis process	72
Figure 11: Framework for innovative practice	78
Figure 12: Examples of innovative practice	95
Figure 13: Summary of process variables for developing new practice	102
Figure 14: Conditions for innovative practice	108
Figure 15 Conceptual Framework Revisited	113
Figure 16: Proposed relationship between Agency and Innovative practice	117
Figure 17: Conceptual framework of evolving innovative practice in education	118
Figure 18: Conceptual framework of evolving innovative practice in education	126
Figure 19: Summary of process variables for developing new practice	131
Figure 20: Conditions for innovative practice	132
Figure 21: Conceptual framework of evolving innovative practice in education	137

List of Tables

Table 1: Respondent Profile	67
Table 2: Sample Overview	67
Table 3: Gender and discipline of respondents	68

1. Introduction

As a senior lecturer in marketing at a public university in Auckland, New Zealand, I am also a career academic with over twenty years' teaching experience at the same university, teaching undergraduate and postgraduate marketing courses. At this milestone, I find myself in a challenging space of being taunted by producing quality research articles while attempting to remain current and passionate about marketing education.

The challenges exist in the pace of change, and I look around me at the various initiatives that our New Zealand based university offers to ensure academics are equipped with the tools and systems to support the practice of academia. These seem to be twofold; on the one hand, they are about the technology and resources to engage learners in education, while on the other, they are about the pedagogy and means by which learners learn and are assessed. Several committees relating to digital and teaching & learning have been established at my university to share learning experiences and initiatives. However, these are very much in their infancy, restricted to a single faculty focus, and largely attended by practitioner-oriented academics rather than research-oriented academics.

Marketing education has been changed by the digital era (Laverie et al., 2020). Yet, many marketing programmes still present the same general offering as when I first studied marketing more than 30 years ago. New technologies in marketing applications are examined at arm's length, as many academics have not had recent practical marketing experience. In efforts to reduce this knowledge gap, many marketing academics have sought applied research in favour of theoretical (Kohli & Haenlein, 2021). Such emphasis has implications for the orientation of courses and marketing programmes, particularly if academics are developing highly focused subdomains (topics). However, if this is how the role of education within marketing studies is evolving, are they wrong to do so? The call has been made (Wierenga, 2021) for marketing academics to innovate within the discipline by looking outside of it to adjacent business fields. This call suggests the need to consider alternative perspectives are important to how marketing education innovates, and perhaps that careful consideration of the role of digital applied practice is needed.

So how do academics develop new practices that lead to changes in education? Attendance at conferences, establishing learning communities or personal networks, and professional development workshops are commonly accepted practices for adopting new practices (Henard & Roseveare, 2012). However, the onus remains with academics to navigate various solutions and situate themselves in a practice of education where learning occurs. These decisions are compounded further by the pace of technological change, the gig economy, diversity amongst

learners, desire for work-life balance, orientation towards the scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL), and disruptions within education itself (Dede & Richards, 2020).

In some cases, the academics satisfice by applying the same tried and proven historical practices that enable greater resource allocation toward producing quality research outputs. Supporting this approach focuses on outputs as a measure of academic success and institutional prowess, together with government funding models based on research performance i.e. Performance-Based Research Funding (Curtis & Matthewman, 2005). Is this fundamentally wrong? It is the production of knowledge, which arguably underpins the purpose of higher education at its core, and academic research should be at the forefront of what is taught in universities.

However, from where I stand, there appears to be a growing divide, frustration, and exhaustion, as academics earnest in their attempts to manage quality research and quality educational practices are losing their passion for education (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016). I have spoken to several colleagues who know someone or have chosen to resign from academia due to these changes. Add to this decreasing student attendance and their increasing need for edutainment (education that entertains and enables learning) such that they are engaged, and academia is not what it used to be. A tired, disillusioned academic choosing to satisfice and 'tow the party line' is hardly a good advertisement for a positive learning environment.

So, how do we balance these demands? Can understanding how academics innovate and their mindset, process, and outcomes be reflected, enabling others to recognise opportunities to counterbalance some of these challenges? Are there commonalities in how academics are innovating, who they are, or what they are innovative in, contributing to how an academic department supports evolutionary practices to become more widely adopted? As an academic in marketing, I am curious about what can be understood by knowing how others inside and outside the discipline are evolving their educational practice. Are there differences in how academics innovate, and if so, what can we learn from this?

1.1 Research Setting

I have chosen to set this research outside of my New Zealand university to understand international perspectives on innovative practices that might be adopted locally. In doing so, the results of this study will have the potential for a broader application beyond my institution. While New Zealand is a reasonably sizeable country, its population is small at only five million people, and educationally is limited to eight universities, all of which receive public funding. With minimal external funding sources available, opportunities to innovate may be restricted. However, it may be possible to acknowledge variances in innovative practices without limitations across private and public institutions in looking to international practice.

Extending the literature review, I focused on four recent applications of innovative practice in marketing education to understand nuances within this discipline as they related to four key themes of andragogy, curriculum, industry relationships, and technology. These contexts are well documented in the literature as orientations of innovative practice (Hasanefendic et al., 2017). Concentrating on these themes gave boundaries for investigating how and where changes in educational practices were being introduced, especially individual academic roles. The focus on individuals is important given the general nature of this study to understand practice via an academic lens. Through this comprehensive review, an appreciation of factors contributing to innovative practice within marketing was established, including the notion of innovation as a mindset, process, and outcome (Kahn, 2018). This understanding then shaped my research inquiry when I explored the experiences of innovative practice by 15 academics. Half of this enquiry related to marketing education specifically, the discipline I teach. The remainder included academics from other business disciplines to ensure alternative practices in different fields were considered.

1.2 Overview of thesis

I have explored individual practitioners' experiences in innovating within higher education within this thesis research.

The chapters that follow reveal this investigation, beginning firstly with a review of the literature on the roles of higher education and educators. Next, innovative practice is introduced – what it is, why it is needed, where the drive comes from, and the challenges in achieving it. Finally, the review considers innovation in education and focuses on innovation examples specifically within marketing education.

Chapter Three details the research methodology, followed by the research findings, Chapter Four. The fifth chapter discusses the research findings and their alignment with the literature and develops a proposed conceptual framework for innovative practice. Chapter Six draws key conclusions alongside limitations, recommendations, and future research.

In this research, several key terms are introduced at different stages. It is important to this study that these terms are clearly defined at the outset to enable a more comprehensive examination of the topic. These include innovation and innovative practice, academic identity, motivation, mindset, and agency.

1.3 Key Terms

Innovation has been defined in many different ways in the literature but is commonly referred to as a meaningful change arising from a process or service improvement that provides greater value to stakeholders (Furst-Bowe & Bauer, 2007). It may be radical or disruptive or merely an incremental improvement (Sharma & Sharma, 2021). It has been described by Edwards-Schachter (2018) as both a process and an outcome of creating something new, extending the idea that innovation is all about process change. In this extension, innovation is the 'what' that changes to add value. However, this definition ignores the individual role in the introduction of change. In response, Kahn (2018) extended this 'what' to specify innovation as one of three different things: a mindset, process, or outcome associated with the change. In this study, I draw on this extended notion of innovation, particularly because of my interest in examining the involvement of individuals. Thus, my emphasis moves from solely looking at the change (innovation) and towards the journey of being innovative (the practice). For this study I applied the definition that innovative practice relates to new ways of educating that are not yet widely adopted and attempted by the academic subjects participating in this research.

Arising from this focus on the individual, it is relevant to consider who the individual is and their academic identity.

As roles and responsibilities continually evolve, the academic identity changes (Billot, 2010). Academic identity has largely been referred to in the literature in relation to professional identity as opposed to specifically relevant to higher education personas (Drennan et al., 2017). In short, it is how academics perceive themselves (Taylor & Gollwitzer, 1995), which in the scope of higher education is predominantly defined by role, i.e., researcher, teacher, or service worker. However, these identities assume a singular focus. Briggs (2007) proposes that academic identity is not defined by a role; rather, it is determined by one's values, profession, and role within the organisation; it is a composite measure of who we are as academics. This is the definition applied in this study. Briggs (2007) further claims that individuals' interactions and experiences within their social systems continue to develop their identity. These individual experiences also result in differences in how academics react to change (Hasanefendic et al., 2017). This explanation is important in innovative practice to understand the values, roles, and experiences connected to individuals being innovative. Given this focus, the reasons individuals wish to evoke change should be understood, leading us to their motivation.

According to Hord (1997), academics' **motivation** is important to professional development and change, which supports the inclusion of this concept in this study. Baumeister (2016) claims motivation is a desire or want for change, either in ourselves or in our environment. Reeve (2016)

extends this notion beyond a state of 'wanting change' to include the search i.e. 'seeking change'. To understand motivation is to know what and how this state drives an individual to achieve an outcome or attempt a change. Acknowledging that individuals are motivated by different needs, internal and external, and the evolving complexity of roles and expectations in higher education, examining the role of motivation in being innovative is warranted.

Innovative practice cannot be explored without considering the internal functionality of the individual, namely their **mindset**. While academic identity is the culmination of role, value, and context in who the academic is, mindset narrows the focus to the explanatory factors used to understand personal actions (Nadelson et al., 2020). It is a combination of our thoughts, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs that connect to our choices. In this study, I draw on this definition and the notion that mindset influences how individuals respond to change. The importance of this concept becomes further relevant in determining the choice of research methodology, given the need to understand different approaches to being innovative and that mindsets vary across individuals and contexts (Yeager & Dweck, 2020).

Innovative practice involves change. **Agency** relates to the freedom to enact that change (Annala et al., 2021). Opportunities to determine how an individual's academic identity evolves can give rise to this sense of freedom, thus assumed level of agency (Vähäsantanen et al., 2008). However, it is more than the autonomy to do so; agency emphasises a capacity to enact the change (Giddens, 1986). Institutions can support or constrain this capacity at a macro level through either weak or strong structures and practices. An examination of the organisational environment can determine the capacity to enact change at a macro level; however, as this study focuses on understanding experiences in innovative practice, the emphasis is on the individual's capacity to enact that change.

2 Literature review

The higher education landscape has fundamentally changed (Schneckenberg, 2009), brought about by increased competition and the need to be both adaptable and responsive. This change is evident through curriculum development, focus on digital environments, use of technology in support of programme delivery, and adoption of initiatives such as design-led thinking (Catterall et al., 2019). In response to market needs to increase competitiveness, Chen and Huang (2017) assert that an orientation toward creativity and innovativeness is necessary within education. Likewise, Babić and Nedelko (2020) believe that innovation is crucial to educational institutions in the 21st century. Not everyone is ready for change or suited to innovative practice, yet the need for higher education to continually evolve knowledge necessitates that innovativeness is embraced and enabled more widely. To aptly cope with these continual shifts in knowledge, Christensen et al. (2012) propose that academics must be internally motivated. Yet, even if they are intrinsically driven to ensure quality education is provided, 'good scholarship' takes time and educators are often illenabled to respond effectively due to alternative prioritisations within academic circles (Berg & Seeber, 2016).

These assumptions and needs have been significantly challenged with the 2020 worldwide health pandemic, Covid-19. An influenza-like virus closed entire economies and forced many educational providers worldwide to move entirely to emergency remote teaching (ERT) via online technologies (Hodges et al., 2020). Whether educationalists were familiar with distance education, many educators and institutions scrambled overnight. They pivoted from face-to-face classes to purely online teaching as entire populations were forced into home isolation, and international borders, university campuses, and businesses were closed. While the pandemic itself is not the topic of this thesis, it certainly supports the need for academics to be adaptable, for education to be agile, and for us to understand how evolving innovative practice can be supported and enabled in an everchanging educational and social landscape.

Existing challenges in student attendance, diverse populations of learners, and variability in engagement in learning are not solely aligned with marketing education but are very noticeable in my environment. These challenges provide a period of uncertainty for learners and educators, which Siddiqui and Adams (2013) claim ideally suits transformative learning but is also difficult. The emergence of ghost writers' use and prevalence of ineffective or inauthentic assessment tools for learning are confounding education (Anteby & Occhiuto, 2020). Furthermore, economic challenges shaping class size and technology integration as responses to managing the supply and demand of

education present complexity to educators. Can understanding the interactivity and change involved in introducing new practices provide insights and benefits for marketing education?

There is no doubt complications exist in evolving innovative practice, as evidenced by recent surveys of UK academics (Erickson et al., 2020) revealing very concerning (low) levels of satisfaction in how academics were governed and managed. Thematic issues arising from this highlighted considerable pressure academics are under within their role, arising from deepening chasms between those that 'manage' and those that 'do' (Erickson et al., 2020). Murphy (2017) refers to the evolution of a 'zombie' environment with academics functioning but nothing more, which hardly supports the innovative practice. However, alternative viewpoints maintain that academics who love their work are willing participants in devotion to shaping what they do and the time spent on it (Christensen et al., 2020).

Thus despite the high levels of independence commonly associated with the role of an academic (Schneckenberg, 2009), this changing world presents us with wicked problems inside and outside of education that require attention. For example, even within the organisational structure of higher education, historical academic appointments and recruitment processes have not typically aligned with strategic human resource development plans, described by Schneckenberg (2009) as indispensable for innovativeness to occur. Alternatively, some managerial approaches align strongly with metric and audited performance criteria to the extent that attempts to innovate or be creative are stifled. Downs (2017) assertion that higher education's single focus of 'skills for employment' instead of education for love or societal benefit is an example of this. Lynch and Ivancheva (2015) acknowledge pressures on new academics to gain external funding, research outputs, academic supervision, teaching, and service balanced alongside lower-income and job security, further adding to education's problems. Christensen et al. (2020) advocate using targeted means and reward structures to manage the teaching-research conflict better and avoid adverse trade-offs.

In contrast to newly employed educators, the massification of higher education in the early 2000s stimulated some providers to respond quickly with academic appointments that have, according to Enders and Musselin (2008), left their mark on academia in uncontrolled and questionable ways appointments. In some cases, this remains problematic in constraining the ability of institutions to respond effectively to ongoing challenges, especially when long-established employment contracts protect such stalwarts. Therefore, time is needed to evaluate higher education provisions, both role and content, to best respond to changing world of learners and the teaching environment (Enders & Musselin, 2008).

According to Palmer (1997), as academics, we tend to focus on teaching according to our perspectives, identity, integrity, and soul. However, if our educational core is manipulated by exhaustion, challenged to continually innovate without support, or restricted through staff ability (Chonko, 2003), then academia risks self-destruction in this digital age.

It is with these thoughts in mind that this literature review developed. How could an understanding of innovative practices contribute to evolving academic practice in my context and other academics?





In the review, I look to establish context through the roles of higher education, educators, and leaders; I examine what is meant by innovative practice and changing educational needs and establish viewpoints based on new approaches. I introduce different perspectives on innovation processes and factors influential in shaping marketing education. I then propose using a conceptual framework (Kahn, 2018) to investigate how new academic practice might lead to an enriched understanding of higher education. Figure 1: Overview of literature review

illustrates this review.

2.1 The role of Higher Education

Understanding experiences in innovative practice necessitates that perspectives on the relevant roles within higher education are examined as they relate to change. Firstly, what is the role and purpose of higher education? Secondly, how does this direction impact developments in the role of the educator? Thirdly, what are the implications in how the change in education is led?

The outcomes of reducing inequality and increasing social mobility can result in views that higher education serves the public good (Hazelkorn & Gibson, 2019), even more so when providers are publicly funded. In being publicly funded and positioned as a public good, higher education is arguably more available to a wider population of learners, which should enrich society, if students' achievements equip them to do so. Education enables modernisation and progress by society, yet some claim it hinders such outcomes through inequalities in productivity and efficiency arising from governments' increasing investment in education (OECD, 2016). In funding education and creating a public good, more learners have access to higher education. But is it a public good? Interest-free student loans and first-year free study initiatives have contributed to increased student access (Salmi & D'Addio, 2021), yet true academic success remains elusive for many. Having access to education is not the same as becoming educated. Including learners who might otherwise not have chosen to attend higher education but, through funding initiatives, have gained access to this public good may be creating wider disparities and greater challenges in learning environments and beyond. Many claim the educational sector is in a state of crisis – irrespective of more recent challenges brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic (Altbach & de Wit, 2020). As a testament to this, the OECD (2016) refers to data illustrating that student achievement has not increased despite advances in technology. It cannot be a surprise that many of the highest-ranked universities are privately funded; however, most university providers worldwide favour publicly funded (QS, 2022) and therefore orient towards being a public good.

As a public good, this notion of education contributes toward calls for solutions to the increasing social problems impacting society, shifting the focus of higher education away from 'ivory tower' knowledge creation (Buckley, 2012) to a more societally responsive purpose. That is not to say that private universities do not support similar ideals, only that public institutions are more fundamentally oriented to this role. Serdyukov (2017) asserts education is "indispensable" (p.4) for society to survive and thrive and that continuous evolution is necessary to achieve this outcome. Thus, if education's role is to meet its purpose, it must evolve and innovate to respond to such demands, manage diversity in learners, and create sustainable futures in both public and private domains.

Buckley (2012) advocates academics must learn to share knowledge and new practice and have time and support to do so, particularly if the organisation seeks to remain competitive and sustainable within the market of higher education (Du Toit, 2000). Organisations need to be cognisant of the ways innovative practices are enabled. Are they? This thesis seeks to understand the experiences of individual academics in their attempts to introduce new practices. To what extent organisational factors enable this to occur is one of the key questions underpinning the study.

Current driving forces behind the need to evolve academic practice include changing student profiles, urbanisation, economic shifts, and capacity imbalances (Choudaha & van Rest, 2018), all of which are impacting the provisions of higher education as either a public or private good. The implications of these changes must be considered by HEI in how their role evolves, such that elitism and disparities within and between societies are not further heightened, that mobility and lifelong learning are enabled, and society itself can ultimately avert failure.

According to Wick (2000), the university's role is to equip individuals to generate and innovate additional knowledge, enabling, as Biesta (2016) identifies, the achievement of socialisation, accreditation, and personal development. This definition supports a public good focus. Scruton (1987) further extends this role to encouraging and sustaining good citizenship, acceptable habits, and the duality of effort by learner and academic, an acknowledgement of the growing interest in 'soft skills' and 'life skills' necessary in education for the 21st century (Harrigan & Hulbert, 2011). Such a perspective also weighs the role of higher education toward a societally responsive purpose. Applying this emphasis on higher education as a public good would sit well with an openness towards innovative practice to enable a responsive educational practice that is agile in the wake of environmental changes. It becomes valuable to consider the implications for educators.

2.2 The developing role of the educators

The role of academic staff, or faculty, is changing. Not all these changes are positive.

Institutional perspectives in managing staff can significantly influence the academic view (Enders & Musselin, 2008). For example, in linking back to higher education's role in developing knowledge, the issue concerns whether management supports ways to enable this or is process-oriented in the return-on-investment from a productivity viewpoint. Societal advancement favours the former, while many audits and financial support mechanisms favour production oriented. Contextually the public vs. private in-situ may also contribute to this disparity simply through levels of financial aid available. This orientation has implications for how academics might be encouraged, supported, or motivated to develop effective new practices. Depending on the nature of change they wish to see, the availability of resources, internal and external, can enable or disable attempts by academics to innovate.

Traditional roles of the academic as learned professor and conduit of knowledge are changing. Recent research points to managerial practices of unbundling academic roles (Macfarlane, 2011b) in moves towards developing independent research, teaching, and administrative functions. Brew et al. (2018) propose an unbundling and evolution towards 'artisanal' roles, operating as an adjunct to teaching and research wherein educational experts support positions to facilitate university functioning, thereby enabling teachers or researchers to focus on their strengths. While, in theory, emphasis is on best practice as an expert, it's possible to lose contextual understanding. Consider administrators who request specific rubrics be adopted university wide, without comprehension of nuances within disciplines or programme levels. How does such unbundling support innovative practice, does it enable or constrain ways academics might look to introduce variability in the way they approach their role?

Beyond changes in the capacity of the role, the educational environment is also being impacted. Bottrell and Manathunga (2019) stated that the currency of culture in Neoliberalism equips education with a toxic environment. They cite casualisation of the academic workforce, low pay, vulnerable labour, and 'invisibilisation' as contributing to restrictive employment pools, workto-rule practices, and closed-door environments, none of which are openly conducive to creative or innovative environments. Depending on how an individual is impacted, their perspective on higher education and its roles will also likely be affected. A UK 2020 report from University and College Union (UCU) discusses the dehumanisation of academics (second class academics) through labour casualisation. A practice they claim extends beyond the UK (Megoran & Mason, 2020). In business, casualisation leads to a flexible and agile organisation (Jadhav, 2018), ably responsive to demand and supply needs. However, casualisation in higher education is, according to the authors of the report, creating an academic divide that is destructive, segregating academic communities. This claim assumes that tenured academics are concerned or negatively impacted by the casualisation. In some cases, this may not be the case.

The UCU claims that casualisation is not an erroneous side effect of 'progress' in higher education but rather a purposeful outcome resulting from adopting managerial practices and business models within the sector (Megoran & Mason, 2020) toward leaner operations. However, in adopting this flexibility, an uncoupling of research and teaching is likely to occur could impact the value that learners place on higher education. Given internal and external factors can influence their role, educators need to find effective responses to impediments. Depending on the level of concern, power, or agency of an individual and others akin to them, including those in managerial roles, the answer will vary considerably.

The role of knowledge is changing in society, and arguably so too have conceptions about how that knowledge evolves from an educational perspective (Mateo & Vlachopoulos, 2013). In looking outwards beyond the inner functioning of the sector, Kunnari and Ilomäki (2016) claim 'extensive changes' (p167) are impacting the traditional roles of higher education in readying students for intellectual life. This changing role presupposes a moving away from solely acting as a critic of society towards a more inclusive part, learning in and of society for a greater social good. Institutional decisions will influence these changes in how they manage the creative tension in discerning between teaching vs. research, primary vs. applied, and scholastic vs. entrepreneurial orientations (Etzkowitz et al., 2000). These decisions challenge current academic practices in being suitably aligned to meet the changing needs of society and its demands for an agile workforce (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016). In observing this, one might argue the traditional role of higher education has not fundamentally changed, only that the function is open to broader interpretation.

Ehlers (2020) believes that education's role is to enable students to gain the ability and competency to adapt to society and contribute to others' well-being successfully. Such claims support developing more robust economic relations and triple-helix arrangements (academic, industry, government) that drive and support innovative practice (Etzkowitz et al., 2000). However, realising these outcomes and evolving education requires understanding the factors reshaping higher education (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016).

Advancements in technology, big data, and knowledge acquired through its' analysis, the massification of higher education through open/free access, and organisations acting as specialised educators, e.g., McDonald's University, are some of the ways the role of the educator is impacted. Such confrontations put additional pressure on educators to be suitably responsive, reframing their roles and workload. Hence further supports the 'artisanal' roles identified by Brew et al. (2018) and arguably the need for innovation in and of teaching. Given that the generation and acquisition of knowledge are ongoing, the assumption that educational environments evolve in tandem is presented. Yet, again, contextual and managerial constructs impact how those responses occur. Coined 'limiting situations' by Freire (1972), these conditions restrict transformation. Further complications exist with increased emotional labour and tolls on university leaders battling administrative tasks over guiding research and teaching as institutions move to more business-like ways of working (Heffernan & Bosetti, 2020). It could be that these developments lend themselves to managers in more of a gatekeeper type role wherein they inadvertently enable individual academic freedom to innovate through being removed from direct involvement in daily practice, focusing more on the institutional needs.

Acknowledging the context is helpful when seeking to understand experiences of new practice so that academics can fully explore ways of 'defying' the normalisation of education.

According to Fullan (2007), effective education comes via "professional development, pedagogical improvement and student learning" (p4). However, it is naive to think that research does not play a role in this. If the traditional connection between research and teaching is broken,

how education and knowledge are created must also change. A key factor in strategizing how effective education is managed is likely through funding decisions made within the institution, leadership, and the resources available to academic staff to be innovative. Making the best use of available resources requires an effective and efficient educational system (Serdyukov, 2017). One contributing factor to this is how the individual institution is managed structurally, namely its' administration.

One of the concerns arising from the neoliberalisation of academia, according to Navarro (2017), is the financial sustainability (profitability) of the institution and its effect on limiting academic freedom. According to Leslie and Rhoades (1995), between 1973 & 1974 and 1985 & 1986 the share of administrative costs rose dramatically and disproportionately compared with educational expenses resulting in an 'administrative bloat' (Hedrick et al., 2009), also confirmed by Hogan (2011). For this reason, it is relevant to consider staffing, given how this might influence academics' willingness and involvement in the new practice. de la Torre et al. (2019) also claim that understanding ways institutions prioritise collaborations with stakeholder agencies may go some distance toward knowing more about how HEIs are driving socio-economic development. The concept of a triple helix approach in drawing on the HEI, society, and business has been recognised as one new practice to acquire and develop knowledge without the need for external university funding (Yonezawa et al., 2020). Knowing more about individual academics' experiences in such collaborations might reveal insights into the drivers and realities of these relationships. This study will seek to explore this.

If the higher investment in administrative costs is due to freeing up time for academics to teach, research, and provide service, then shifts in cost allocation may be warranted. Educators can invest in innovative practices that then support the enhancement of education. This decision is at the behest of institutions and may or may not support such practices, particularly if it builds on the tension between academic and administrative staff (Altbach & Lewis, 1995). This is notwithstanding internal competition for funding by different individuals, departments, or schools and the institution's overall core mission (Aamodt et al., 2016). However, management's desire to acquire multiple rankings or measure activities according to accreditation standards may increase administration support.

Although Blair and Briggs (2019) argue that this unbundling may only be an interim practice, resulting in the re-bundling of academic identity in the near future. It may also be driving the unbundling and creation of tribes, such as the instructor, within the educational institution. Thus, rather than academics completing fewer administrative tasks, evidence, even from my own experience, suggests policies and practices require even more time spent on these activities.

The developing role of the educator is one driven by the need for sustainability in themselves, their academic identity and level of agency as a researcher/academic/service-oriented faculty member, and their responsiveness and adaptability to evolving educational needs. However, role development is complicated by both the organisational needs and characteristics aligned with neoliberalisation. On this basis, understanding the context of individuals in the study or the extent to which internal and external factors influence their mindset concerning new practice will be helpful to explore.

2.3 Leading innovative practice

There is also value in understanding the form of leadership under which academics are managed. Typically, this might vary between softer non-coercive approaches to more evidencedriven quit-pro-quo styles.

Transformational leadership is a style of leadership that seeks to move employees beyond self-interest toward achieving organisational vision through a softer non-coercive approach that activates internal triggers (Hansen & Pihl-Thingvad, 2019). This form of leadership is commonly discussed in conjunction with innovative behaviour (Nusair et al., 2012). It is a necessary antecedent to support and encourage the innovative practice by staff, particularly within participative environments where they influence factors affecting them (Owusu-Agyeman, 2019). This style differs from transactional leadership, which focuses on exchange in managing behaviour (Burns, 1978). In practice, managers might use both approaches to lead their staff, responding according to the individual or the task and outcome sought. The Hansen and Pihl-Thingvad (2019) study established that as long as verbal rewards were included in the leadership style, there is no difference in innovative practice outcomes under transformational, transactional, or combined leadership styles. However, Al-Husseini et al. (2019) recently confirmed a direct and positive relationship between a transformational leadership style, the sharing of insights, and innovative behaviour. This relationship indicates that transformational leadership is more appropriate for innovative practice, particularly when verbal rewards are present. Perhaps more emphasis must be given to the individual being led rather than relying on a certain leadership style being more effective than others. In place of leadership, facilitation and mentoring may be better suited towards change, neither of which must be provided for by managers. Peers, colleagues, and personal networks could provide this just as readily. Innovative practice is likely to succeed when the innovator is empowered to enact change (De Silva et al., 2018) and connected to the practice. Thus,

in moving beyond the leadership style, the management of staff functions and their agency to innovate requires consideration.

Hairon and Goh (2015) claim that a necessary factor in innovative practice is distributing labour so individuals can harness their expertise and explore new knowledge, processes, or opportunities. Ta (2018) claims that leadership should be facilitatory. Others suggest that leadership style is important to affecting innovations because of the role that many have in producing ideas and creating a culture for innovation (Elrehail et al., 2018). However, this ignores the importance of the individual academic in the process. The individual license, i.e., mindset, identity, and agency to progress innovative, creative solutions, enables innovative practice (Owusu-Agyeman, 2019). It may not matter how academics are led in so far as their capacity for change, which may be more valuable in understanding innovative practice. While leadership may factor into this process, greater emphasis is likely to be needed to understand their level of agency within the structure and applications of academic experiences. Perhaps it is more the individuals' self-leadership that has greater importance in evolving new practices.

Given the changing landscape of higher education, it is evident that responsive or anticipatory changes in educational practice are necessary to assure institutions and educators of their sustainability in providing what is largely a public good. Leadership is relevant to how this might occur but appears to be less critical to its emergence. Rather leadership is best understood in a faciliatory, supportive role (Ta, 2018).

In knowing this, the concept of innovative practice needs to be examined, particularly regarding technology, which many have recognised as critical to innovation (Godin, 2015; Lazowska, 2016; Serrano et al., 2019). Therefore, this next section in the literature examines the essence of innovation and innovative practice in higher education.

2.4 The essence of innovative practice

Much of the literature around innovativeness and innovation in education has centred on the impact of change brought about by digital technologies (Godin, 2015). A 2016 OECD report (OECD, 2016) claims there is enormous potential for fostering and enhancing learning but criticises that, at best, the application has only been at a superficial level.

Since 1960 when innovation centred on the production era and concepts of research and development (R&D), technology was at its' centre (Edwards-Schachter, 2018). Even today, the range of technological innovations impacting learning environments is varied and substantial (Zafar, 2019). Depending on the stage of development, experience, and resources of both educator and institution,

the integration of technological innovation will differ. For some, innovative best practices via technology can enhance learners' engagement and empowerment (Kopcha et al., 2016). But for others, the outcome can be confusion, distraction, and disengagement. According to Kavnaugh (2018), technology has both "solved and created instructional problems" (p.19). Therefore, technology need not be the sole basis of innovative practice. Instead, it mustn't be (Tidd & Bessant, 2018). This realisation is important to acknowledge from an institutional perspective, in that the fundamentals of education must underpin choice in adopting new practices, particularly in the case of technology. This relationship is referred to in the context of 'fit' and 'organisational courage' (Chatterjee et al., 2020), in how technology aligns with the role and purpose in education and in the agency (individual and groups) to enable change. Chatterjee et al. (2020) further claim that human agency is essential in fuelling change sought through technology. Innovative practice relies on the agential capacity of people, as individuals or collective communities of practice, i.e. managers for change to be imbedded. This acknowledgment supports the call for 'responsible innovation' (Edwards-Schachter, 2018, p.67) in how new practice evolves and is adopted, particularly considering the technological advances and desires to enact social outcomes. Epistemologically, change is necessary to innovate education. While innovation refers to implementing improved ideas, knowledge, or practices (Cerna, 2014), it means different things to different people. It largely depends on the individual's viewpoint, the subjective and changeable prioritisation afforded to the values, policies, and goals guiding them, and the institution or policymakers. Innovating can result in changes in process or outcomes, be they significant or incremental.





According to Kahn (2018), innovation is defined as a mindset, a process, or an outcome (Error! Reference source not found.). This framework is important to consider in understanding i nnovative practice and gives a broader consideration to what it might look like in higher education, beyond simply an outcome or process, which has largely been the focus of previous attempts to define it. Kahn (2018) proposes that innovation might become more attainable through how it is supported or enabled in acknowledging this framework. However, in instilling what is needed (mindset) and knowing how to make things happen (process), and in knowing what change is wanted (outcome), does innovation necessarily occur, and how does it occur at the individual level? Is this categorisation of innovation sufficient to understand it well enough for 'being innovative'? In his review of this overall concept, limited attention is given to the relative importance of key terms, their components, or to the externalities that might influence them. A broader examination of innovative for understand this application in higher education.

At the heart of innovation in higher education, according to Cai (2017), is the notion of sustainability through transformation for the benefit of an extensive social system, reinforcing the belief of higher education as a public good. Indeed, Schröder and Krüger (2019) maintain that social innovation to tackle societies' wicked problems is gaining more focus worldwide and is no longer solely aligned with more advanced or wealthier economies. Innovation is shifting, in essence, from an economic productivity-driven basis to one that is focused on sustainability (Edwards-Schachter, 2018). This orientation towards social innovation is evident within my University, where its' mission has more recently publicly adopted social impact as a core driver (AUT, n.d.). While understanding respective social systems relevant to individual economies supports an appreciation of variances in innovative practice in different socio-economic contexts, much can be gained from understanding practices applied in various settings and by other parties. This consideration may reveal what some have coined 'dark innovations' (Martin, 2013, p. 11) i.e. newly adopted practices that are not necessarily visible, e.g. new approaches benefitting the practitioner but not noticeable to others. Blair (1998) confirms that innovative approaches may be enabled in contrasting ways and by different drivers, for instance, via stakeholder value i.e. the institution, and shareholder value, i.e. students. This observation raises questions about the importance of driver origins and if this impacts the outcome, further expanding on the work by Kahn (2018).

Schumpeter and Stiglitz (2010) argue that commercial goals underpin the development of innovations alongside innovative practice, yet such goals are not typically present in higher education. Academics are not financially rewarded for innovative practice, although it may raise their profile or contribute to promotion cases. Even when financial incentives are available, the basis for allocation is not consistent, and thus the drivers and mechanisms to support innovative practice will likely differ. Does this matter, or is academic identity and agency more important in evolving new practice than the drivers themselves?

This consideration of values and roles causes me to consider the ideological assumptions underpinning academics' innovation attempts. The literature (Dallyn, 2011) supports that

innovations beyond financial purposes may be more successful in achieving social transformation. This confirms the assertions Biesta (2015) made relating to the role of education in socialization and personal development, not only qualification. An example of this is in introducing work-integrated learning to higher education practice. Towards the end of the last century, Boyer (1996) proposed a then-innovative notion calling for closer engagement with communities so that higher education might be more adept at solving 'social, civic, economic, and moral problems (p18). Many institutions have subsequently picked this up via the nature of service-based or work-integrated learning, arguably a once-innovative practice that has achieved widespread adoption and integration over time. Another example is the proposed evolvement of "shokunin" or "artisans" (Brew et al., 2018, p. 119). These innovative practitioners seek to work effectively for the benefit of society, drawing on resources, attitudes, and skillsets to do so. Their research pointed to this teaching professional (as opposed to the research academic) as having a more significant role in introducing innovative practices, mainly by their conscientious commitment to ensuring smooth operations. An artisans' broader lens of what is required to activate and enable education and their sense of agency facilitates innovative practice. Without such glue holding departments together, the opportunity to see and respond innovatively may be overlooked or remain out of reach.

If we consider developments in academic research and teaching practice towards social impact, the emphasis is shifting towards a greater good, minimising the importance of financial rewards or costs. At the same time, seeing the bigger picture value of making an impact on society may provide a greater personal return to academics and how they approach their role. However, as introduced earlier, multiple situational factors can impede how an individual might embody the innovative practitioner mindset. Irrespective of the social impact mission of the institution, if the individual is ill-equipped to respond, evolving practice will likely remain elusive to them.

With an understanding of the essence of innovative practice, how prevalent is this need for it within higher education? The next section examines aspects of economics, technology, knowledge, diversity, human capital, i.e. agency, market forces, and change cycles, underpinning the value gained through innovative practice.

2.5 The need for innovative practice

Innovation is economically and strategically crucial, with many countries and individual organisations assigning significant funding towards remaining competitive and sustainable (Tidd & Bessant, 2018). However, as previously suggested, financial directives are not and should not be central to innovative practice in higher education.

Couros (2015) mandates that education innovation is not a luxury but a necessity. Zhu et al. (2013) agree that innovative teaching is necessary to meet the needs of current students and new generations. But this too is challenging, as discussed earlier concerning the dehumanisation of academics through casualisation (Megoran & Mason, 2020). Moreover, in the context of increased job pressure and limited time, how is it even possible to develop an innovative mindset, let alone apply it?

There is a changing educational profile toward non-traditional students, estimated to be 4.3 million more students in higher education between 2015 and 2030 (Choudaha & van Rest, 2018). Yesterday's tried and trustworthy academic practice may not be the best solution in preparing for tomorrow's knowledge economy or tomorrow's society. Unprecedented global events such as the extensive fires in Australia (2019) and the more recent Coronavirus (Covid-19) outbreak in 2019/20 necessitate different perspectives on the provision of education and how learners might access it (Smellie, 2020). My university, for example, requires students from China (the centre of the outbreak) to quarantine themselves for the first two weeks of their class. The Dean of the Business School asked academics to develop solutions in how those students might not be disadvantaged in their learning. However, as time passed, it became evident that this issue was not solely linked to international students stuck overseas, but all students of my university as the government imposed a mandatory lockdown.

Regarding all educational providers, this meant moving to a fully distance-based teaching model with no face-to-face classes. Numerous issues emerged that needed addressing, ranging from the preparation of academics for teaching online; to the consideration of resources (internet connections, access to computers); the situational and living environments of learners and educators; and evolving all participants from traditionally offline to online learning. The socioeconomic constraints of learners have been identified as a significant link to social inequities (Schröder & Krüger, 2019). An innovative practice would benefit from acknowledging how these differences might impact solutions for transformational or evolving education advances.

The need for a new practice in today's educational environment is evident. However, in guiding this, knowing how it is evolving in practice and the kinds of innovations emphasised must be fully understood to begin to imagine the necessary conditions required to enable this.

Economics of innovating

Biesta (2015) claims that three pillars underpin the role of higher education, socialisation, accreditation, and personal development. It is valuable to assess the impact of not innovating in considering these purposes. Serdyukov (2017) states that failure to innovate can have 'profound

economic and social repercussions' (p6). As our society becomes more complex and more diverse, so will the demands on individuals to accommodate such shifts in their knowledge and understanding. Choudaha and van Rest (2018) suggest that while there will be more exclusivity in higher education due to global competition and consolidation, there will also be an increasing need for new models or modes to extend learning beyond traditional thresholds. Unless educational providers find innovative and more economical ways of delivering education, they cannot survive (Christensen & Eyring, 2011). Cai (2017) claims an addiction to the status quo and inertia to change may result in the dearth of educational systems, especially when the 'third mission' (p.598) or social engagement orientation of higher education is ignored.

However, economically, the individual academic is assuming considerable risk in introducing the innovative practice. Fraser (2019) highlights academics' personal and job risk-taking on extra work, focusing on new andragogical practices over discipline research, and potentially failing before their colleagues and students. Institutionally, world events such as the Covid-19 health pandemic are also challenging higher education to conceive of different ways to provide for learning or risk cancellation of course enrolments due to the immobility of international students to travel to attend universities. In New Zealand, China alone accounted for approximately 30% of all 111,000 international fee-paying students in 2018 (Smellie, 2020).

Advances in technology

Technology is changing society, and there is no doubt about that. However, the notion and extent to which it might affect society via education require significant consideration, especially within educational systems. For example, technology is changing how students look for resources themselves rather than relying solely on academic guidance on what to read. Arguably any learner can source information they require. As technological systems develop further via artificial intelligence and analytics, students will be more readily able to find their information (Pardo & Kloos, 2011). However, what is missing in this may be the understanding and comprehending of the links in data, such that knowledge and the ability to grow knowledge are generated within the individual instead of answers being automated or a function of an Internet search. There is also concern over the quality and reliability of those sources. Research suggests students benefit from the Internet for learning (Apuke & Iyendo, 2018), but the quality of learning depends on the resources used (Ilo & Ifijeh, 2010).

According to Kirkwood and Price (2013), much literature about innovative practice draws on technology as a primary mechanism behind the new approach; however, this should not be the limit of consideration. Educators are challenged with having and maintaining an integral role in managing

what and how technology is used for education yet may not have enough experience or understanding of these applications, falling short of organisational aspirations and resulting in less than ideal learning situations (Liu et al., 2020). Furthermore, reactive conditions are becoming normalised, with the 'quick let's use this new system' rather than considered strategic planning, which critiques how educators might adopt innovative practices for transformative learning.

Kantar (2013) extends this further, advocating that educators understand the learning theories behind their choice of new practice to enable educational shifts and transformation to progress. But do they? Are educators knowledgeable in their consideration of learning theories as they reflect on the potential for innovative practice, or is the newness of solutions more prevalent in driving change?

Evolution of knowledge

Higher education must acknowledge and respond to complexities and advancements to allow society to continue evolving. Innovative practice, borne of an alignment between individuals' beliefs and values, underpinned by educational learning principles, will enable that to happen (Kantar, 2013). Ultimately, students' success relies on education and education systems that innovate (Mintz, 2019), as evidenced by growing numbers of policies and professional development opportunities to nurture competencies for innovative teaching. The innovative focus should not rely solely on the drive by formal structures and organisational missions. Informal approaches driven by individuals' norms, values, and beliefs are necessary to achieve change (Cai, 2017). Exceptional managerial practices that encourage, enable, and support creative and innovative practices are undoubtedly desirable, albeit not the norm (Kantar, 2013).

Widening lenses & diverse perspectives

Literature suggests (Mintz, 2019; Siddiqui & Adams, 2013) innovative practice may be one solution to evolving education, mainly when the new practice includes differing perspectives aligning with a wider audience's beliefs and values. Much of today's literature on the evolution or transformation of higher education speaks to the notion of inclusivity, equality, and diversity in the need for new practice, particularly as it relates to pedagogy and curriculum (Summerlee, 2018). In addition, educators are expected to embrace qualities supporting a global world in how they act and think (Bowl, 2018) and how they approach educating others, knowing that learners are not only school leavers (Summerlee, 2018).

These changes are evident through curriculum moves towards learning outcomes, individual specialised papers, e.g., sustainability in marketing, and entire programmes related to growing societal concerns. These changes further attest to the individuals' role, values, and beliefs in seeding

innovative practice. Educational transformation leads individuals to an advanced knowledge state by examining their positionality, wherein such reflections result in personal restructuring for navigating society, western or otherwise (Siddiqui & Adams, 2013). Such a transformation is needed to ensure that societies cannot only draw on "cultural commons" (Etherington, 2019, p. 105), i.e. historical practices to inform response, but that innovative practice also considers such influences. Etherington (2019) maintains innovation can encourage social segregation and cautions innovative practice to be mindful of "education as a social institution" (p.109), for education nourishes society and vice versa (Serdyukov, 2017).

Leading out, from within, and the role of agency

Olsson (2018) proposes for transformative change to occur, a process of 'unselfing' needs to happen. That is, individuals need to become considerate of other ways and means to accomplish outcomes. In the context of education, this suggests academics should, in a sense, 'let go' so they might be open to currently unrecognised practices, which may be tricky according to the academics' or learners' cultural background. However, recent research (Ho, 2020) has suggested that cultural values can positively impact new pedagogic practice, refuting previous perceptions of culture as a barrier to innovative practice. It might further be tricky wherein an individual does not feel they have the capacity to 'let go' in terms of the level of agency they have assumed so that they can reflect on and see opportunities for differences. Agency relates to the capacity to enact change (Giddens, 1984). Agency has been recognised (Ketelaar et al., 2012) as having a key role in developing academics and their ability to be responsive to changing environments. If an individual has an assumed low level of agency, they have a diminished capacity for being innovative. They are more akin to following others and good practice than initiating novel practices themselves.

In contrast, high levels of agency could result in resistance to innovative practice if it does not align with their values and beliefs (Sannino, 2010). However, Litomitz (1997) claims resistance can manifest some degree of agency. This observation suggests in the case of followers of innovative practice, consideration of negativities in new practice that create resistance to their use of it can potentially move them to an increased level of agency, which could seed them into being more innovative at an individual level.

This notion of 'unselfing' might then differ depending on academics' orientation towards aspects of their role in teaching, research, and service. Indeed, it will likely vary according to their passion for their role (Busso & Rivetti, 2014), which is shaped by multiple factors. According to their appointment, e.g., tenured or casual; position, e.g., professor or lecturer; or status, e.g., research or teaching professional, the interest and agency of the individual academic to innovate or consider new practices will vary. In a further testament to this, according to Palmer (1997), "We teach who we are," and to be open to a new practice, intellectual, emotional, and spiritual pathways of the individual cannot be ignored. The individuals' inner landscape must be considered when reflecting on pedagogical discourse (Palmer, 1997). Yet, there are significant challenges in managing and enabling this, particularly considering how these individual identities are manipulated through organisational expectations and culture. Claims of increased academic labour and occupational stress have been the price some have paid in attempts to introduce change (Woo, 2019). The individual's confidence in their assumed agency level can contribute to how these challenges can be navigated and how an impact is experienced.

Involvement and experience in innovative practice may lead to an enhanced ability to successfully manage and respond to complexities within academic environments, including advances in technology and its increased use by learners. Of course, it does not mean that technology should underpin all innovative practices, but it should be one consideration. Serdyukov (2017) has gone so far as to state that technological innovation will eventually drive innovations in pedagogy in the future, but this may not be the case across all academia.

There is an ongoing concern (Selwyn, 2012) over the role technology has in academia and society as different users, and learners of new mediums evolve their understanding of the relationship between technology, knowledge, and society. Sancho-Gil et al. (2020) caution us to carefully manage visions of technology in education that ignore its complexity, thereby wasting resources and preventing transformative education. So too could be said for innovative practice and the necessity for logic to underpin its' introduction. In considering this, we are largely concerned with who we are as academics and our capacity to be an academic, which brings us to agency.

Market forces

In most cases, drives for profitability and continuous refinement of business processes instigate the need for change. But in higher education, these profitability motives are not immediately evident, only output maximization, primarily due to views of education as a public good (Marginson, 2013). MOOCs (Massive Open Online Courses) could further disrupt any profitability motives that enable learners to study online at little to no cost, thus delivering education as a public good. However, despite many MOOCS enrolments for traditional bricks-and-mortar educational providers have remained relatively strong. The motivation to attend learning in-person and oncampus may lie beyond the mere acquisition of knowledge (or qualification) alone towards socialisation and personal development (Biesta, 2015). Stackhouse et al. (2020) suggest resistance may be due to more fundamental protectionist principles of culture, effectiveness, fit, and job threat.

With appointments of industry experts at market rates, the notion that HEI needs to focus on financial sources and sustainability belies their ability to afford such expertise. In addition, the current economic crises facing institutions due to closed campuses, reductions in income streams, debt servicing, and falling high-paying student numbers arising from Covid-19 (Friga, 2020). Thus, regardless of the institutional drive towards public or market orientation, new practices cannot be sustained without successful financial management, nor potentially the institution. Similarly, without successful and evolving academic practice, the financials (and therefore, institution) cannot be managed through supply and demand. Thus, there is a balancing act in managing the response (new practice) against the need for high-quality teaching, learning and engagement, and resources.

Personalisation of learning, equity in access, equality in outcomes, and relevancy can be achieved by looking differently into or at educational practices. Dumont et al. (2010) maintain that education systems must be adaptive to foster innovative practices and develop relevant skills to respond to societal change. However, care is needed to manage innovative or creative attempts within context (Scruton, 1987) and avoid threatening either the functionality or overall performance of the institution.

This impact extends to academics' interactions with students, colleagues, institutions, or society. Innovating through the development of mindset, processes, and outcomes may enable reimagining education for educational transformation.

Suppose I can understand the purposes of and differences in innovative practice, the values that drive and challenge those practices (Agle & Caldwell, 1999), and the shared experiences in attempts to innovate. This understanding might contribute to an increased sense of personal agency, and I may be better positioned to be innovative. It is not as much success or failure that guides me here, but a desire to explore the journey of academics in innovating. This understanding may lead to differences in how my institution or I translate innovative practice within our context.

Cycle of change

Couros (2015) argues change is continuous in education, and we must innovate within constraints asserted by structures and sources outside our control. Mars and Medak (2019) extend caution, claiming it is naive to focus on disruption through innovation. Instead, divestment should focus on repair, maintenance, and care of what Mars and Medak (2019) claim is a 'broken social world left in techno-capitalism's wake' (p.345). Innovation in this perspective can result in chaos and a need to rebuild what has broken due to innovation. In innovating, consideration must be given to potential coping strategies needed to support new practices. What innovative practice does not want to create is a mutation of attempts that causes quality educational practices to crumble. At the heart of change must be student success (Mintz, 2019), not change for change's sake. Of course, there must be some leeway given here, as, without any attempts to try to see and develop new ways of doing, enough advancement (or consideration of advancement) may not be possible.

One challenge emerging in higher education is the need for deeper learning. Evidence suggests students are quickly attuned to seeking to pass an examination, 'learnification' as coined by Biesta (2015), or simply complete qualifications to gain residency or employment entry status. In response, the complexity of assessment models reduces. Such practices support the need for innovative initiatives that positively impact learning and learners (Serdyukov, 2017). In addition, the shape of education may be evolving in how academics evaluate what is learned and assessed. Perhaps more focus on assessment practices in 'relevant knowledge', i.e. authentic assessment, is needed to enable the 21st-century learner to be adaptable and agile in constant change. In remedying such knowledge challenges, further consideration may also be necessary beyond academics to those higher up the chain, including management, business, regulatory agencies, or local government.

Previous research (Vaikunthavasan et al., 2019) has affirmed the importance of innovative practice to higher education in responding to environmental changes and the capacity of individual academics to contribute to that response. The position adopted here is that academics play a significant part in evolving higher education practice and that their agency is paramount to that. This acknowledgement has widespread implications for those employed by institutions and to what extent they wish to be seen as innovative by society. However, there are degrees of innovativeness that might be introduced, depending on the situational context. Thus, the emphasis is not necessarily on adopting widespread innovation behaviours, only on acknowledging where such behaviours can add value to the individual, the institution, learners, and society. With that in mind, the focus now turns to how innovative practice is implemented and 'behaving innovatively'.

2.6 Drivers of innovative behaviour

Why do people innovate? Both intrinsic and extrinsic motives drive individuals, but there may be differences in what might influence innovative behaviour, particularly in the case of higher education.

Related to self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000), intrinsic motivation gives the most significant insights into relationships between work and creativity, i.e. innovativeness. Intrinsic motivation arises from a personal enjoyment of an activity, resulting in more effort, engagement, and positive outcomes (Pintrich & Zusho, 2002). It is dependent on their need state, with more functional solutions forming around basic needs (Maslow, 1981). Notions of curiosity, cognitive agility, and risk-taking are associated with creativity and intrinsically motivated people. Satisfaction of three critical psychological needs of competence, autonomy, and relatedness, drive this internal motivation and supports the notion of agency, benefitting innovative practice (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Intrinsically motivated innovators are acknowledged as more credible in their information processing, exploration, and identification of solutions (Amabile, 1997). This recognition is important in connecting the essence of innovative practice to 'responsible innovation' (Edwards-Schachter, 2018). Internal motives identified by Christensen et al. (2012) are important to how environmental changes are managed and are thus also likely to be linked with the concept of agency through this notion of human capacity. However, it is also valuable to understand that intrinsic motivation relating to an individual's creative self-efficacy is further moderated by the perceived 'exposure' and 'need to protect' when initialising ideas around new practices (Devloo, 2014). The more individuals feel the need to protect their creativity, the less motivated they will be to innovate.

Fear is also a prevalent concern amongst faculty and is represented by varying behaviours evident at different appointment levels. Australia and the United Kingdom are two examples of institutional cultures where the notion of a 'second class academic citizen' prevails through casualisation (Cantrell & Palmer, 2019). According to Megoran and Mason (2020), this second-class citizen is being taken advantage of by permanent faculty in workload and administrative tasks. Threats of technological advances and questions over an essential requirement for faculty to educate further compromise academics' position and role in education. Thus, while intrinsic motivation is critical to identifying new practices, the context and environment must support it to move beyond ideation.

Kunnari and Ilomäki (2016) claim personal motivation is foundational in supporting innovative behaviour in education. If academics do not desire or are interested in seeking change, change will not occur. But if we don't change what is being offered, how we create outputs, or how we deliver them, Tidd and Bessant (2018) argue that there is a risk of being overtaken by those that do, "survival is not compulsory" (p.1).

Meaningful educational environments must be created for innovative practice, requiring academics to continue learning and developing (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016). Riivari et al. (2020) assert that new approaches can ensure meaningful work, avoiding neoliberal and academic capitalism

concepts. They claim enabling more positive environments can help prevent silos between research and teaching (Riivari et al., 2020). Through innovative practice, role enrichment opportunities arise by gaining new insights, trying new things, or collaborating on new projects. Amorim Neto et al. (2018) state that 'entrepreneurs in education' or innovative practitioners are typically more focused than non-entrepreneurs in managing scarce resources, i.e. time or funding for evolving practice. However, this directionality may be demotivating for others as they constantly must stay ahead of what is needed.

Extrinsic motivations include money, resources, promotion, and other externally proffered gains available to individuals in meeting or exceeding expectations. The motivation may not be present depending on the organisational structure, funding systems, or resource availability. Smith (2012) states that authentic new practice needs contextual alignment with intended learning outcomes (extrinsic motivation) for academic and workplace needs, as identified by educational programmes and academics. Harvey et al. (2016) also focused on extrinsic motivations of student equity in determining responses to changes in higher education in Australia. Drivers for education in their case-oriented around new higher educational practices inclusive of 'first peoples' (e.g. Aboriginals), lower socio-economic groups, those with disabilities, women in non-traditional fields, students from non-English speaking backgrounds, and remotely located students. The literature (Christensen et al., 2012; Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016; Ryan & Deci, 2000) indicates evolving practice drivers may be intrinsic or extrinsic for individual academics, depending on their habitus. Still, there is greater support for intrinsic as motivating an innovative practitioner.

However, irrespective of which aspect drives their need for change, the innovative practice requires authenticity. To this end, academics need to commit to ongoing development and evolvement to ensure genuineness in their solutions. The question is, how does this happen in reality? We need to understand what this authenticity is and how it is shaped and experienced by academics. For example, academics might evolve new practices from a learning outcomes base or develop them organically before being moulded to fit academic directives. This understanding might go some way towards knowing the directionality in evolving new practices.

2.7 Barriers to innovative practice

The role of education as part of broader social systems is acknowledged as a potential barrier to innovative practice (Myyryläinen, 2017). If society supports the practice, provisions will be made to enable it. Alternatively, if such support is non-existent, innovative approaches are less likely to exist. Serdyukov (2017) outlined social challenges, including consumerism, mercantilism,
monetisation of education, and entitlement (p.17). In addition, Lašáková et al. (2017) discuss disparities between different stakeholders' needs, tensions within, and inconsistencies in how ICT is used across organisations as key examples of such issues.

Schneckenberg (2009) claims organisational structures can create barriers to innovative practice. Elena (2017) depicted core processes for adopting digital content within a higher education setting but recognised institutional leaders' outstanding needs for effective engagement and action. Bourdieu (1990) would refer to this as habitus, in that social class distinctions and inequalities are socialised within academia via department, school, or institutional behaviours. Lašáková et al. (2017) refers to this as "Blocked Management" and "Rigid HRM operations" (p.73). However, Schneckenberg (2009) concedes an increasing awareness of this limitation arising from reflexivity (Bourdieu, 1990) and acknowledges institutions are moving towards more supportive human resource strategies and centralized models to sustain innovative practices. Such an example is noted by Van Petegem (2010) in developing a university-wide concept for pedagogy, namely 'Guided Independent Learning' (p.235). Lašáková et al. (2017) advocate for an open culture that empowers staff, nurturing innovative practice is needed within and across the organisation and its stakeholders. Disconnection between stakeholders will lead to issues in communication, inhibiting effective innovative practice (Lašáková et al., 2017).

Mintz (2019) states systems of governance, the legacy of structure, and tradition are common barriers to innovation in higher education. He also raises concern over 'innovation fatigue' and increased risk due to changing student profiles towards students of diverse cultures, backgrounds, living situations, and employment statuses, presenting different concerns in developing new practices.

Blair and Briggs (2019) acknowledge concerns over the unbundling of academic roles, as specialist partner roles are created to supplement and support educational practice. These may be one solution to manage individuals' challenges such as academic burnout and increasing demands on research productivity. However, it is likely to be a solution for the few and not the many. The outcome depends on how roles are unbundled and how this aligns with individuals' academic identity, agency, and opportunity to advance new practice. For example, Evers et al. (2002) assessed academics' burnout levels and determined those with strong self-efficacy were more vested in experimenting and introducing new practices, reducing burnout.

In contrast, loss of control of the environment impacts self-efficacy and self-worth assessment (Kushman, 1992). The unpreparedness of academics toward new ways of doing things

can ultimately result in barriers of conservative practice (Lašáková et al., 2017). It can also enable burnout through failure to recognise different, effective, or efficient ways of doing things afforded by innovations in education.

Changes in roles from the 'sage on the stage' or 'chalk and talk' to educational processes that mediate and encourage learning are more evident in today's learning environment. New challenges such as increasing student to academic ratios, the duality of on/offline courses, and economic instability in an increasingly competitive environment warrant introducing innovative practices to provide effective relief. It is widely acknowledged (Sabagh et al., 2018) that current academic climates are highly demanding for educators, learners, institutions, and society

Resistance to change can occur through hysteresis (Hardy, 2014) arising from perceived gaps between habitus of academics within 'new practice.' These can impede the extent to which transformation might occur where academic entrenchment through continued service results in staff becoming ingrained in a consistent framework of behaviours and practices, hindering possibilities for change. As a result, inertia occurs, creating disparities between changing educational environments and academics' responses (McDonough & Polzer, 2012). Varied adoption and retention rates in individuals or programs using information and communication technologies (ICT) evidence this inertia. Dirk and Gelderblom (2017) discuss this in the context of power relations, noting the conservativeness of professors or their desire for directional change reasons behind limitations in achieving transformative practice. However, they also note introductions of habitus into discourse can improve reflexivity of academics, reducing hysteresis and improving attempts at transformation. Understanding the environment of work, stronger collegiality between peers, and contextual belonging can enhance innovative practice (Zhu et al., 2013) by reducing hysteresis.

A further challenge of innovative practice in higher education lies within the specialisation and orientation of individual academics. Namely, research-oriented scholars are less well-trained in pedagogy and what Wilson-Kennedy et al. (2019) refer to as 'high impact educational practices' (p66).

Cultural aspects challenge innovative educational practices as they confront and conflict with individuals' belief systems (Ho, 2020). Seo and Koro-Ljungberg (2005) argue that education will not be equitable for all without understanding cultural identity. However, Ho (2020) states that developing educational systems to comprehend cultural differences that enhance learning can mitigate how these barriers influence new practice adoption. Understanding varied cognitive approaches arising from individualistic or collectivist perspectives may invoke wider acceptance and adoption of innovative practice. In believing the role of academics as teachers is to facilitate learning

situations (Jarvis, 2006), students can arguably be better positioned to discover knowledge when challenged by the newness of unknown or innovative practices.

According to this literature, barriers to adopting new practices can be overcome through cooperation, collaboration, communication, commitment, culture, consciousness, confidence, clarity, and coin (investment). However, to what extent these are individually important is not clear. Understanding how different elements interrelate in the introduction and experience of an academics' new practice would explain this.

2.8 The role of the institution in enabling innovative practice

Innovation-driven policies are becoming more prevalent within higher education institutions as they seek ways to help society resolve wicked problems. Historically (Schot & Steinmueller, 2016), policies around transformation through innovation have moved from research and development to a systems-based approach to commercialising knowledge. More recently, this has led to a transformation-driven focus aimed at advancing society through the directionality of innovation. Schot and Steinmueller (2016) claim that the latest version focused on transformation is necessary to ensure that society and worldwide economies are future proofed to developing inequalities, climate changes, and end employment concerns. This advancement requires developing new educational practices that ultimately enable or empower learners to become agile in directing their response, knowledge and consideration to society's wicked problems.

However, this is challenging. The design, implementation, and evaluation of such innovation policies remain uncertain for many (Schot & Steinmueller, 2016). Experimentation is necessary for transformative change, and individual actors, agents, institutions, and networks need a shared directionality (Weber & Rohracher, 2012), particularly if diffusion of innovation is expected. Kunnari and Ilomäki (2016) propose that collaborative initiatives, knowledge sharing, and more teamwork would facilitate the identification of innovative solutions and applications.

One challenge to widespread adoption or implementation of such innovation policies lies in the context of individual institutions. Resources, i.e. finance, people, time, and authority, influence the degree to which innovative activity will occur (Chang et al., 2012). According to Schot and Geels (2008) involvement of multiple stakeholders can contribute positively to abilities to experiment, but care is needed in managing control. Stakeholders, particularly external agencies, must understand the environment where the innovation is sought to provide competence to 'being innovative' (Weber & Rohracher, 2012). Such alignment and support can advance the acceptance of innovative practice more readily than a singularly supported or internally generated action. It can reduce hysteresis. Thus, institutions enabling their academics to co-create across or within networks,

vertically and horizontally, should be better positioned in the trial, success, and adoption of coherent new practices.

A significant criticism and challenge of innovative practice acknowledge the institution's role in adopting weak policies or conformist behaviours that restrict change, maintaining the status quo. Rigid and fragmented structures hinder cooperation (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016), which reduces attempts to innovate. Vaikunthavasan et al. (2019) found that experience, or a mature environment, enables innovative practice by understanding issues associated with the demand and supply of education. Accordingly, "intelligence generation drives innovative practice" (p298), and providers should enable sharing of insights and content to appropriately disseminate knowledge relating to the new practice (Vaikunthavasan et al., 2019).

Introducing professional development activities diffuses new practices and 'reforms' education in many cases. However, a recent study by Kahveci et al. (2018) found that individuals with a propensity to attend development programmes had the opposite effect, resulting in lower intentions to reform, questioning the use of professional development programmes as an effective tool to enable widespread change. This issue may relate to the internal or external drive behind the individual attending the programme or the internal or external source of the innovative practice itself. Siddiqui and Adams (2013) maintain that opportunities for adopting new practices will diminish unless individuals' values and beliefs are aligned. Thus, educational change is still at risk regardless of the diffusion process.

2.9 Innovation in education

Ehlers (2010) introduces several key educational developments impacting the need for innovative and quality learning cultures. Amongst these are the ubiquity of learning, the role of the learner, duration of learning, constructivist communities of learning, and the formal and non-formal locality of learning. Vaikunthavasan et al. (2019) claim that educational sustainability necessitates innovativeness in courses and market orientation to create higher value for stakeholders. By adopting a market orientation, organisations are more equipped to respond to changing needs, satisfy customers, and operate effectively. As a result, they are better positioned to innovate (Brettel et al., 2012). This understanding builds on historical typologies of innovative practice in higher education as identified by Silver (1999), illustrated in **Error! Reference source not found.**.

Individual	Responsive to in situ teaching
------------	--------------------------------

Content	Discipline led		
Media	Technology & practice (industry)		
Curriculum	Mode of delivery & assessment		
Institutional	Organisational/strategic		
Systemic	Regulatory/Government		

Figure 3: Typology of innovation in education

The focus on innovative practice has remained largely consistent in the twenty-odd years since this typology was proposed. However, the environmental factors have evolved with increased globalisation, internationalisation, competition, and accreditation, leading to different responses (Cheng et al., 2016).

According to Bates (2010), change occurs in institutions, albeit not systematically or wellformulated. Criticism (Cai, 2017; Serdyukov, 2017) over the ability of universities to adapt with agility highlights a plethora of challenges, including the siloing (linearity) of disciplines, academic burnout, frustrations in attempts to adapt, as well as suggestions of unwarranted changes focused in the wrong areas (not learning centred).

Mars and Medak (2019) agree with Bates (2010) and his call for considered innovative practice. They assert universities are in constant cycles of re-creation at all levels of operation. It will either result in an oligopolistic transformation of domination by a few (akin to Google or Amazon) or a pool of 'impostership' and faked innovative disruptions until proven otherwise. They propose that care is taken to consider whether innovation is necessary and whether effort should be applied to repair rather than replace. A slowing down and proper consideration of what 'is', what 'might be', and what it 'means' is considered better custodianship of innovative practice than more radical introductions.

Couros (2015) suggests that innovative practice is applied to the curriculum and assessment through new thinking and doing. An example of this is using a transdisciplinary view of education to create new areas of knowledge and practice (Appel & Kim-Appel, 2018).

Underpinning innovative practice must be a more profound experience for learning, students, and society. The increasing use of ghost-writers (students' representatives) to complete academic assessments has challenged academics to reconsider assessing individuals (Lines, 2016). Such use of imposters in representing knowledge acquisition by learners is detrimental to future employers, the reputation of institutions, and their role in society, not to mention what the students learn. Atiku and Anane-simon (2020) propose a proactive approach for HEIs to enhance teaching and learning practices to meet future workplace needs. In this way, they assert transformational or visionary leadership will help guide the formation of human capital through clarity in the navigation of academic directions, i.e. how innovative practice is enabled. However, challenges are evident in the pace and alignment of change with industry and social practice. Investigation of an attempt to introduce a new curriculum in an undergraduate degree (Dirk & Gelderblom, 2017) revealed an experience of hysteresis by academics, with feelings of distance from their field of expertise and an inability to actively educate others.

One direction education is innovating is via closer collaboration with industry. This is particularly true in business schools, shifting from a historically producer-consumer relationship (Kumar, 2019) to one where research advances, funding is supported, and arguably more significant benefit for society. Of course, this 'benefit' may or may not be perceived as such, depending on the role of the stakeholder. Consider, for example, the move to online courses and subsequent redundancies in academic staff arising from such. Kumar (2019) states it is essential for government support of industry-academia collaborations, particularly considering spinoff benefits acquired by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) who would otherwise be limited in accessing knowledge.

Drawing on these previous examples, a framework for investigating innovative practice might be constructed from the perspective of the academic and how they might initiate the innovative practice. A typology of innovative practice on that basis is illustrated in **Error! Reference s** ource not found.

Co-creation	Industry collaborations & partnerships to create value beyond the classroom
Curriculum	Ensuring course content is current
Andragogy	Finding & developing effective ways for teaching & learning
Technology	Using relevant technology & industry applications

Figure 4: Typology of innovative practice at the academic level

2.10 Innovation within marketing education

Marketing education provided by Universities has been criticized (Harrigan & Hulbert, 2011) as ill-preparing students for 21st Century marketing practice and failing to equip students with the necessary skills marketing practitioners require. Pefanis Schlee and Harich (2010) assert that although skills are changing and the importance of technical skills is growing, conceptual knowledge is more deeply rooted. Therefore, it is more stable as an educational currency for undergraduate

marketing students. Their research led Pefanis Schlee and Harich (2010) to recommend incorporating more technical skills in marketing curriculums. They claim lack of resourcing and competencies amongst marketing graduates restricts their potential to contribute to society.

However, this is the view looking out. Within the institution's walls, we must consider academics' resourcefulness to manifest their development and position themselves to equip students with the requisite 21st-century skills. Chonko (2003) postulates a concern in tenure and its' restriction on the readiness and ability of marketing academics to change. This concern is also supported by more recent research conducted globally (Rohn, 2017) and in New Zealand (Zealand, 2020). Such tenure may heighten the issue of hysteresis, as introduced by Bourdieu (1990). Agency theory (Bøe et al., 2015) would further propose that understanding the impacts of managers on academics' behaviour is useful in understanding educators' consideration of innovative solutions.

The effort and resource utilisation, driven by a marketing orientation towards creating value (Day, 1994), can be minimised by identifying and examining successful innovative practices in marketing education (Kahn, 2018). Arguably knowing impediments to successful practice may provide insights for developing effective approaches and should not be ignored when developing an understanding. Looking beyond my discipline to education can also reveal opportunities to innovate (Albers-Miller et al., 2001).

As asserted earlier, Harrigan & Hulbert (2011) contend the very function of marketing within organizations has changed, and this change has been unrealized by academics, leading to disconnects between the two. They claim a changing marketing DNA (Harrigan & Hulbert, 2011), necessitating that academics advance marketing education beyond traditional paradigms. If this is true, we may need to look outside the discipline and adopt a broader lens of marketing education. Add to this technological innovation in robotics, automation, analytics, and artificial intelligence that McKinley et al. (2017) claim leads to replacing human capital. A case for innovation for transformative education is evident.

Finch et al. (2013) conducted quantitative research amongst practitioners to identify priorities for improvement in marketing education. The results of their study posed questions as to the longevity of traditional undergraduate marketing education, suggesting meta-skills sought by businesses were not unique to marketing, nor even to a business degree. The claimed marketing per se is at threat of substitution. To survive, Finch et al. (2013) suggested marketing education focus on learning around these meta-skills in a way that presents marketing graduates with a unique 'marketing' identity. That leads to some pertinent questions for the marketing discipline: Could the integration of technology-based innovative practice enhance the longevity of marketing education?

Or are innovations in other areas such as reimagining the curriculum more prevalent? Again, how should academics and marketing teachers innovate to ensure that we remain ahead or at least current in the development of marketing education, regardless of where marketing practice lies? What does innovative practice mean within marketing?

A review of the literature associated with evolving innovative practice within marketing education leads to four illustrative examples of a proposed typology for innovative practice by individuals. These are previewed in **Error! Reference source not found.** and examined in the four f ollowing sections.

Orientation	Theme
Co-creation	Extensive collaboration with industry partner
Curriculum	Redesign of entire marketing programme towards digital marketing
Andragogy	New ways of assessing students
Technology	Use of new technology in teaching: Google Cardboard

Figure 5: Thematic orientation of innovative practice in marketing

2.10.1 Co-creation with Industry partners

According to Fitzgerald et al. (2019), adopting co-creative solutions between academic institutions and industry enhances the advancement of knowledge to enable institutions to contribute more fully to the future of society. They argue that diverse partnerships can exploit and enhance educational expertise, leading to knowledge creation and addressing societal concerns. Such partnerships can result in mutually beneficial exchanges of knowledge and resources (Driscoll, 2008). Therefore, engagement between academia and industry can arguably contribute to innovative practices by both. While academia orients towards advancing knowledge theoretically, the wider industry does so via a practical lens. Innovative practices can be expanded through collaboration and engagement between universities and external stakeholders, enabling all parties as learners and teachers (Fitzgerald et al., 2019). Many higher education providers have linked directly with industry in forming cooperative work placements that provide value to the students and firms (Schlesinger et al., 2015), albeit primarily a one-on-one exchange. Relationship marketing underpins successful and robust relationships between firms, yet little consideration has evolved within higher education beyond the common expert/guest speaker scenario. Philbin (2008) has highlighted the critical benefit of collaborative relationships with industry, particularly given a situation where the product is intangible, as in education. According to Philbin (2008), such relationships can reduce uncertainty in teaching and relevance within the wider community.

Brennan et al. (2018) mandate that deeper and sustained partnerships are necessary for authentic learning in marketing education.

Wix, founded in 2006, provides a cloud-based development platform that enables users to create an online presence, plan a website, engage in digital marketing activities, and reach new audiences (Wix, 2020). Wix has facilitated these marketing facets in moving with technology, enabling retailers to mobilise their online activities and capitalise on changes amongst target markets. One of its main activities is in education, through partnerships with educational departments and individual academics in facilitating students' abilities to create an online presence using its digital tools. Its' educational partnerships are provided free of charge.

Academics are choosing to partner with Wix to ensure that graduates have the digital skills and career tools necessary for the workplace (Richmond, 2020; Levine, 2020); and for marketing educators to remain timely, relevant, and interesting (Rosenbaum, 2020). The extent to which this industry partner involves itself in marketing education ranges from presentations and workshops; to one-on-one individualised sessions; to co-creation of courses, including syllabus design and lesson plans. Individual academics work alongside Wix in co-developing materials used within their institution, supporting this notion of ensuring alignment between teaching and application within the wider marketing community. The evolution of online retailing, increasing globalisation, and higher costs of a physical retail footprint reinforce the need for marketing students to learn and develop skills in designing effective websites. Practical experience of bringing together necessary information and formatting these for intended audiences brings authenticity to what marketing students are learning. It likely enables their work to be critiqued more practically.

In July 2020, Wix further extended their collaborative relationships with education by announcing a partnership with the Philippines Department of Education to improve e-learning education curricula and accessibility rising from restrictions to education brought about by Covid-19 (Wix, 2020). In this way, the partner organisation has learned from their relationship and experience with educational providers to develop resources further to enable innovative marketing practices in a changing educational landscape.

Such co-creation and support of academic programmes by industry partners can strengthen the realism of what is taught and how it is taught, drawing on the andragogical and curricula pillars of innovative practice.

While this example has revealed benefits in choosing to partner with an external organisation, caution is necessary for determining the flexibility, honesty of the relationship, fit (clarity), and awareness in making such arrangements. This approach is not unlike applying the framework of innovation (Kahn, 2018) that draws on mindset, process, and outcome. However it

extends to additional factors that consider environmental aspects further impacting the formation of collaborative partnerships. Rybnicek and Königsgruber (2019) also acknowledge that such partnerships have become part of university funding, creating sustainable practices and enabling innovation, but are only successful when drawing on the characteristics for a successful arrangement. Partnering can provide access to resources and new tools that academics do not have the ability or expertise to use. It reduces the gap between educator and practitioner. However, the choice of and trust in a partner can restrict the success of these collaborations. A further guiding principle is the ability of a collaborator organisation to handle the cultural gap between a University and an industry (Rybnicek & Königsgruber, 2019). Aspects of these concerns can be explored through this research to understand experiences in collaborating with industry partners.

2.10.2 Innovative practice via Curriculum

Curriculum redesign is essential for ensuring that teaching content is current and applicable in and for today's society. Etherington (2019) encourages educators to understand how education changes considering digital culture and society's needs.

Adamant that marketing programmes have not kept up with the pace of change in marketing, Rohm et al. (2018) introduced a digital-first curriculum, placing digital marketing at the heart of their curriculum. They acknowledged issues educators and programmes have had in keeping pace with changes in marketing, mainly arising from digitalisation, and sought to address these.

The full embrace of a digital format into curriculum design evolved via four key pedagogical approaches. First, the focus was not solely on the content of the courses but in how they were taught. They integrated experiential and project-based learning, skills development, and a transdisciplinary agile team focus to cement their structure for change. To achieve this, Rohm et al. (2018) formed external collaborations with local consumer-facing brands to determine needs gaps and ensure course content's relevancy. Through ongoing mentoring and reflective change management processes, relationships with such partners evolved further. Rohm and his team (McTaggart et al., 2017) used action research that significantly reduced the opportunity for programme misalignment resulting from individual course redesign (Zimmer & Keiper, 2020). The participatory nature of curriculum redesign derived higher value for overhauling their marketing programme, gaining benefit and sense from involving key stakeholders. For example, project-based learning through real industry briefs helped students extend their subject understanding beyond traditional theories into the new digital realm, further supported by transdisciplinary teams (Ye et al., 2017). Following such projects, involving student stakeholders in curriculum change processes further enhances programme overhauls (Buechler et al., 2020). A programmatic approach to

learning was used as course content was scaffolded through different educational levels to complete the whole, further avoiding misalignments in the redesign.

In introducing this innovative 'digital first' core, Rohm and his colleagues saw the need for its effectiveness and sustainability. While the emphasis was on ensuring digital skills were taught and practised, they applied a broader lens to student competency through creativity, critical thinking, collaboration, and communication. To evidence the employability of graduates, student satisfaction and industry feedback were all used as measures of success.

This example's success lies in an innovative focus on a digital marketing core within the curriculum instead of a single standalone course. Rohm and his colleagues recognised the need for and importance of introducing a comprehensive suite of changes at one point in time.

In such a programme overhaul, institutions must consider the role of academics in their areas of interest and specialisation, industry involvement, and their demands of employees and student interest. Rohm et al. (2018) acknowledge challenges in managing expectations, project scalability, student composition, and working across disciplines. However, they also propose these challenges can be minimised through collaborative teaching models, strong university-industry relations, effective resource allocation, and cross-faculty support.

2.10.3 Innovative practice in Andragogy

Moving from a pedagogical focus toward andragogy, the emphasis shifts to a mature learner-centred approach, assuming students as independent and active learners, responsible for achieving their goals (Muduli et al., 2018). Depending on prior experience of a subject, the learning style might favour either pedagogy or andragogy. In higher education, particularly marketing education, academics favour facilitatory roles as they evolve their students through interactive and experiential activities and problem-solving to advance scholarliness. Numerous marketing simulations are readily available to support such learning. Despite these innovative modes of course delivery, the depth of student learning remains problematic. Their motivation varies from intrinsic learning for interest or enjoyment to extrinsic and a means to an end (Bruce, 2018). Additional pressures on students' time resulting from a digital age continue to focus students on examinable content as their sole learning focus.

Drawing on these challenges, Mills and Robson (2019) introduced an assessment programme based solely on students' active contributions. Students were all given a basic starting grade of 'B' on the first day of this programme. Students ' grades were moderated up or down depending on their content engagement via discussions, collaborative tasks, or similar.

Mills and Robson relied on learners to relax, remove the anxiety associated with examinations and key deliverables, and focus on the learning process. Their determination to upend the assessment programme changed students' goal orientation away from credit accrual towards learning and knowledge acquisition.

Both academics have used this approach to assessment over two years within an undergraduate consumer behaviour course. Feedback from students indicated greater freedom to learn and higher enjoyment. In addition, the accountability assumed by learners aligns with andragogical principles (Mills & Robson, 2019). Mills acknowledges that this approach to assessment may not suit all higher education providers and may challenge the assumptions of course design and testing needs. He affirms the positive outcomes achieved from this innovative approach.

There is a multitude of factors that impact the learning experience of students. In their experience (Mills & Robson, 2019), adopting an active learning approach motivated students to be free to learn (Ackerman & Hu, 2011). Although not all students learn the same way, motivation remains central to transforming the student. Recognising their context within a behaviour oriented subject enabled Mills and Robson to explore alternatives. Not all academics will have the same degree of success in such extreme variations to assessment practice. Mills' acknowledges this in admitting the approach has not been extended to any other course, or any other academic. It is not to say that it couldn't, only that it hasn't. His own challenges in time, interest, and motivation are limiting this practice solely to this single course, suggesting that some innovative practices are restricted in their applicability thereby limiting widespread adoption.

2.10.4 Innovative practice via Technology

Technology has a more significant role in the education of today's learners, particularly in how it can simultaneously provide learning and entertainment (Chelliah & Clarke, 2011). Novel means of content delivery are sought, driven by students' expectations and academics' desires to maintain currency in the discipline. Recently this has led to the introduction of virtual reality to offer an immersive learning experience where students can explore concepts themselves through threedimensional visualisations (Lee et al., 2017). Such immersion has long been recognised as providing richer, more interactive, engaging, and supportive learning opportunities than traditional descriptive methods (Majgaard & Weitze, 2020; Mantovani, 2001). Today's significant educational challenges are the depth of learning, leaning towards the surface rather than mastery, and short-term rather than enduring knowledge. In drawing on constructivist paradigms, virtual reality can enable knowledge acquisition through direct experience of the phenomenon (Minocha, 2015). According to Mantovani (2001), this form of exploratory learning can be more effective in helping students to assimilate knowledge as they combine experience with reflection and analysis (Joplin, 1981).

Marketing educators Fischbach et al. (2018) have successfully introduced virtual reality into their courses. Experimenting with virtual reality is helping Sarah and her team integrate additional areas of learning through this exciting medium, providing students with a better grasp of marketing concepts (McGovern, 2017). In addition, virtual reality enhances the customer service experience, facilitates and manages customer expectations, and engages potential customers through a brief brand experience (Yaoyuneyong et al., 2014).

Virtual reality, for many, might seem out of reach in terms of cost. However, alternative and more accessible forms of VR are now available. Fischbach et al. (2018) use Google Cardboard to facilitate virtual reality in teaching. At approximately USD 30 per unit, it is a cost-effective approach. Through this technology, her students have experienced immersive retail store environments, gaining a greater understanding of customer journeys (local and international) which would otherwise remain inaccessible or a static learning experience. Fischbach et al. (2018) use virtual reality to expose students to marketing applications in practice and find success in students' engagement and comprehension of new digital technologies. Using Google Cardboard, educators and students create their 360-degree videos or choose from existing collections aligned with course concepts. The ease with which this low-cost technology solution enables students to connect with digital opportunities that may otherwise remain unexplored is widening their lens to broader applications in business (Fischbach et al., 2018).

There are challenges in educators comprehending VR platforms and ways to adapt their teaching to incorporate it and the 'deep dive' into new technology with which they are unfamiliar. Fischbach et al. (2018) acknowledge their journey into this has not been entirely smooth running. To accommodate this, some institutions are setting up specialised digital learning departments, while other educators collaborate alongside young students to jointly explore new technology in the classroom (McGovern, 2017). However, the benefits of experiencing marketing in these ways outweigh the initial obstacles in learning via new technology.

These four examples of innovative marketing education practices have contributed to a greater understanding of how marketing academics innovate. Variations in sustainability, application and implementation are evident. It is clear marketing education is evolving through collaborations, curriculum, andragogy, and technology. However, in these examples, what is not apparent is a deeper understanding of the individuals' experiences to the extent that their context, beliefs, motivations, and experiences are understood. Why does one academic look to technology as a

solution when others look to the curriculum? Why do some choose to collaborate when others attempt to, yet find it unstainable? How do environmental factors influence these decisions? To begin to know these answers, I need to look deeper into the experiences of individuals as they attempt new practices in higher education.

2.11 Summary: Innovation as a process for evolving academic practice

According to the literature explored previously, innovative practice is imperative for higher education to enable a sustainable and socially responsible world that effectively tackles societies' wicked problems.

Technology, as one example, was a source of innovation driving changes in how students are taught and how they learn. However, the literature proposed that it is not, and arguably should not be, the sole source of new practice, particularly regarding accessibility and relevance in different settings. Through socialisation, accreditation, and personal development, good citizenship should underpin how education enables society to advance (Biesta, 2015). The concern is how educators might nurture it, given the changes and challenges prevalent in this 21st-century era of learning.

Academics have been impacted in many ways, through casualisation of labour, the conflict between teaching and research (& service), access to resources, leadership models, an aging workforce, and technology-enabled learners. Increased competition through the globalisation of economies and open online courses has further created stressful environments for academics to prove their value and remain an asset to their employer. Additional concerns over diversity, equity, and inclusion have prompted institutions to pivot established learning practices for sustainability.

Such challenges support the need for an evolving academic practice that advances learners and knowledge to benefit themselves and society.

The gap here lies in the question of how?

The literature review pointed towards new educational practices applied to many aspects, including andragogy (pedagogy), curriculum, stakeholder relations, financing, or assessment. However, deciding how innovation should evolve is likely to differ according to organisations, culture, leadership, and individuals. Therefore, situational factors could be expected to influence the degree and extent to which innovativeness is possible.

The question is, in what ways? Through their own experience, academics could begin to know or comprehend these relationships and their solutions. Understanding choices innovative academics are making in the ways they are introducing new practices could shed perspective on

how, in what, and where they are involved directly in evolving practice, and importantly, the role technology may or may not have in this.

Through this study, we can learn about ways academics are innovating to direct our understanding of how we might evolve our practice. We can begin to know about innovative practitioners, drives to innovate, and how these shape new solutions. It may also be possible to understand how academics make sense of their evolving practice, and the impact of internal and external influences, potentially shedding light on how management might evaluate their practice. While the study emphasizes the perspective of individual academics and their experience in evolving academic practice, involvement of institutional management is likely to be included in such discussions.



Use of a conceptual framework: Components of Innovation (Kahn, 2018)

Figure 6: Conceptual Framework

Earlier in the review, I introduced three components necessary to achieve innovation: mindset, process, and outcome (Kahn, 2018). In this study, I drew on these components to inform the development of my inquiry via a conceptual framework (**Error! Reference source not found.**) to try and understand how these evolved in new educational practices. In exploring the internal, the path, and the solution, it could be possible to understand the intended purpose – qualification, socialization, or subjectification (Biesta, 2015) and how this aligned with the success or otherwise of the attempts at educational transformation. Did these purposes asserted by Biesta (2015) shape innovative practice, or did innovative practice shape these purposes?

In undertaking this research, the aim was to reveal nuances in alternative views of innovative practice, providing direction related to others' situations and motivations.

This study could also provide value in how educators engage with learners, with direction over types of resources most suited to learning, i.e. text-based vs. multisensory approaches, and associated level of presence by learner and educator (Kop & Bouchard, 2011).

Innovative practice creates new opportunities and finds new ways of serving existing markets or growing new markets. In the context of understanding new practices in higher education, for differing purposes and outcomes, it may be possible to reflect more readily on how such practices might be applied to one's educational setting.

This higher education landscape is fraught with many challenges, unlikely to be remedied soon. Agility and adaptability are needed for education, educators, and institutions to help society resolve wicked problems now and into the future. According to Weber and Rohracher (2012), experimentation is necessary, and further understanding of conditions that enable and support such practices is warranted across a range of media, not just technology. Thus, the focus of this thesis is to reduce the gap in understanding individual academics' experiences and practices in evolving education towards opportunities for consideration in my context. In looking into dimensionalities of individuals' experience in how and why they have innovated and how challenges have been addressed, a better understanding of pathways for educational innovation may be garnered. As a marketing educator, I will reflect on how these practices could be understood and applied to marketing education. The following chapter explains the methodologies applied in the context of this study.

3 Methodology

3.1 Introduction

This thesis sought to understand ways of innovating in higher education across various academic perspectives and within different educational settings. At the outset, I intended to identify innovative solutions from leading-edge marketing academics and draw from these to determine the applicability for my department and university. However, limiting the focus to only identifying marketing-related practices meant that I would not necessarily understand the nuances and predicaments underpinning those solutions. Applying an 'outcomes' focus could restrict the evaluation of critical aspects and experiences individual practitioners have in arriving at solutions. Henceforth this study sought to explore individuals' journeys more closely, including their contextual factors, and apply a lens beyond marketing to gain a broader insight into innovative educational practice. In extending this lens of consideration, I hoped to identify insights to benefit my and others' understanding of evolving educational practice.

The focus was on higher education without geographical or disciplinary boundaries. This wider lens enabled an investigation of various applications, and through those potentially new concepts, ideas or applications could be determined. Current studies in and of innovative practice tend to be limited to thematic or geographical concentrations, limiting the disparity and awareness of potential variations in innovativeness. This study could, for example, have been limited solely to innovative practice using technology, innovative practice in the USA, or innovative practice in curriculum design. However, innovative practice is widespread and not limited to a single dimension. It is constrained only to the extent that others conceive of it through self-imposed limitations of the mind. Thus, the most valuable aspect of this study lies in understanding experiences regardless of academics' context or locality.

However, I expected that in selecting academics as research participants, their consideration of innovative practice would likely be *in* education, not *on* education. This is significant to recognise, for there may be differences in experiences due to participants' profile or role in education, or perhaps concerning financing activities or curriculum-related innovations. In selecting academics, as opposed to those in managerial or administrative positions, I was steering the investigation away from areas of concentration that relied on higher-level decision-making and involvement towards practical implementations available directly to the academic. The focus of this research, therefore, was the investigation of innovative practices associated with the *ways* of teaching, namely andragogy (mode), technology (tools), and authenticity (partnerships).

3.2 The problem in context

As acknowledged in the literature, the current state of higher education is challenging for many employed within it. Twenty-odd years as a marketing academic should have positioned me as an expert, yet in so many areas, I feel completely novice. It is due to changing technologies, how careers and jobs are also changing, and how higher education is expected to contribute to society. At an individual level, academics need to be agile enough to respond, remain relevant, and secure their sustainability in education. I don't believe we academics can or should rely on management structures and organisational strategy to necessarily resolve this disparity. There is a need for academics to embrace a mindset and capacity for new practice beyond the more widely recognised applications.

The problem here lies in understanding how those individual responses occur and in what ways they are being developed in practice so that we can gain insight into how others might also be agile in teaching and learning.

3.3 Aims

Specifically, this research aimed to explore experiences in higher education that could guide others in reimagining their educational practice, contributing to both their sustainability and practice.

In exploring documentation of innovative practice within Higher Education relating to curriculum, pedagogy, technology, and industry partnerships, an understanding of practice could be gained. Further research might recognise challenges and opportunities for innovating successfully useful to other academics or institutions within and beyond marketing education. These aims lead to the key research questions for this study.

Research Question and sub-questions:

How might an understanding of different experiences in innovativeness within higher education contribute toward evolving ways of academic practice?

- How does an individual's academic identity align with their experience of innovative practice?
- 2. How are academics innovating in higher education, within and outside marketing-related disciplines?
- 3. What contributes to how innovative practice is shaped?

The research was not aimed solely at marketing-related leading-edge, innovative practices for adoption within my department. Instead, this research sought to reveal insights from those experienced in applying themselves differently as academics irrespective of discipline to know and comprehend alternative ways of doing so. Having been situated in marketing academia for two decades, I felt the need to extend my exploration of innovative practice to include non-marketers. As innovation was the focus, confining the study to my discipline might constrain the findings on how academics are innovative, reducing the opportunity to discover novel practices via a non-marketing lens.

3.4 Theoretical Framework

An interpretivist epistemology underpins my research. I assumed academics have different experiences in innovating as impacted by their setting, agency, exposure to innovative thinking, and opportunity to develop and implement such practice. As the researcher in this setting, I applied an ontological condition of understanding (Schwandt, 1994) to learn about the world by understanding how others experience it. If I could capture academics' multiple realities, perspectives, and experiences in their intent to innovate, I could begin to understand the practice of doing so. Access to resources, use, and integration of technology, and 'state of the nation' each contribute to the position an educator or their institution is willing or able to innovate. A consideration of these various contexts can best be understood through different individuals' experiences in attempting to introduce new practices

This qualitative constructivist study aimed to explore innovative practices within higher education to understand how educational practices can be altered or transformed and their relevance within marketing education. Marketing is my field of education, and it is important to me to draw on the ideas revealed in this exploration and consider how they might apply in my setting. However, restricting the conversation only to marketing academics or focusing on single domains of new practice, such as using technology or new andragogical approaches, may have reduced the insights from dialogues with academics outside of my environment. To know how I might learn to conceive of teaching differently to meet 21st-century learning challenges, I believed I needed to hear from academics specifically, neither managers nor administrators, but those at the teaching coalface with direct experience in trialling new education with their students. I needed to examine their direct experience of new ways of practice.

I also felt I needed to extend my listening beyond the marketing discipline, broaden the scope to alternative fields, and allow unimagined opportunities. I believe that the challenges of student engagement, academic workload, technological advances, and changing industry practices necessitate the evolution of education. Thus, in looking outside of my marketing academia and in looking internationally, I might recognise new ways of educational practice that could positively

contribute to the way I evolve personally as an academic in the face of these ongoing challenges impacting higher education.

This definition of newness cannot be easily framed, in my opinion. The research focused on understanding ways of being innovative and how they evolve, what shapes them, where they emerge, and how they translate into practice. It was likely inconsistencies exist between academics in their approach to being innovative. It was also possible that what one considered innovative may be the norm to another. For example, I didn't want to focus solely on new technological approaches but to begin to know how different academics approach and experience innovativeness through their lens related to their context. I could not assume to know, or restrict the knowing, in the experiences of others being innovative, how their academic identity intersects with this, or how they apply themselves to be innovative.





With these variations in mind, a constructivist approach (Error! Reference source not f ound.) enabled the exploration of these variations. I could gain insight into what I understood about these ways of innovative practice, understand participants' perceptions and experiences (Kahlke, 2014), and translate this to inform opportunities applicable to my HE institution and how they might innovate educational practice. Wagenheim et al. (2008) propose that new practices may result from a greater sense of self-awareness of our assumptions. Through dialogues, I could begin to understand how others draw on their insights and assumptions in experiences of new practice, which could better contribute toward determining more effective outcomes.

3.5 The fit of a theoretical framework with the problem

Several approaches could explore innovative practice from quantitative and qualitative methodological perspectives.

Structured quantitative methods such as surveys or experiments assume a single reality or truth which can be measured, producing reliable and valid results that can be generalised to a

broader population. That is not the case here. I sought comprehension and understanding of ways of innovating. I needed to explore the mindset, process, and eventual outcomes experienced by other academics in their attempts to practice. I was not attempting to quantify how people acted similarly to one another or determine causal relationships between their actions or characteristics. Such methods are associated with positivist paradigms and are not applicable in this study.

My problem was also concerned with the depth of understanding of practice, one I could best obtain through immersing myself in knowing the experience others have had in this area of higher education. In attempting to understand the phenomenon, I couldn't be separated from it, nor could my participants. Their interpretation of the phenomenon was critical to my understanding of their experience (Koivu & Damman, 2015). Further, my position as an academic meant that my values would influence the research, and it was not possible to separate these values from the study (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2005). This subjective aspect further distracts from using the more objective, positivist methodologies. Finally, I did not identify with the need for measurability of the phenomenon such that there might have been a single best way of innovating in higher education. There was no need to control aspects of innovative practice to predict its outcome and, as Koivu and Damman (2015) acknowledge, achieve positivist expectations of external validity. Put simply, a positivist approach was not appropriate for this purpose.

Instead, if acknowledging multiple ways of knowing and multiple realities exist in how others have experienced innovative practice, these individual accounts could provide greater value in answering the research questions I sought to resolve. Epistemologically, I needed to construct those realities to make sense of differences in experience, again not to quantify them but reflect on them in the context of my practice. Being an academic positioned me as having inside knowledge of education (Petty et al., 2012), which affirmed my authenticity as a researcher of this phenomenon.

3.6 Choosing a methodology

To construct realities of innovative practice, understanding the phenomenon itself through exploring and interpreting others' attempts to do so is required (Fuster Guillen, 2019). This realisation led me to consider several qualitative methodologies such as grounded theory, action research, ethnography, case study, and phenomenology (**Error! Reference source not found.**).



Figure 8: Choice of research methodology

I discounted grounded theory as I did not seek to derive a theory to explain the ways of innovating. I sought to understand academics' experiences in being innovative. Furthermore, my desire to gain a wider lens of application across international practices negated the relevance of a grounded theory approach. I wanted to gain breadth through more comprehensive exploration with an unmodified lens rather than develop relationships between data points. I collected the data and reviewed its meaning, with changes made to questions throughout the process to derive a theory.

Ethnography could have been a helpful methodology if I wanted to restrict the examination to either myself (autoethnography) or a cultural group (Reeves et al., 2013). However, as mentioned in the previous paragraph, I sought to explore experiences across a more expansive international landscape. I could identify differences or variations that could help me question my practices and aid in realising new opportunities. Furthermore, limiting an examination of the research question to a single cultural group, e.g., marketing academics, would potentially restrict the recognition of new academic practices perfectly suited to alternative disciplines.

Action research involving forming a community group (in this case, a group of academics) was not relevant to this study because I had no understanding of others' ways of innovating. That was what I sought to explore. I was not looking to identify an innovative practice and trial it, which would have suited an action research study. I wanted to explore different approaches used by academics and understand their journey and context. There was no need to trial and evaluate an approach to answer the research question simply because no single approach was sought.

According to Yin (2014), case studies describe, explore and explain. They can be used in isolation or collectively to enable researchers to understand data, enabling either positivist or

interpretive insights. Seemingly, no necessary consistency appears in how such data is analysed or what materials or resources are required for data collection. Instead, the focus on case studies is an in-depth examination of a phenomenon that enables conclusions to be drawn. From those conclusions, theories might be proposed, frameworks developed, or insights obtained that provide value to the researchers in understanding the topics under investigation. A single case study might be enough to address a research question, depending on the extent of data sources used and the predetermined use of such a methodology (Hancock & Algozzine, 2017). However, case study limitations can include the fit, specific framing of the research question proposed, the availability of additional data sources, and its purpose, i.e., a single source or in part of a more robust research approach.

While case studies help provide depth of understanding of some innovative practice experiences, they would limit the breadth of context that I believe would constrain this study. For example, I sought to know differences within disciplines, geographic locations, and solutions. The case study would have been a helpful approach if I was seeking to examine only the use of technology in a marketing department as an example, however, this was not the research under question. Thus, the case study approach would only help provide insights into some aspects of the problem and not the whole.

These considerations led me towards phenomenology to explain the experiences of academics in innovating.

3.7 Interpretive Phenomenological Approach

The purpose of phenomenology is to enable researchers to study participants' direct lived experiences of a phenomenon of interest. Developed by Edmund Husserl, this approach focuses on perspectives in making sense of lived experiences. While it is not generalisable to every situation, it enables researchers to explore data through several different approaches, including experiential, historical/archival, attitude/reflection, and observation/intention (Garza, 2007). I chose to use both a historical/archival and experiential approach in this investigation. In drawing on these two approaches in the form of a multi-stage phenomenology, I sought to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the ways and experiences of innovating. I felt I needed to 'know' to begin to understand and thus develop a richer data analysis. This philosophical underpinning led me to embrace and use inductive reasoning to examine others' realities (Dowling, 2007). These were then able to contribute to my understanding of new practices.

Phenomenology can be applied through either descriptive or interpretive means. In the former, researchers seek only to describe the phenomenon that occurs through a process of

bracketing. As developed by Husserl, descriptive phenomenology assumes that the researchers remain independent of the research and set aside their assumptions in collecting and analysing the data. Martin Heidegger (1962) extended Husserl's earlier work, believing it important to attempt to see experiences from the standpoint of individuals, i.e., not just their knowing their direct experience but exploring their embracement of it. In an interpretative phenomenological approach (IPA), researchers involve themselves in understanding the phenomenon. Alase (2017) affirms this will best meet the novice researcher position. In innovative or new practices in education, it seems that it is impossible to separate ourselves from our world to isolate how things are from a scientific perspective. Reality is linked to individuals, their context, and their experience. This understanding necessitates an interpretive approach to obtain meaning and 'to know'. Because of its newness, innovative practice can be viewed as a significant experience. It can be ground-breaking even in the case of a serial innovator, as each attempt to introduce an approach is new and unknown to them (if not to others). An essential element of IPA is in the context within which individual experiences occur, which relates to working in an era of high technological influence. Conceptually embracing explicit and latent aspects of individuals' described experiences in being innovative brings a deeper understanding of what is said and unsaid concerning their evolving practice (Heidegger, 1962). Presupposing that innovating educational practice is a significant educational experience in the academic life, IPA is an ideal approach to use in the study (Smith et al., 2009). By collecting examples of these individual experiences and reflecting on them, it is possible to shape understanding of the practice of new academic applications related to the participants included in the study and their relatedness to this phenomenon (Larkin et al., 2006).

Martin Heidegger (1889-1976) claims that 'interpretation' occurs at two levels (Reiners, 2012). Firstly, in participants knowing their context, and subsequently through the researchers' interpretation of meaning by instilling themselves in the participants' world and making sense of it. Knowing and understanding ways of innovative practice, it is necessary to know and understand the research participants and their world. According to Larkin et al. (2006), focusing on participants' voices enables an insider's perspective on the experiences of a specific event or process, including introducing the innovative practice. This then provided the opportunity for a more critical and conceptual commentary arising from a thematic analysis and consideration of what participants have meant in their shared context.

IPA provides an opportunity and guidance to reflect on others' perspectives and actions in innovating, providing alternate applications to similar or differing issues. In attaining knowledge of individual journeys of innovative practice and how those were constructed, I was able to gain a deeper understanding of those experiences (Allen et al., 2014) and develop my ability to interpret those practices across different landscapes and contexts. This ability enabled me to draw more informed conclusions and reasonings to support applying this knowledge to my setting and how it might exist in other academic contexts. Crotty (1998) claims that interpretive analysis can bridge gaps between theory and practice by drawing on discussions of socially constructed worlds that explore language and understanding. Exploring in-depth information through understanding others' experiences (Creswell, 2008) and their 'becoming' as architects of knowledge creation (Guba & Lincoln, 2005) adds an interesting dimension to my ontology of innovative practice.

In exploring the research question, because of the newness associated with innovation (Hanifah et al., 2019) or innovative practice, limited knowledge and experience of the phenomenon likely existed (Giorgi, 1997). A constructivist approach helps in understanding not only what 'is', but what motivates individuals to consciously identify with what 'is.' Constraining knowing to new practices introduced through cases of innovative practice, i.e. what 'is', ignores the motivations, agency (Bøe et al., 2015) and actors (Miettinen, 1999) aligned with introducing the innovation, i.e. the experience. The focus of this research was to understand the ways of innovating and others' experiences in evolving academic practice. Thus, while a constructivist approach is ideal, I needed to determine the best methodological approach.

In further complicating decisions of methodological choice, a significant limitation of qualitative research is its lack of generalisability through selecting a single qualitative approach (Annells, 2006). McKibbon and Gadd (2004) also acknowledge researcher conflict in choosing a research approach to address the research question, something I experienced. Being challenged in this methodological decision, I reflected on my epistemological, ontological, and axiological beliefs. I needed to construct an understanding of the phenomenon by discussing it in-depth with research participants. I could not remove my identity as an academic from this investigation, but I could draw on it to interpret the data. Unlike Johnston et al. (2017), I did not seek to draw on my experience of the phenomenon as part of the sample. The emphasis was to look internationally and externally at what others were doing.

While I could not make my study robust and representative of the larger population of innovative practitioners, this was now an outcome I desired. I sought understanding. I sought insights and richness of reflection in examining this phenomenon. While interviews alone could have been enough, I sought a more rigorous research approach, where other academics could draw on findings for future consideration and application within their context. I realised I could use triangulation to achieve that rigour and thus extended my earlier literature investigation to focus on specific applications within the marketing discipline to give me the alignment I sought in gaining

meaning for my context. A focused literature review of marketing applications could contribute toward triangulating the data obtained from the primary interviews.

3.8 Towards a research design

At the outset, I decided to conduct a content analysis of various websites of higher education institutions to gather information about different marketing undergraduate programmes, thereby highlighting innovative practices and institutions offering unique aspects within their curriculum.

Following that evaluation, I intended to identify key differences and conduct qualitative interviews with academics involved in the stated programmes. The literature guided my choice of four unique applications in what I deemed 'innovative practice' within marketing education (Error! R eference source not found.). Innovative in the sense that these practices were new to me and not currently being applied within my academic department. I chose marketing specifically as I wanted to examine and understand my context and applications of innovative practice before extending my thinking to disciplines and realities beyond this. I also wanted a form of triangulation for the data I intended to collect.

Holloway and Todres (2003) suggest using qualitative approaches to explore and search for meaning in experiences. It can aid in recognising sensitive contexts that might influence innovative educational practice, e.g., the environmental context of participants, which resonated with me. Through my experience in marketing education, I am aware of factors that have impacted the extent to which colleagues have gotten involved in change, e.g. organisational politics.

When conducting the research, the world was entering a state of flux with COVID-19, and I was unable to secure interviews for each of the identified examples of novel practices in marketing. I decided to move ahead with the remainder of the study to ensure progress was being made. While I was not successful in completing these qualitative interviews, I did draw on secondary sources and the literature to examine these applications. While these interviews would have been rewarding to conduct, I don't think they have diminished the study's overall findings. In reviewing these individual examples in marketing literature, I was still able to realise some of the contextual factors influencing and impacting innovative responses.

From this initial review of different examples of innovative applications in marketing education, I intended to collect further qualitative data through individual discussions with a broad cross-section of innovative academic practitioners. I aimed to explore variability and similarities in the journey of academics through their application of innovative actions, to understand the qualities, processes, and outcomes aligned with motivations that sought educational change. In conducting these broader interviews, I would become involved in co-constructing multiple realities of how individuals have 'lived' their experience of innovative practice.

3.9 Research Design

Using two discrete stages (**Error! Reference source not found.**) of an interpretive p henomenological approach enables insight and understanding of innovative practice, complemented with further explorations of contextual experiences shared within educational marketing departments and other disciplines in their attempts to innovate. In addition, complete descriptions of academics' experiences can help other researchers understand the context of a study enabling them to judge its applicability to their setting. This duality of research stages is somewhat inventive, yet Annells (2006) asserts this is acceptable if congruency in these approaches aligns with my philosophical paradigm of social constructivism.

Stage one of this study involved secondary research examining the phenomenon within marketing from a historical/archival perspective, as defined by Garza (2007). Literature discussing changes in education guided the selection of examples relating to four thematic orientations of innovative practice - andragogy (pedagogy), curriculum, technology, and industry partnerships.

Two staged Interpretive Phenomenological Approach				
Focused literature review	 Insights in marketing education enhance researchers' understanding to enable refinement of interview questions 			
Indepth Interviews	 Gain breadth & depth of insight: across differing borders, disciplines, environments and educational landscapes 			

Figure 9: Two staged Interpretive Phenomenological Approach (IPA)

While additional literature also points to an important fifth theme in financing and how institutions obtain funding to support practice, this theme was excluded from the review. The emphasis here was on academics and their experience in innovative practice, as opposed to staff in management or administration roles which is typically where the role of sourcing funding is situated. Thus, due to the distancing of most academics' positions from sourcing or making decisions around significant expenditure, I decided that this pillar would have less relevance to the studies' focus.

I chose the specific examples relating to the four themes because they resonated with me as a marketing academic and shaped my thinking about 'innovative practice'. These gave me context and understanding of different innovative practice applications and expanded my knowledge in this area, enabling further refinements to develop my interview schedule required in stage two of my research.

Each example involved a review of innovative practice through published articles, institutional websites, and blogs. Recalling that the purpose of this focus was to gain a deeper appreciation for the ways of innovative practice in marketing education; to move the researcher from 'novice' to be more informed in the ways of innovative practice, and to thus contribute to interview refinements for use in the primary stage of data collection. Yin (2003) affirms that using such insights is particularly valid when attempting to understand a process, in this case, the process of innovation and change in marketing education.

It was important to me to draw on multiple sources of information to build this knowledge and then develop practical interview tools. Stake (2013) confirms that multiple perspectives or dimensions enrich and give greater depth to understanding a phenomenon. Based on my recent focus on teaching a single marketing-oriented paper relating to marketing research, I felt I had a narrow vision of innovative practice across marketing. While I understood marketing as a discipline was changing, primarily informed by advances in technology and business practice, I felt somewhat siloed in my knowledge about how this is evolving within academia. I needed to know more about these evolutions to make more sense of my role in marketing and education. For this reason, I felt that this study needed to include details of new practices that I had no or very minimal direct previous experience of. It was important to know alternate ways of innovating within marketing.

The primary research stage involved in-depth interviews in conducting experiential phenomenology (Garza, 2007) and aided in understanding the 'essence' behind individuals' experiences to make sense or draw conclusions for broader application. I chose in-depth interviews over focus groups for two key reasons. Firstly, the desire to collect information from a range of international perspectives would have made data collection very challenging due to differing time frames and the location of participants. Secondly, in adopting an underlying principle of phenomenology, I could understand individualistic perspectives in the authentic experience of innovating. I wanted to know how they constructed and interpreted this experience in their world, necessitating the use of an individual interview.

The interviews I conducted explored the perspectives of those directly involved in the innovative practice to more deeply understand their undistorted experience in educational evolution through their narrations (Alase, 2017). While the applications focused on four themes of innovative practice, I did not purposefully set about interviewing participants in each area. Instead, my focus was to extend my search internationally and across various disciplines.

I completed fifteen interviews that provided sufficient data to the point that I felt I had obtained a good understanding of the phenomenon I was researching. Across these interviews, I gathered examples of a range of new practices, enabling me to get accurate and comprehensive interpretations (Van Manen, 1997) of experiences in innovative practice. It is important to confirm that this thesis focused on innovating and understanding an individual's lived experience. It was not to determine a wide range of new practices using larger sample sizes and more structured studies. Alase (2017) states samples size in phenomenological studies traditionally range between 2-25. This guide is helpful. However, the key to participant selection is that they are the best ones to help understand the phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

This sample size of fifteen interviews provided data and analysis that were concurrent, meeting the needs of thematic saturation for this study (Green & Thorogood, 2004). Braun and Clarke (2021) claim that in the case of thematic analysis, judgements about sample size are subjective and situated in the context of the study. The actual number of interviews in qualitative research can vary, but it is typically a small sample. As mentioned earlier, the emphasis was not on examining or quantifying <u>each</u> of the four key themes of change in education but on experiences of innovating from individuals' perspectives. What they chose and why they decided on aspects revealed insights. The richness of individual experience is more critical to a phenomenological study than the quantity of data (Alase, 2017). Specific details relating to the sample are expanded upon in section 3.10.

3.10 Collecting the data

Given the international nature of this study, technology was necessary to facilitate interviewing due to the location of the research participants and myself. I used SKYPE or ZOOM to conduct the face-to-face interviews, allowing for audio and video recording of data (with prior permission). While I had not used either technology for research purposes in the past, I found the platforms easy to use. All recordings were transcribed to minimize misinterpretations and researcher bias (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Interviews lasted approximately 1 hour. In addition to online interviews, two respondents provided their answers via email, using the interview guide to prompt their written responses. The answers provided in these self-completion scenarios were comprehensive and only required a few further short emails to gain greater clarification and confirm explanations. The approach was deemed necessary due to the time zone of respondents and the growing international crisis associated with COVID-19, which was creating communication and workload issues for participants and the researcher. An initial pilot interview was held with a local academic not part of the proposed sample to enable feedback and identify potential issues in the interview schedule and sequencing or effectiveness in addressing the research questions. This interview helped guide minor changes to questions and provided the researcher with interview experience in investigating this phenomenon.

3.11 Sampling

The sample was selected based on a) the four previously identified themes of andragogy, curriculum, technology, and industry partnerships, or b) recent journal or conference publications that illustrated novel approaches to marketing education within the last 18 months. These selected examples emphasized innovative practices within higher education relevant to what is taught, the way it is taught, the mode by which it is taught, and its linkages to society that underpin many teaching and learning decisions faced by transformative academics (Larrivee, 2000).

Individual research participants were selected using purposive (judgment) sampling techniques (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). This helped ensure respondents had an experience of the phenomenon under investigation and were a homogeneous group, i.e., academics. According to Creswell (2008) and Alase (2017), both are essential for phenomenological studies. Given the exploratory nature of this research, conclusive sampling techniques were not appropriate (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). There was no single comprehensive list of innovative practitioners in higher education. To construct such a list would have been incredibly time-consuming and unnecessary, given the purpose of this research. A further complication to the successful selection of participants was the challenges brought about by Covid-19, the worldwide pandemic of 2019/2020/2021 that closed economies and largely pushed countries into isolation with borders closed and education into solely online delivery (Lau et al., 2020). This challenge meant that many academics could no longer attend conferences. They also became time-poor as academics pivoted towards moving courses online due to lockdown restrictions on all citizens remaining in their homes with limited opportunity to move outside the boundary of their residence. As an example, New Zealand went into a total lockdown and border closures (level 4) from 23 March through to 28 April 2020, then to level 3 with some business reopening for click and collect operations (Radio New Zealand, 2021). On 14 May 2020, NZ moved to level 2 with stores open, but social distancing in place for all, and groups of no more than 10 permitted. Universities remained online only until Level 1 was reached (June 08, 2020). Borders remain closed, necessitating that online education delivery be retained to support those detained overseas and unable to enter the country.

Pseudonym (ref)	Discipline	Gender	Location	Type of Institution	Role
Albert (4)	Marketing	Male	North/South America	Private	Assistant Prof.
Ben (12)	Tourism	Male	Asia/Pacific	Public	Lecturer
Brian (9)	Social Sciences	Male	Asia/Pacific	Public	Lecturer
David (14)	Marketing	Male	Asia/Pacific	Public	Associate Prof.
Diane (5)	Digital Marketing	Female	North/South America	Private	Professor
Donna (11)	Education	Female	North/South America	Private	Lecturer
Grant (6)	Education	Male	Africa	Public	Lecturer / HoD
James (15)	Fashion	Male	North/South America	Public	Lecturer / Chair
Melanie (13)	Marketing	Female	Asia/Pacific	Public	Lecturer
Michael (1)	Retailing	Male	North/South America	Public	Professor / Chair
Monique (10)	Marketing	Female	North/South America	Private	Assistant Prof.
Nicky (3)	Applied Sciences	Female	UK/Europe	Private	Lecturer
Richard (7)	Education	Male	UK/Europe	Public	Professor/HoD
Sally (2)	Marketing	Female	North/South America	Public	Assistant Prof.
Stella (8)	Marketing	Female	North/South America	Public	Professor

Respondent Profile

Table 1: Respondent Profile

The final sample of 15 individual interviews (Table 1) was determined according to individuals' previous experience attempting to be innovative in educational practice, albeit successful or otherwise. Pseudonyms have been used in place of real names. Participants were selected from different higher education institutions located internationally and from various contexts to explore perspectives from diverse experiences, i.e. public vs. private, career stage, gender, and discipline. This breadth of selection could contribute to a broader understanding of the practice of innovating, which helps inform the model under consideration.

Table 2 summarises the focus of their innovation, which in some instances crossed more than one dimension, e.g. **technology** was used to enhance the **curriculum**, thus being represented in two columns. However, new practice impacted how each academic taught (andragogy) in every instance.

	The focus of innovative practice			
Location (continent)	Technology	Curriculum	Andragogy	Partnerships
Asia/Pacific	3	3	4	1
North/South America	6	6	8	2
UK / Europe	0	1	2	1
Africa	1	0	1	0

Table 2: Sample Overview

International participants were contacted using information from recent academic publications and conference proceedings relating to innovative practice, educational development, technology, and new directions in higher education across marketing and non-marketing-related disciplines. The second wave of leads evolved through personal networks and online forums such as the Marketing Educators Facebook group, where I identified thought leaders and extended email invitations. Due to the interest and anticipated value in researching this proposed topic, initially, there were no significant issues in identifying and securing research participants. However, as time passed, the recent events relating to Covid-19 resulting in worldwide lockdowns of countries and economies did begin to impact the ability to gain additional respondents. Despite this, a sample of four cases and 15 individual interviews were completed, which was considered sufficient in providing the insights and saturation of data necessary for this research (Smith, 2011).

Error! Reference source not found. shows the sample breakdown according to gender and d iscipline focus – marketing and non-marketing. As a marketing academic, I needed to gain insights from marketers, but these were not the sole discipline of investigation. In seeking data from additional disciplines, I found that I could broaden the scope of innovative ways, giving a broader understanding of opportunities available as a result.

	MALE	FEMALE	TOTAL
Marketing	3	5	8
Non-marketing	5	2	7
TOTAL	8	7	15

Table 3: Gender and discipline of respondents

3.12 Ethical Considerations

It is relevant to my research, career, and integrity as an academic in higher education that the study I have conducted is robust, authentic, and can withstand scrutiny.

Before commencement, I obtained permission from both the University of Liverpool and my University's Ethics Committee (refer to appendix two for the ethics document). In general, this research was deemed to be 'low risk' due to several factors:

- participants being of consenting age;
- potential conflicts of interest removed due to researcher and participants not having worked together previously;
- no confidential information or documents sought, nor identities of participants or their institutions revealed;
- no physical harm was likely (participants are interviewees only);
- respondents assured of confidentiality and anonymity in their agreement to take part

Recent events in Covid-19 and the dire economic conditions evolving within New Zealand and globally impact both business and education, requiring both to pivot for sustainability. On the one hand, this pandemic emphasises this study's importance in contributing to our understanding of ways of innovating higher education to guide practice. This importance necessitates that the research remains robust and ethical, enabling the drawing of appropriate conclusions. Additionally, at a more tactical level, the events relating to Covid-19 impacted the availability of some academics to participate either due to unanticipated non-attendance at conferences or increased workloads due to changes needed in their environments. I was mindful of this in recruiting participants and ensured that I did not send follow-up requests beyond two initial attempts to the same targeted participants.

All participants received email invitations to participate, clearly outlining the nature of the research proposal and intended use of the data and a request seeking their consent (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Confidentiality and anonymity were assured and maintained by removing personal or organisational information when reporting results. Each interview was audio-recorded and electronically stored. Each file was then password protected and uploaded to a server that was also password protected. Data were anonymised using conventions of 'Interview 1', 'Interview 2' etc., as a reference and password protected. While there was some burden imposed by asking participants to share personal information, volunteer their time, and assume minimal associated risks, the value in sharing their insights was greater. All participants were reminded of their overall contribution toward the understanding of innovative practice in higher education and how they might contribute by sharing their experiences and advancing the academic practices of others through the creation of knowledge and learning. In higher education research, all data collected will be stored and safely guarded for five years.

Full disclosure of ethical practice warrants explaining how data was used and interpreted. Such openness in processes can help affirm the researcher's objective intentions, avoid biases, and ensure research rigour.

In my approach to analysis, I used bracketing to help evolve my findings (Fischer, 2009). Bracketing helped ensure that the insights drawn from the data were not just my assumptions but would also be derived should others review the same data. One stage towards achieving this was acknowledging my positionality as the instrument for analysis (Starks & Brown Trinidad, 2007) to give perspective to my stance, which could be reconciled with my interpretations. I wrote down a brief paper on my own experiences in innovating, as Moustakas (1994) recommended to give me a heightened awareness of my positionality. In acknowledging my 'insider perspective', I needed to take care that the voice of participants remained first and foremost to assure the usability,

credibility, rigour, and trustworthiness of the phenomenological study (Johnston et al., 2017). This occasionally meant that I needed to clarify comments made by respondents to avoid misinterpretation.

This reflection is an essential component of an untainted (Tufford & Newman, 2012) ethical and legitimate process, according to Fischer (2009). In discovering and re-examining data for insights, hermeneutic understanding can be established. The key to this is using verbatim comments from the interviews to enable others to live the participants' experience through the study results (Van Manen, 1997).

In progressing through the data collection stage, I decided to apply bracketing by making observational memos to examine and reflect on the data as I recorded it. Cutcliffe (2003) suggests that bracketing helps highlight the researcher's feelings about the research as it is collected, leading to important insights. Thus, as I listened to respondents' answers, I wrote notes, highlighted key points, and emphasised elements I identified as valuable to my understanding of their experiences. I then reflected on these again when I listened to and transcribed the data in full to ensure that I had identified an appropriate meaning from their statements. This process was particularly useful when developing my understanding of perspectives shared by academics positioned in culturally and economically different contexts than myself. Using reflexivity meant that I refrained from filtering data that did not immediately align with my expectations of how the world views innovative practice.

3.13 Data Collection

Before collecting primary data, I adopted a focused literature search that reviewed four innovative applications in marketing education. This secondary data provided insight into innovating within marketing, specifically by drawing on resources, including published articles, institutional websites, and blogs. In addition to these data sources, I also informally held reflective discussions with colleagues to confirm my understanding of the data.

Critical to IPA is the need to have clarity in approach so that it is possible to draw out robust themes. Alase (2017) recommends using the Internet to gather additional full and unhindered data relating to the phenomenon. This flexible, low-cost, and efficient means of data collection meant that I could draw on available secondary sources to develop a more comprehensive interview schedule. I felt I became more informed on the ways of innovating as it applied to marketing. By complementing the data acquisition via informal discussions with colleagues, I was better able to begin to know. In knowing, I felt I was more prepared for bracketing my preconceptions about the phenomenon, more open-minded to the data I was about to obtain in the in-depth interviews, and aware of the potential for failure through not bracketing well (Gregory, 2019). People say being forewarned is being forearmed, and to an extent, I felt that the thematic investigations prepared me well for the upcoming interviews with participants.

I used semi-structured interviews to elicit information about participants' experiences in innovating in academia. The steps laid out by Alase (2017) guided me in data collection for an IPA study, namely:

- Semi-structured interview, 2-25 participants
- 60-90 minutes duration
- 1 to 1 interview
- Held at the convenience of the participant (date, time, location)
- Use of technology recording devices and traditional note & pen observations

All participants received copies of the interview format ahead of time, which allowed them to reflect on the questions I was interested in knowing answers to. I began each interview after introducing myself with a brief overview of the nature and purpose of the interview research. I then followed this by asking participants to tell me a little about themselves in the form of a selfintroduction, i.e. where they were working, what they taught, and how long they had been teaching. This information provided further context to my understanding of them and their situation in introducing the new practice.

Drawing on Kahn's 2018 concept of innovation as a mindset, process, or outcome, I sought to explore each of these elements in how academics innovated. The semi-structured aspect of the data collection process meant that I had direction in the areas of investigation I sought to understand. This approach also provided flexibility in how respondents answered. The nature of experiences and identities often meant that individual discussions around the phenomenon occurred differently. This difference meant I needed to be cognisant of the data I was looking to elicit and consider how they wished to recount their experiences. I often had to probe and use other questioning techniques to drill down for additional insights, particularly on critical aspects introduced by Kahn (2018). The benefit of the semi-structured interview also meant that participants would often discuss critical points of importance to themselves in more detail – which I may not have uncovered if the discussions had been too structured or inflexible in the sequencing of questions.

I used Zoom, an online platform, to undertake the interviews as this appeared to be more widely accepted in academic circles than SKYPE and had the inbuilt ability to record. As each interview took place, I also made handwritten notes, emphasising key points introduced. I felt this was an efficient way of highlighting critical issues about individuals' experiences and providing an opportunity to prompt my thinking as I reviewed the notes immediately following each session. I confirmed my understanding throughout the interviews and sought clarification of various points to ensure that their ideas were accurately captured (Lauckner et al., 2012).

Given that I interviewed participants from other countries, I spoke slowly and clearly due to having a different accent.

Each interview was transcribed into word to enable ease of analysis.

3.14 Data Analysis

I applied an iterative inductive cycle (IPA) to manage the primary data analysis (Holland, 2014). To make sense of the data, I reviewed transcripts multiple times (Braun & Clarke, 2006), working my way through each respondent's statements, identifying themes within transcripts, and later across transcripts. I applied a bracketing process to help me use a critical lens to participants' views and experiences (Tufford & Newman, 2012). This iterative approach allows for sufficient reflection and critical consideration (Creswell & Creswell, 2017) and a holistic perspective (Van Manen, 1997). While time-consuming, Dowling (2007) recommends using reflexivity to retain the impartiality of data and avoid researchers' influence.

Phenomenological analysis presupposes that participants' comments result in units of meaning, and the essence of experience is discoverable (Cibangu & Hepworth, 2016). Applying IPA as an analytical method involves identifying significant statements into units of information or themes (Alase, 2017), followed by experiences associated with those themes. To do so, Moustakas (1994) advocates for a modified Van Kamm approach, applying a multistage process to each interview in turn, as shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Modified van Kamm analysis process
This approach has gained support in phenomenological studies due to its consideration of the integrity of participants' voices (Larkin et al., 2006). Behind this approach are essentially three cycles of data condensation, resulting in participants' insights collapsing into 'core essences' of their lived experiences. This is achieved through reading/listening to interviews multiple times, highlighting key statements, determining key nodes, and re-condensing data into core interpretations.

In approaching the data analysis for this study, I first began with what I would call a very 'stable basis' for determining and understanding themes, drawing on innovation concepts as a mindset, process, and outcome (Kahn, 2018). If I could code and make sense of themes from a central and sub-theme level, I would find logic in developing my understanding.

This approach looks for meanings holistically by applying an initial general search of the transcripts (Akerlind, 2012). Interpretation continued as I discovered dialogues emerging in and between the data, enabling me to inductively discover knowledge and determine what I thought were viable frameworks for making sense of relationships (Boyatzis, 1998). This starting point involved an early intervention in forming initial themes. In co-constructing these themes through shared stories at the outset, I felt I would be better placed to adopt an iterative hermeneutic circle of knowing. In assigning context to the structures, I thought I had a better handle on the notion of innovative practice.

I sought clarification from supervisors and colleagues to help test the plausibility of my interpretations. However, following discussions with my thesis supervisor, I was encouraged to reflect on my inductive approach and carefully examine whether I was guiding findings too much by using such a framework to 'fit' my data. I was shaping the data to fit my belief in the framework being right instead of letting the story unfold, thus impacting a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon (Smith et al., 2009).

Entirely bracketing researchers' preconceptions is one of the challenges with IPA, according to Smith et al. (2009). Ironically, I found myself at fault for this, diminishing my ability to thoroughly examine the life worlds' of participants (Lopez & Willis, 2004).

Following the discussion with my supervisor, I took a step back and reconsidered this carefully. According to Bowden (2000), in remaining open to evolving themes, I would be reducing my biases about the look of the data. The checks and procedures I used to ensure data reliability and validity, including peer review, supervisory checks, and triangulation, were justified and necessary (Alase, 2017).

Thus, I made two significant changes to my approach. Firstly, I decided to change from using Excel to using NVivo. I was familiar with using Excel to explore recurring themes. However, this

software's lack of structure and informality led me to believe it is less reliable for my research. There were too many opportunities for errors to occur and items to be overlooked. NVivo is a software package specifically created to assist researchers in qualitative coding. Identifying nodes (themes) and text highlighting makes it possible to reorganise data to reveal true stories through connected themes. As a highly recognised tool for coding and analysis, the use of NVivo added a layer of reliability to my research.

The second change I made was changing my coding approach from deductive to inductive. My sense of innovation aligned with the model proposed by Kahn and additional concepts revealed in the literature. I felt I should construct these nodes and then apply them to the transcripts from the participants. In doing so, I believed that I would identify any outlying themes and introduce them as 'new' nodes, but most ideas would sit nicely with those coding conventions I had predetermined. The alternative approach (inductive) involved reading through each transcript and developing nodes as I went, followed by regrouping and reorganising themes to a point where they became more apparent. Before this, I read over transcripts twice to gain a broad perspective to garner meanings from individual participants and how they interrelated. I was more prepared to form nodes of importance, ensuring that I did not attribute items out of context.

Changing my coding approach to NVivo provided me with a richer understanding of the data and a clearer sense of how to interpret it without losing the essence of the participants' experience. After the first wave of assigning meaning, I revisited the labels and reorganised these to avoid duplication and identify more thematic pools of meaning (Marton, 1986). Inductive coding gave me a much richer understanding through a phenomenological graphic of pattern coding, which gave greater insight into the relationships between category descriptions (Saldaña, 2015). Through inductive coding, distinctive discussion areas evolved to understand how experiences in innovative practice developed.

Creswell and Creswell (2017) assert the need to ensure that the data arising from an IPA study is both credible and transferable. I reflected on data collection processes in the thematic cases and interviews to achieve this. I reminded myself of the need to report findings accurately, acknowledge biases that might influence results, and inquire sufficiently into the data to reflect the research's purpose comprehensively. As this is a phenomenological study drawing on the experiences of 15 academics in their experiences of introducing new practice, the interpretation of their contributions needed to be accurate and appropriate to the research inquiry. Semi-structured interviews enabled depth of data, but there were instances when conversations detoured from the primary purpose. This deviation was especially evident in the interviews conducted after the onset of Covid-19, which prompted specific instruction to consider a recent innovative practice before this

74

event. Participants shared additional comments towards the end of the interview regarding introducing new practices due to this current climate. In shaping discussions, the data remained focused, enabling more credible and transferable findings beyond those suited solely to pandemic responses.

3.15 Conclusion

In this chapter, I have explored my positionality as a researcher in investigating the problem of innovative practice. I have drawn on my perspective that to know ways of innovating, I needed to explore others' experiences of introducing new ideas and practices to begin to understand their issues, their responses, and their journey in doing so. I have introduced Kahn's (2018) framework on innovation as a mindset, process, and outcome as a basis for this investigation for exploring the role of identity, applications, and factors shaping practice. Methodologically, I have explained my adoption of a multistage interpretative phenomenological approach to obtaining this insight and using thematic cases and in-depth interviews to achieve this. I have detailed the analytical approach applied to condensing data to determine critical themes and reflected on why this study remains essential in contributing to the body of knowledge during a world pandemic.

4 Research Findings

4.1 Introduction

The following chapter reveals data and insights obtained from the primary stage of this phenomenological study using in-depth interviews to explore individuals' experiences of innovative practice. At the end of the chapter, a complete discussion drawing together these findings and the literature is provided.

The key research questions I expressly sought to explore were:

- How does an individual's academic identity align with their experience of innovative practice?
- 2. How are academics innovating in higher education within and outside marketing-related disciplines?
- 3. What contributes to how innovative practice is being shaped?

Through my interviews, I was able to gain an understanding of the experiences varying academics had in attempting to innovate in higher education. Their contexts and even discipline focus differed across participants, which was important to know their relevance to evolving practice. As a marketing academic, I felt my preconceptions about ways to develop academic practice were limiting. I needed to gain a broader perspective to know how, why and what resulted from their attempts to shape education differently. In interviewing academics from different countries, disciplines, career stages, and institutions, I hoped to become more knowledgeable and discern what enables the innovative practice to draw from these insights within my context.

In this chapter, the profile of those I interviewed has been considered alongside their innovative practices. To assure anonymity and confidentiality, I used participant codes (P1-P15) to connect individual stories and related them to the key categories and overarching themes that evolved from the data.

Following the presentation of the findings section, chapter five then brings data and literature together, presenting a critique of theory and practice in ways of innovative practice.

4.2 Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis

A phenomenological and interpretative approach was used to extract understanding from stories of innovative practice amongst a group of novel academics. Why were they novel? Rogers (2010) asserts that identifying 'innovative practice' is not absolute. Depending on the critic's viewpoint, it can be complex, challenging, and variable (Somekh, 2007). In this study, academics were selected through a process that drew on newly published conference presentations, journal articles, or recommendations within peer networks (Cranmer & Lewin, 2017). These practices were new to me in some way, shape, or form and stimulated me to consider my approaches within academic practice. These novel ways introduced nuances in academic life, which enabled me to understand better the lived experiences of academics in how and what they are implementing or trailing in their realms of everyday life as academics.

This was my journey in understanding ways of reinventing academia, as told through the experiences of both business and non-business educators. I deliberately chose not to restrict my exploration of this phenomenon to my marketing discipline, to realize new ways to re-evaluate my approach and make sense of evolving my journey as an educator in higher education.

The following pages provide an overview of the findings and central themes and sub-themes relative to understanding research questions. But first, a brief introduction to participants, who, for reasons of anonymity, I labelled from P1-P15.

4.3 **Profile of participants**

Fifteen academics were interviewed across various disciplines within and outside of marketing education and from multiple locations internationally (**Error! Reference source not f ound.**). There was an almost even mix of gender, and most were experienced academics, as indicated by their position. Although none happened to be at Tier One research-based universities, both developed and developing countries and private, and public institutions were included. This omission is likely due to the focus on innovative educational practice, which was mentioned multiple times as the reason academics chose to work at their institution, allowing them time to innovate and reflect on educational practice. Areas of innovative practice ranged across the key themes previously introduced (industry partnerships, curriculum, andragogy, and technology) and incorporated multiple foci within its orientation in more than one instance. Each interviewee identified with the term 'innovative practitioner' and willingly shared details of their experiences in higher education.

4.4 Developing themes and clustering into subthemes

The process of developing themes and subthemes involved an iterative approach to coding. Each of the 15 interviews was examined individually, coding key content to relevant concepts, resulting in 218 individual data nodes. Realising this was a large amount of data to make sense of, these individual nodes needed re-examining and relationships between these identified for the data to become more manageable. This subsequent coding process enabled the ordering and bunching of key nodes to be formed and reformed as significant themes emerged. By the end of the coding process, 218 nodes had been moved into ten primary categories.

Figure 11 graphically depicts the ten core themes that evolved from this analysis, illustrating distinctive areas of discussion for developing an understanding of how experiences in innovativeness are changing academic practice. These key themes included the individual - beliefs, identity, concerns (RQ1), motivations, solutions, and impact of technology and processes (RQ2), and moderating variables (RQ3) that impact or shape innovative practice. Each theme was mapped to initial research questions, which led to consideration of how these might inform practice within an NZ university (RQ4). Each of these themes has been explored more fully in the following pages.



Figure 11: Framework for innovative practice

4.5 Theme 1: Identity - understanding the individual academic (RQ1)

How does an individual's academic identity align with their experience of innovative practice? This was one of three key questions I initially posed to understand aspects influencing individuals in their ways of evolving practice. In knowing and understanding the individuality and contextualisation of their lens, I could begin to know them, enabling me to apply an interpretive lens to their experiences.

The complexity of this identity was separated into three characteristics that emerged as informing their positionality. These included their beliefs in the ways of education, their identity within education, and their concerns about the future of education.

Beliefs in the ways of higher education

Individual journeys in academia are influential in shaping their perspective of the need for and role of evolving practice in higher education. Participants shared a common belief that academic practice is changing and necessitates that actors, academics, and learners change.

For some, there was a belief that the academic role is changing from a scholarly approach where information is created and disseminated to the coach or facilitator. This was mainly due to what they believed to be the state of education and technology, situated in an environment challenged by the equity in access to learning (P1). Others shared this view in contexts where their learning communities were culturally, economically, and socially wide-ranging. However, in an alternative context, where a national drive towards innovation across education and business was emphasised, the orientation towards novel practice was standard and supported by educators in facilitatory roles. This recognition of educators as emergent, participatory, and guiding facilitators instead of professors professing appears irrespective of context. The literature also acknowledged facilitation as an important factor in enabling novel practice (Ta, 2018).

The days of professing knowledge are claimed as long gone, acknowledged one professor (P1). He claimed that failure to recognise this would likely impact learners in and on society through their ability, or lack of it, to synthesise knowledge in practice. However, he also acknowledged that this might not necessarily be true for an academic in a top-tier research-oriented institution.

There was an implicit assumption that undergraduate programmes are more suited to the practical nature of employment, while postgraduate studies align with discovering and building knowledge more holistically. For this reason, 'coach' was viewed a better fit with how some were interpreting their role. Further variability in who was seeking higher education contributed to this perspective, with the adoption of 'no learner left behind'. However, the role of a coach was also identified as conflicting. One academic had concerns about their personal ability to add value, causing them to reflect on their praxis. They worried about bringing enough value into the classroom every day, believing they have become the value proposition, not the content per se (P1).

In drawing together these two paradigms of academia, knowledge creation, and knowledge application, there were nuances in how educators might evolve their practice. For one academic, actively acknowledging and being responsible for acquiring knowledge and applying that for the betterment of society was shaping differences in their practice, as illustrated in the following comment:

I just feel the responsibility of the students that I teach that they need to protect consumers because there are ways to manipulate people. How can we keep them from doing that, how can we be the good stewards of marketing? (P2)

Some academics were critical of the state of academic practice and the role others adopt as educators. This included a laissez-faire assessment of older educators who might be entrenched in their ways of doing, harnessing research-focused academics, and a practice of recruitment that has not typically embodied teaching capability or real-world experience. This was asserted by those who had long been established in academic practice themselves, typically in senior roles, yet who felt different in their approach to academia. They assumed agential responsibility for educating and navigating unchartered educational practices to achieve higher education success. These variances in methods open the window for criticism of how some believed higher education was being constrained. One academic admonished the reality of having educators who have never formally learned to educate others providing a service costing hundreds of thousands of dollars they are not even trained to provide:

Just because we're educated, doesn't mean we can educate... (P4)

The focus of individual academics on their raison d'être belies their involvement and, in some cases, their ability to develop new practice, as evidenced in claims such as teaching only to enable them to do research (p4); teaching in the way they were taught (P11); teaching without the life experience to guide them in blending the theory-practice divide (P2); and teaching without being industry-savvy (P14). The high cost and return on investment in education for learners were observed differently by academics. Some saw this as motivating in driving emerging practices yet also acknowledged it as unconsidered by others they observed.

Participants acknowledged that innovative practice was an essential part of higher education to avoid obsolescence or irrelevance of education (P8) and that academics must be realists in not trying to do everything and change everything at once. They also agreed that it could not occur at the cost of not learning by those paying for it.

The need for innovative practice is evident amongst those interviewed, particularly in terms of engaging students in learning (P15), bringing in different perspectives (P11), and in terms of survival of academics (P5) and higher education itself as content becomes unknown to educators without their continual alignment with the global pace of societal change (P3). The institution's role

was relevant here: teaching students or developing and disseminating knowledge. Depending on its' purpose, support for innovative practice differed.

That pedagogy evolves was also evident, as academics acknowledged new techniques were important in the classroom (P2). There was the sentiment that regulations or parameters guiding this was relaxing, meaning that individuals were becoming more able to introduce different practices. In contrast, before, they felt constrained by systems and processes, as commented by one academic from a private university:

> It's quite different to how it used to be. Earlier it was more about planning and going slowly, going carefully. Now it's all about going fast, making mistakes, learning from them. We really need to be innovative. (P3)

But this was not the case everywhere. Participants suggested that institutional structures (degree of autonomy), cultural contexts (e.g. Asia), stage of economic development (South Africa vs. Western Europe), or openness towards organic growth of innovative practice could limit the extent to which they considered alternative approaches.

Critical to the value of the new practice, participants emphasised the need for it to add value to the journey of learning and for it to be evidenced-based, suggesting that erroneous or disruptive innovations were less welcomed than more continuous ones. The foundations for the change needed to be meaningful and have clear goals and purpose so that change could occur (P9).

While some academics may simply not be suited to evolving practice in recognising their limitations, others believed this could be overcome by drawing on alternative sources to help guide them. Among those mentioned was the integration of non-academic experts to facilitate content delivery. Brew et al. (2018) refer to these experts as artisans, evolved from the unbundling of academic roles. In this study, the unbundling appeared to occur through collaboration, particularly external collaboration, rather than a deconstruction of the academic's role into microspecialisations, i.e. educator, curriculum designer, or technology expert. Participants typically believed that these external experts raised the value of learning, connecting students more readily to knowledge for learning. One female marketing academic shared the importance of this to her:

...my philosophy is "keep it real." This means bringing in real examples and even local ones when I can. It means thinking about how to prepare them for the "real world" and workforce more generally. It also means being "real" with myself, that I need to continually be learning and growing. (P8)

Innovative practice was acknowledged as not suitable for everyone, however. Participants commented that typically the 'younger folk' (P4) or those newer to education (P1) were more likely to be the innovators. Those older or longer tenures were reflected on as being more entrenched in their ways and less open to change. Arising from this, they drew caution to the need to avoid becoming enveloped in a practice of 'innovativeness' that could overpower the legitimacy of change. Describing this as being 'smitten by the trending culture of experimentation' (P3), academics noted that for some, it was becoming the only way they thought about things. They cautioned that such blinkering could be detrimental by derailing good practice.

Extending education beyond the academic expert was a contentious issue for some, particularly academic staff who had been teaching for much longer and grew up with a way of learning that now seemed to be under scrutiny. This example was described in relation to textbooks being central to knowledge creation:

It's always been textbooks and disseminated knowledge, through textbooks that were created by the instructors. By academics. And that's falling by the wayside.... It is only the professors that are still clamouring to the idea that they think it (professing knowledge) will come back. (P1)

While the way of learning was not under examination here, the reliance on out-of-date resources or theory-heavy courses was challenged in their effectiveness for today's learners. The pace of change in knowledge and technology resulted in less reliance on textbooks by participants. Some educators even worried that they might be replaced by YouTube or Wikipedia (P4). They had concerns over the sustainability of higher education.

The innovative practice was one way some academics believed they could add value to learners' educational experiences. However, there were different expectations for what scale of innovativeness was needed. One academic from a mainly developing country witnessed these differences but further stated that it was not just differences because of location but also within different disciplines. He believed few academics were innovating in higher education irrespective of their context (P6). Another, from North America, cautioned on an archaic higher education system that is non-customer centric. He debated the need for innovativeness given that students pay upfront, and even if they had a poor experience and failed their course, they just paid and did it again. This option was not available to all students, and morally should not be behind decisions to continue with more historical teaching models. The same academic further claimed that although innovation was not all that necessary, he is reticent in the belief that it would be better if we did innovate (P4). This comment was from the same interviewee who sought engagement and learning to acquire knowledge, not simply accreditation.

Differences do exist amongst academics. Interviewees acknowledged that naturally, some followed, and some led change (P9). Personal experiences influenced differently, as did individual priorities, not only in what was introduced but in where it might be applicable (P11). This realisation suggests that a tendency for innovativeness could be associated with an individual's capacity for change and, subsequently, the degree or extent to which academics are involved in innovative practice.

Some believed, for example, that older, more experienced academics were less open to and less aligned with new ways of learning than those who had more recently been appointed. That is not to say that older academics could not and did not innovate within their teaching. Participants commented that the career structure in academia fostered a priority for research rather than teaching. In knowing this, the locus of the academic and orientation of their institutions might contribute to instances of innovative practice. However, such differences were not evident in how academics innovated in this case. Participants came from various locations, large and small institutions, public and private. Their approaches to innovative practice were largely self-determined rather than examples of institutionally led changes. While all engaged in academic research, their agency aligned more strongly with teaching and learning than with research. Not to say that research was not important to them, only that they were motivated for and by effective and engaging teaching.

A recount of an experience with a highly published colleague highlighted this difference in perspective, with the colleague's admission that they dismissed any investment in teaching in favour of research (P13). Such a strategy enabled them to focus on doing the bare minimum, gaining publishing success in A* journals, and climbing the promotional ladder. This focus was viewed as detrimental to the need for or desire to be innovative in the first place.

In both public and private institutions, some participants viewed their role beyond the scope of a discipline enabler as one that translated to a higher-order role (P1 & P3). This role saw them adopting a more socially responsible lens in considering how students learned and how that learning segued into becoming active contributors to society, including future employment.

83

Recalling this sample of respondents were predominantly business and arts academics, their openness to value-added contrasted with their observations of career-driven business academics focused on research and promotion. The breadth of personal experience across different disciplines and activities may have contributed more to this openness in thinking. One academic had a background in art, for example, but was teaching in a business school. She could draw on her creative lens in seeing things differently, a fact she said helps her to see new opportunities in ways of doing (P3).

Differences were also mentioned amongst student communities. There was concern over the teaching of less worldly or inexperienced students (P3) who were viewed as lacking in genuine engagement arising through a disconnection in meaning i.e. in aligning theory and practice. Students' lack of motivation and desire to learn were blinkering learners towards seeking certification over the journey of learning. Their failure to buy the textbook was evidence of this disengagement in education:

> They don't want the textbook. Students don't even buy required textbooks. I have students tell me they would rather get a 'C' than get an 'A' and have to buy the required textbook (P3)

Sentiment about educators' perspectives is that they should not necessarily accept what 'is', and the onus was on them to drive new practice, not the system. As they challenged the status quo, opportunities emerged to add value to learning and learners themselves. Propositions to 'go outside the box' (P1), 'look around you' (P3), 'go beyond your landscape' (P2), and 'stepping outside your silo' (P7) were all introduced as ways to open the pathway towards change. People made the innovative practice happen (P5).

This proactive approach to guiding new practice resonated well throughout all research participants, naturally because these were innovative practitioners. However, they shared the DNA and the belief that applying a different lens could contribute to the journey in evolving practice. They admitted that this was not true of all academics and could be disconcerting, but that help could enable them through this process.

Identity within education: Innovative academics as agile, flexible, and strong identities Participants shared examples of a values-driven basis in why they applied different approaches to learning. Innovative academics had a strong sense of academic identity and purpose which underpins their interest and approach to practice. But they also had a strong sense of individual character. Although there was evidence of structural and resourcing constraints limiting some of the opportunities these academics found before them, they remained passionate about students and practice. They were realistic in acknowledging boundaries yet open to learning through doing, knowing that they would make mistakes. However, at their heart, research participants believed that academics needed to continue to evolve, as much as education itself, so that higher education institutions could continue to meet the needs of society. Passion had to be at the heart of this in motivating them, as indicated in the following quote:

What affects success in innovative practice – the individual. Passion, drive (P5)

Several participants identified the individual as a key characteristic in the success of an innovative practice. Descriptors used to explain their perspectives included: differentiated, the innovative guy, adventurous, open to risk, passionate about seeing things differently, out on a limb, inspirational, creative, flexible, willing to try, freedom to act, pioneering, enquiring, strong determination, seize the opportunity (carpe diem), collaborative (with students), and 'eyes open' (to changes in their environment).

Their strength of character positioned these innovative practitioners as confident they could add value by applying different ways of doing or learning that positively benefitted learners. Their academic identity was the foundation of everything they did (P8). This strength was vital to acknowledge, for there was also isolation amidst their new and status-quo challenging activities. This sense of being a 'lone pioneer' (P5) in their efforts to see and apply things differently could impact how they attempted to innovate. In contrast, several academics admitted others might be less inclined to try the new practice, preferring instead to be nudged or led towards change, as illustrated in the example below or refrain from change entirely:

> I presented the concept and it generated some interest from several other staff. They were so motivated that they came to me to see if we could implement this work in practice. (P7)

Participants recognised that some academics were likely to view innovative practices differently. Everyone embodied a strong sense of personal agency in these cases and valued the challenge change brought. They recognised that they were different from other academics who 'did the same thing every semester for 20 years' (P4) and even from who they were initially. Their increasing capacity for the new practice helped an academic understand how they could be the main source of knowledge for their learners:

...I don't consider myself very innovative, so I am the first person I converted because I really needed to rethink my own boxes because it's much easier to be the one person who's knowledgeable (P3)

Interviewees acknowledged an internally driven, heartfelt desire to enact new practice despite the risks and critique this opened them up to. They were pioneers and willing to trial, work 'under the radar', and seek forgiveness instead of permission (P15). This seemingly rogue-like behaviour is unlikely to suit all academics who are not 'ok with messing up' (P2), but for these innovative practitioners, their identity was strong. Their belief in learning for knowledge (not credit) was similarly strong (P4). They were confident to push boundaries and discover different ways of learning. Yet, they were also aware of their journey in shaping academic identity through personal life experiences or experiences in their role as educators. Ultimately, they credited their identity with their alignment to innovative practice and how they were wired:

People make the innovative practice happen....it is about passion. You cannot get people to innovate if it is not in their personality...there is typically no reward for innovative behaviour. I am just wired this way (P5).

Fragility of academia

Environmental influences challenged academic practices. The worldwide pandemic of Covid-19 was disrupting academia in a way never previously experienced, and there was recognised uncertainty amongst participants as to how educational practice should evolve to accommodate this event. Not only in the immediacy of the event but also given the long-term impacts: ...right now we are caught in this global pandemic; they (academics) don't know how to adjust at the moment (P13)

As evidenced in the literature (Dede & Richards, 2020), research participants in this study also shared multiple concerns over the climate of higher education. These included increasing workload arising from the increased focus on research outputs, moving to online teaching (pre and post Covid-19), reducing staff numbers, and growing constraints on student and staff mental health and wellbeing (P7). One academic was fearful that their role or employment might be affected because academics had shown they could move to teach online (P13). In addition, casualisation of staff was also criticised as unsettling academic practice wherein these short-term appointments were neither invested in nor fully supported to evolve practice. Academics feared their continued employment, state of work, and potential career progression (P12). They also feared developing academic roles towards 'coaches' rather than 'professors' (P1). This observation was an interesting acknowledgement made by one professor in a management role. He saw the notion of a coach as more suitably able to connect learners to be adept in responding to society. However, this view did not extend to the separation of duties as proposed by introducing artisanal roles through the unbundling of the academic role (Brew et al., 2018).

A further challenge was also acknowledged concerning the changes in student perspectives towards learning, which effectively respond to changes in student perspectives as illustrated in the following comment:

> I think industry-wide we're running into some problems with today's type of student, with millennials... they're having a hard time focusing on anything for more than 30 seconds. There's a weird shift happening in academia right now

> > (P4)

One academic reflected on the failure of their institution to recognise differences arising from teaching in 2020 due to Covid-19. She commented on the demotivating aspects of her university using traditional evaluation tools to measure 'teaching effectiveness' as expected, without them having been reconceptualised for the almost instantaneous move to online teaching in courses that did not align with this mode. She felt she had put enormous effort into attempts to craft her course for this alternative delivery. She coined it as 'distant learning' instead of 'online learning' and criticised the tool as having captured mainly negative feedback, which only proved to upset and frustrate her. The failure of auditors to manage this measure of success evidenced the systems' fragility in support of academics and their attempts to evolve practice.

While some believed (early 2020) that Covid-19 would dissipate and things would return to normal (P14), they recognised that their practice had been challenged in moving between teaching modes and that student engagement was the biggest issue regardless of which mode was used. There is a sense that there was no choice but to adapt (P12). However, despite being innovative practitioners, they felt challenged to engage students in different environments. Out of this arose concerns over failure to innovate and becoming obsolescent – ultimately the dearth of their career through a developing detachment in societal relevance via their curriculum content:

Those that haven't joined in have typically become obsolete...where the content of today becomes unknown to them (P5).

Summary

The findings indicated that educators' mindset, beliefs, and identity were critical to applying an innovative lens within higher education. A robust personal character was evident in each of the academics interviewed. These individuals acknowledged their capacity for change, their desire to retain currency in their content, how they connected with their students, and in alignment with the role and purpose of higher education. Their level of personal agency and 'right to innovate' was high, particularly among the more experienced educators. Pioneering spirits, openness to risk, and comfort in making mistakes provided the supportive framework within which each felt comfortable looking at educational practices differently. In a sense, their agency provided the lens through which they filtered their environment, providing them the perspective on where innovative practice could be introduced. This lens helped them navigate the fragility of the higher education environment and how they enabled and evolved innovativeness.

4.6 Theme 2: Ways of innovating: motivations, technology, and solutions (RQ2)

So, how do academics innovate? What drives them, into what solutions, and to what extent does technology play a role in this? The second thematic cluster explored 'ways of innovating' through the motivation, technology, and solutions interviewees drew from and evolved in their practice.

Reasons for innovating

Academics' motivations to innovate ranged from basic physiological needs to higher-level needs centred around self-actualisation.

For some, the drive to innovate was a basic necessity borne out of survival in the way that the higher education institution strategically positioned themselves (P6); or as evidenced more recently due to Covid-19 through impacts on teaching modes where there was simply no choice but to adapt through new practice (P12). Changes in society regarding technological advances were also acknowledged as requiring higher education to seek alternative ways to deliver education or modify educational outcomes to respond to environmental changes (P9). At the individual rather than the institutional end of this spectrum of basic needs, some academics also had the more simplistic desire to simply find ways to avoid boredom – for themselves and their students, as evidenced in the following:

> ...could easily see how easily also students get bored, not just by me talking, but with each other talking. So if there isn't any engaging gadgets or videos or whatever, they get so easily bored.(P3)

A drive around 'safety and security' existed for others as they attempted to be innovative to ensure that students had the skills to gain meaningful employment when they graduated (P1). This was evident even for those academics who had been teaching for decades, attuned to the research drive so many institutions were led by. It was interesting to note that the basic orientation of new practice was directed, for many, by the specificity of student employment as an outcome. This contrasted with what others believed the role of higher education to be. Innovative practice orienting around employment fundamentally shifts the focus from 'knowledge for knowing' to 'knowledge for doing'. A direction that has received some criticism (Downs, 2017). Additionally, there was an acknowledgement of the need to innovate to remain current and avoid irrelevance as educators (job safety) – staying open-minded to new ways of teaching and keeping up to date on innovations within the field (P8).

'Authenticity' was commonly used among interviewees to reflect their desire to recreate learning experiences that resonated with the real world. They view this as engaging students more strongly in the journey of learning (P3), avoiding what one academic called the assembly-line approach (P4). Authenticity is important as higher education moves to a more socially responsive purpose (Serdyukov, 2017). Academics have acknowledged the need for education to develop thinkers and recognised that they needed to find ways of educating that engaged learners to achieve that:

to try and engage with the student in the classroom for a better learning (P11)

Authenticity underpinned an opportunity for educators to get closer connections with industry, distinguish their academic programmes, and reinforce the high-value experience in real learning. One academic was motivated to introduce innovative practices due to their discussions and collaborations with industry partners. The concept of co-creating inspired them to develop new and interesting classes (P1) and embrace the idea of belonging. They drew on online tools and certifications that businesses often made available for free (P9) and got closer to what the industry needed in education (P5).

Perspectives of available collaborations did vary amongst respondents. In some cases, the partnership was formalised through sponsorship of academic positions by external stakeholders, which meant resources were available. This could be restrictive depending on the degree of alignment and availability of desirable alternative solutions outside of the relationship. However, these partnerships were recognised as relevant to the course of study and allowed individual efforts to innovate to focus elsewhere. Alternatively, in some situations, opportunities for external collaboration were reduced, for example, due to economic capacity, which resulted in academics looking within practice to innovate. Contextual differences meant that academics accommodated innovative approaches differently.

Connecting students to learning was a common reason that participants sought to discover new practices, enabling various learners with differing needs to discover and acquire knowledge through their ability to make sense of information, 'engaging them for better learning' (P11). Academics recognised that the more active the learners were, the more engaged in learning they were likely to be (P3):

Another way the academics connected with stakeholders involved their alignment with communities in and around them. Some were linked to opportunities for employment directly, while others were focused on the educator-learner relationship. All were discussed as motivating themselves and others to see the point in learning and evidenced the perspective that innovative practitioners had in always seeking opportunities to enhance student learning: Innovative practice is an essential part of higher education. As educators, we must constantly be looking for new ways in which to engage our students(P15)

Gaining respect and recognition from students and peers provided some academics with the esteem they sought in their roles and the motivation to develop new practices. This came from the thrill that students had to be involved in authentic learning environments, and in that change in practice being meaningful (Kunnari & Ilomaki, 2016) in it being based on sound foundations:

Many students were thrilled to be learning a real programme (P1)

...it is about ensuring that what we are doing in education is the best possible way we can do it. In achieving any improvement or change to doing it differently, we should base this upon research and scholarship (P7)

Attaining transformation motivated some academics directly into moving beyond habit to understanding, to critical reflection...to explore what was learned and the learning process (P13) to fully extend their knowledge and evolve behavioural changes in students (P2). The process of change was recognised as being different for those who encountered it, which meant that academics needed to consider not just the innovative practice but how it was adopted and how that adoption could be enabled:

I think, because at the end of these sessions, sometimes we'd reflect on it, we talked about it, and then you could see that some people thought exactly like you; or felt the same thing that you did. But other people, something completely different. Then you start opening little windows or little doors that you hadn't seen before. Like it is a thing full of walls, but you don't see them. When you listen to other people talking, little windows start opening (P11)

Intrinsic motivation was a strong feature in attempts to introduce the novel practice. Their realisation that they were making a difference in the lives of learners was the key for some. In this

sense, they were self-actualising as educators through their ability to help guide others towards their potential:

I want to be able to make a difference in one or two students' lives per year and help them discover how phenomenal they can be, if they want to be. To me, that's why I get out of bed

Other notable motivations included: avoiding a siloed curriculum, where all the classes were the same form (P15); remaining relevant in a changing discipline (P2) (P5) (P8); achieving more openness in trying new things, and seeking out innovative methods (P15); improving the educational experience (P4); regaining a sense of a community of learners, focused on experience (P7); achieving balance in learning – between traditional research and consultancy (P14); fear of a discipline losing its identity (P1); reimagining learning beyond physical space boundaries that confined learning (P3), and motivating others (P3).

Ultimately, regardless of differing levels of motivations driving the individual academic, all sought to improve the educational experience and limit the level of inertia in higher education to provide value to all stakeholders, themselves included. An example of this was in one academic's reflections on aspects of the role they loved and hated and how they sought innovative ways to manage their investment across these:

I'm more of an ROI. If we can have a better student experience, increased learning, increased happiness and me spending less time doing what I love which is educating and less time doing what I hate which is grading, that's an ideal system for me. Everyone's learning, everyone's having fun, no-one's getting jaded with this inertia (P4)

Role of technology

One of the common aspects that academics discussed in their interviews was the role of technology in innovative practice. Discussions were both positive and negative, as catalyst and aide, as risky and exciting.

Some recognised technology as facilitating standard face-to-face practices within an online environment, extending how courses were taught (P3). Others reflected on their use of technologies

in increasing engagement, for example, using clickers (P8) as an innovative way to engage students who might otherwise shy away from contributing to activities and discussions. One academic commented:

Technology provides different ways or provides a tool for me to better engage the students in the classroom. That's why I wanted to incorporate this kind of technology, tools, or platform in my teaching. Because I think that will help me to improve the students' engagement, as well as the students' learning outcomes (P10)

Several academics also recognised preparation for the class as a challenge to effective learning. They saw that the use of technology shifted the learning process to a different format. It acted as a stimulus in driving students to take greater ownership in preparing for learning. One example was in the use of clickers to reward students for having prepared for class:

> I wanted to solve a lack of reading before class and cramming and dumping study methods before tests. I was frustrated by students showing up to class and not being able to even participate in basic discussion or answer my verbal in-class questions--because no one but me did any prep. Instead of tests, by doing clicker questions in class, the students are rewarded directly for reading the materials before class and engaging in-class lectures/activities. (P8)

In other situations, technology was simply a distraction. The need to learn new technology, by academic or learner, provided challenges in whether and how to introduce technology into new academic practices. Issues such as slow loading, kicking learners out of programmes and licensing or access were problematic for innovative practice (P10). Shorter sources of information were also criticised as negatively impacting students' depth of learning. Academics feared these changes were distracting learners from quality learning in favour of less formal cuts of information:

> We have also seen a growing disengagement by students with sustained reading and writing in favour of shorter and more meaningless clickbait. This has

been a negative consequence of technology that we need to acknowledge and try to counter (P7)

Some academics claimed that their use of technology was the innovation, affirming the conceptualisation of innovation as an outcome (Kahn, 2018). Access to and use of technology might differ, but there was evidence of contextual adoption of appropriate technologies to their environment for those institutions included in this study. Irrespective of their choice of new technology in teaching, i.e. Zoom, Microsoft Teams, alternative Learning Management Systems and specific applications within it, or Virtual Reality, their adoption was innovative and exciting for academics because they were recent adopters of technology. Others looked to them for assistance because of their capacity to adopt new technologies (P13).

For many, acquiring these technologies may have simply been a means to a new way of working rather than an innovative evolution in higher education practice per se. Depending on the availability of professional development activities, institutions can be the differentiator in academics, being leading-edge educators versus skilled educators. The differences in intended use are what others perceive as an innovative lens to good practice.

Thus, a reliance on technology as core to innovation in academic practice came with a cautionary note and supports what the literature has acknowledged (Tidd & Bessant, 2018). The 'shiny new platform' should not be the driver behind evolving practice, merely a tool (P2). Ensuring the right technology was in place to support expected outcomes was deemed necessary to avoid gimmicky approaches that were not aligned strategically in supporting effective learning. Low to zero cost online sources were also identified as high risk (P10), particularly when the pace of change and source control was outside the academic's scope (P1). Reliability and security in the choice of technology-based adoptions were raised as important factors in decision making:

As time went on, I realized that I needed to focus my changes on the technology. Finding a solution that was more reliable and secure (P8)

There was additional value in understanding exactly how academics were evolving their practice. Identifying the new applications being introduced to deal with today's challenges in higher education to ensure effective learning? The next section of the findings reviews the wide-ranging examples interviewees discussed in this study.

Innovative applications in practice

The varied examples introduced by respondents included elements relating to the environment of learning, collaborations, assessment, co-creation, and creativity. As previously mentioned, rather than appearing as an innovative stand-alone practice, technology was highlighted more as a support and enabling role, illustrated in Figure 12 as linked to each new practice.



Figure 12: Examples of innovative practice

Changing the learning environment, either physically or psychologically, was identified by several academics as providing an innovative element to learning. Introducing learners to new/different spaces introduced a creative lens to learning methods, breaking down assumed barriers. While the physical areas on campus were identified as quickly losing their edginess and becoming old-fashioned, the spaces beyond the campus seemed to provide unique environments for learning, as explained in the following example:

...the best things and best spaces are out there somewhere, depending on the time of the year, out in nature or in other buildings or other locations, or in ruin sites, in museums, in shopping centres, just where the life is.... I think the best spaces are outside universities and school buildings and office buildings, always (P3).

Managing class time in an online environment led academics to explore different class and self-directed learning configurations (P11), recognising that large blocks of face-to-face teaching

time did not work as effectively in a digital environment. This practice led some academics to be more innovative in using assorted digital communications tools to manage students and facilitate learning and engagement. Driven by the move to online learning in response to Covid-19 and the temporary closure of learning institutions, academics were identifying more opportunities to work with and alongside students predominantly associated with changes in communication practices as illustrated:

> When everything went to shambles (Covid-19) and we decided to stay home and we agreed to that, that's when they started putting their barriers up. And I started to do a lot more communication; whether it's discussion, whether it's just one-on-one emails. Even though it took longer, they appreciated it. Like a Zoom, I would do a lot of Collaborate Ultra one-on-one sessions. I have my office hours through Collaborate Ultra, so I try to be as available as possible... (P13)

Sharing campus resources for different purposes led one academic to new ways of being creative in their teaching. They realised that resources could benefit additional learners beyond those for whom the resource was initially intended through collaboration with different schools on their campus. A central intermediary, namely the library, provided greater visibility and use of various resources (P2).

As an extension of this, others were looking for innovative ways to work together across faculty, departments, and schools, bringing people together and regaining a campus life that supports communities of learners. Their experience in new practice was driven by the reimagining of learning through alternative approaches used within their institution but not within their immediate locale. They looked to broaden their capacity and, in doing so, their agency for being innovative.

The extent to which this sharing and collaboration occurred did vary, as some were protective of their domain of innovative practice to preserve it. In contrast, others appeared more open to enabling wider adoption. When resources were constrained due to finances, politics, or others, the opportunity to realise widespread gain was limiting. One example given was how institutional practices had diminished this capacity:

> We must regain the sense of a community of learners with more of a focus on the experience, not a tick-box, outcomes driven approach that in my opinion has done considerable damage(P7)

Managing assessment items in different ways provided one academic with the environment for happy and less stressful learning. The academic took a somewhat radical approach to give all students the same base grade at course commencement, moderating grades up or down according to their effort over the course duration. The driving force for this lay in distracting students away from a preoccupation with grades and content for assessment only, towards education in a purer sense. He sought to shift the role of education away from accreditation toward personal development and socialisation (Biesta, 2015). The academic felt that students were so focused on the grade that they missed out on the bigger picture in learning. He needed an innovative solution to reduce this siloed way of studying and for students to 'enjoy education for education's sake' (P4). As he explained:

Were they learning the same amount as my other classes where I had mid-terms and exams and papers and all that stuff and yeah, the evidence was they were in fact learning exactly the same stuff to the same degree. Because I was teaching the same context, I was just not having grades attached to it....Then qualitatively what I found was that they were basically enjoying themselves more, they were happier, they were less stressed and more relaxed.(P4)

Another academic (P5) was in a sponsored position within her department. She was able to negotiate new resources and applications by working in conjunction with corporate sponsors to cocreate content and enrich the real-world learning experience of students. In this process, they developed digital resources crafted around key learning outcomes and introduced 'badging' so that students could obtain certifications along the way. Course marks were allocated to Zoom calls and online discussions to encourage participation. The use of technology was recognised by this academic as critical to the value of learning for the future of work and the building of student portfolios aligned with targeted career interests. Other academics have also partnered with agencies to have students working on 'live' projects. In one case, the entire course pivoted to be a group-based project for master's level students, recreating the experience of a live brief and resulting in a client-based solution. This industry connection drove their innovative approach to teaching, delivery, and assignment creation (P14).

Online education and the use of technology were recognised as facilitating co-creation in learning. From enhancing the quality of relations in student supervision and improving completion rates (P6) through to using learning analytics to refine content in real-time (P9) and to digital quizzes like Kahoot (P10), academics were using different tools to co-create an effective learning

97

environment. Here they were aligning technology to support learning, not as the outcome. The innovation was in the process (Kahn, 2018), with the benefit of driving student's engagement:

...technology provides different ways, or provides a tool for me to better engage the students...That's why I wanted to incorporate this kind of technology tools or platform in my teaching. Because I think that will help me to improve the students' engagement, as well as the students' learning outcomes (P12)

Some academics adopted creative and spontaneous approaches to education to disrupt the linearity of expected learning. Students had slide materials to present, including only a key number of facts. Their subsequent use of storytelling to examine and discuss the content, led by them as 'expert' learners/teachers, inspired some students to seek and make sense of the information presented to them (P11). The academics noted this motivation as displacing expectations of what learning processes should occur, resulting in more natural inquiry (P3). Other creative approaches such as the use of art (P4), Lego play (P13), filmmaking, and photos (P3) were mentioned as highly useful in activating students to think differently about what is being learned. Applying an alternative lens to interpreting materials enabled learners to see things in a new light. In one case, this involved tasking students to teach others, which revealed to the academic what needed to be taught and perceptions of what they were supposed to be learning (P3). The co-creation evolved as learners switched roles between teacher and student. Pedagogical change to learning through art over a more traditional essay or exam-driven assessments was an innovative way to adjust expectations of how students should learn:

Art can be evidence...why reduce non-verbal, non-linear experience to words or tables of figures? (P7)

Novel approaches to increase student engagement were common. As one academic stated, "I'm striving for innovation in method in all areas of engagement" (P14) to bring in a more enriching educational experience using real-life projects, portfolios, and competitions that push the students to achieve higher. The opportunity to use more immersion in learning, while acknowledged as more challenging, resonated well with academics: ...that deep immersive, hands-on, get dirty learning. To me that is beautiful, just beautiful. It's the sort of assembly line approach that I really resist, which everyone seems to do. It's easier but it's shittier. (P4)

As mentioned previously, rather than being a central focus of all innovative practice, technology appeared to play a more dominant enabling role, supporting new approaches in education. In this study, technology was primarily evident in virtual reality with Google Cardboard, social media channels as resources or to guide assessment development, 3D printers to evidence learning, digital learning platforms, and 'clickers' in classrooms to engage learners. While respondents were at different technology levels, none used ground-breaking technology in their practice evolution. In the role of 'first mover users' (early adopters of new practices), these academics indicated a cautious approach to their use of technology, favouring principles of excellence in education over 'shiny new toys' (P2). This may be due to their experience with not all academics viewing technology positively or with positive consequences.

In exploring innovative practice by respondents, their solutions were mainly driven by looking for ways to move practice forward, to accommodate a broader range of concerns beyond the digitisation of education.

The following section looks at the processes used to understand how innovative practice evolved rather than what the innovation was. In beginning to unpack these approaches, it may be possible to comprehend ways to innovate across a broader spectrum. Focusing on how varied academics evolve their practices instead of the solution may reveal how others adopt similar openness in educating beyond replication. It might further extend an understanding of their agency.

4.7 Theme 3: Processes and influences shaping new practice (RQ3)

According to respondents, innovative practice evolved with consideration, inquiry, iteration, understanding, and time. In most instances, it was a carefully guided non-linear pathway that developed through a continuous process of reflection, focused all the while on key learning outcomes. Contextual factors and interviewees' experiences acknowledged parameters that frame boundaries within which they took risks trying new ways in education. It shaped their capacity, their agency, for being innovative. While limiting to an extent, these parameters still allowed academics to push their thinking to the edges while remaining aligned with organisational expectations of academic practice. This agency influenced their awareness of where innovation could be applied and what framed this. Thus, while a considered approach for the most part, in some cases, the new

practice was still viewed as risky, spurious, disruptive, and full of trial and error. Regardless of the approach used, most innovative practitioners interviewed sought to understand and fine-tune their new ways of doing, developing more refined processes, which sometimes resulted in broader uptake by others. However, this uptake was not a condition of their approach.

In reflecting on how they introduced innovative practices, common beliefs arose that underlay what was involved in developing new approaches in higher education. Each is explained in more detail in the following pages, with a summary graphic provided at the end (Figure 13).

Enough thought and consideration were needed in timing the new practice (P15) and balancing the degree of experimentation with the challenges of tradition (P12). Risks were welcomed, but they should be measured (P2) and aligned with educational needs first and foremost (P3). Modifications were likely for it is not one size fits all (P10), and care was needed in guiding others in the journey to avoid losing them irrespective of their role (P3). Metaphors or stories could assist the adoption of new practices, and where technology was being considered, its' relevancy needed to be determined (P10). What was critical, however, was the need for the change in how it fulfilled a purpose and avoided novelty for novelty's sake:

> Time and time again I see people coming up with a new approach where there is no real foundation for the change they propose apart from it 'seemingly like a good idea'. However, does it work? Don't keep making change for change's sake. Become more preoccupied with going deeper to allow students to think more meaningfully – resist the fads! (P7)

Act responsibility and assume ownership of innovative activities. Belief was needed in the freedom educators had in the classroom (P8), yet mindful of students' needs or situations (P13). Care was required to avoid ruffling feathers (P4). Strong leadership (P2) and knowing the reasons, processes, and sharing workloads (P7) could facilitate the implementation of new practices and encourage others to join.

Search beyond boundaries. Inspiration for innovative practice came from many directions, including promotional offers from new providers (P10), internet searches (P1), students (P13), conference or networking opportunities (P11), and colleagues from other disciplines (P3). The key was finding ways to get into a different mindset, mood, or process to steer thinking in different directions (P3) in opening one's capacity for being innovative so that they were more aware of opportunities to be innovative. Alternative approaches also existed in proactively seeking assistance

from aligned external stakeholders, e.g. corporate sponsors (P5) or community (P2), and in closer connections and collaborations with industry to advance teaching, delivery, and assessment (P14). Looking into the future, into the 21st century, and beyond could seed new ideas. The movement between institutions was also recognised as important to the process of innovating:

once you've been in academia in one location, to experience somewhere else and they'll try things differently, or bring some ideas through to fruition and play differently. (P13)

Approach with *openness and awareness*. It was essential to have a positive attitude and an open mind (P6) supported by clear goals and an understanding that multiple paths can achieve them (P1). This required a degree of flexibility and openness in revealing attempts to innovate together with receiving feedback from peers (P11). However, caution was also needed in determining how much information was disclosed to students to avoid 'guinea pig' scenarios (P3). Innovative practitioners needed to be patient – being innovative was an evolutionary process (P8) that required perseverance (P14). *Flexibility and reflection* aided in developing and introducing new approaches, recognising that personal experiences would shape innovative practices differently (many respondents). Always 'being on' resulted in constant awareness of opportunities for change (P8) and the skill to react to new learning modalities (P15). Adjustments were needed throughout the journey in response to changing resources, expectations, and challenges (P9), but evaluations had to occur when it was meaningful to do so (P8). This included recognising the value and benefits before, during, and after (P11, P13). Reviewing in-practice allowed for understanding authentic learning practice (P2) and acknowledging students' lens (P12). The process of reflection by innovators, their peers, and colleagues was important to gain alternative perspectives.

...you have to reflect during the process and at the end of the process. I think that reflection is important, and self-evaluation. Self-evaluation and also peer-evaluation, it's important that you share it with other people...they see things from another perspective that might be interesting. (P11)

Currency and relevancy of new practices were essential. Linking to the real world through industry tools and certifications (P8) or using industry as clients to enable the hands-on experience (P10) contributed to authenticity. The primary focus must be on the experience in learning, not on a

tick box - outcome-driven approach (P7). In some cases, much prior research could be necessary to ascertain the validity and adoption of new practices (P9). Taking time to seed the idea was essential, as was avoiding getting lost in the details, which could cause hesitations and stymie new approaches (P3). Collaboration with industry was viewed as having multiple benefits in how it could contribute towards innovative practice:

Being industry-connected drives the approaches in innovation teaching, delivery, and assignment creation (P14). Diffusion of innovative practice may or may not occur, but ways to work towards successfully *expanding the practice did exist*. A bottom-up approach could be used to gain support from others (P6). Stakeholders needed to be known and involved where relevant (P14). Senior management support (P9) and acknowledging university procedure (P7) was beneficial. Innovative practice needed to start slowly, trial first (P4), recognising that change and wider adoption could take time (P9). Sharing the experience with others (P11), having conversations with others in the department (P8, P10), and working with others to develop a mindset of innovativeness beyond the finished product (P3) could enable greater adoption of practice by others. At times it took insights to be shared, benefits to be understood (P9), and expectations on what 'learning is and should be' (P1) to manage and reduce barriers to change.



Figure 13: Summary of process variables for developing new practice

It was evident from these process variables (Figure 13) that expanding academic practice required much consideration. In these cases, innovative education evolved not through entirely erratic, erroneous attempts but with a more measured understanding of the locus of higher education. Primarily driven by individual agency, understanding the relevant process variables gave insight into the keys that framed novel thinking and application. **Error! Reference source not found.** s ummarises how these process variables have shaped practices revealed in this study. In determining these outcomes, this sample of academics drew on their epistemological view of micro, meso, and macro conditions to orchestrate new opportunities for learning and teaching. Collectively this illustrates personal ideologies in evolving or constraining innovative practice and factors beyond the academic that continued to shape idea development and refinement.

Factors and challenges shaping practice

According to one academic, making a change in academia is 'like trying to turn an aircraft carrier on a dime' (P4). There was no time to wait in some instances, and yet, change was not for everyone. Academics acknowledged that not all were open to rethinking their boxes (P3), and not all understood the relevance of change (P13). Their abilities could limit even those who did think differently without necessarily recognising it (P1). For some, acting as the 'lone pioneer' was tiresome, and at times interest was lost in pushing forward with new practices (P5, P11). Recognition of the capacity for change in others as constrained by their own prior educational experiences can challenge new approaches:

I have had to realise that people can sometimes be slow to change the way they do things since most people teach how they themselves were taught

(P7)

From these interviews, it was clear that there were multiple influences in how innovative practice evolved from the environment to systems and management, to individuals and perspectives.

An educational environment comprised of wealthier institutions and financial partnerships benefitted innovative practice by enabling educators to access resources that facilitated innovative practice, particularly those involving technology. Several academics discussed the impact funding had on their ability to innovate. 'Playing the game' and using critical impact phrases, e.g. 'cultural experimentation' in funding applications, saw some success (P3). However, this was not the case for all. Some took the less risky route by formally validating their drive for innovative practice by identifying funds needed and potential reach of impact (student numbers) in their request for funds (P5). This inability to access resources could restrict the extent of introducing new practices or result in poor practices because of these limitations (P12). The following statement explains some of these environmental factors: The extent to which academics are innovating in higher education vary from one context to another...how academics are innovating in universities from developed countries is different from that of developing countries... how academics from Science, Technology, Business, Education, Economics, and Arts fields are innovating in higher education also vary greatly. (P6)

The source of innovative practice might differ according to the institutional environment. Respondents mentioned factors such as universities' mission, specific research focus, the profile of student body, and the locality and industry nearby as impacting the extent to which innovation was possible. These academics suggested institutional factors could be significant in enabling innovative practice. Structural impediments included effective or enough resourcing (finances, people, access to materials, time), constraining leadership styles or beliefs about academia's role, and the culture and tendency for conformist behaviours. Each identified as a challenging opportunity for evolving new practice. Individual agency was evident in findings ways to navigate such challenges.

Moving outside of one's immediate environment was helpful in the journey of innovating. So too was exploring education beyond a discipline, beyond discipline-based research, or education into practice. Interviewees often mentioned teaching experience in other institutions or countries and previous work experience in different industries. Several academics highlighted the value of collaborating with different teachers from different classes and industry partners with differing expertise. Industry partners' interest and engagement in collaborating could shape the adoption of new practices, but respondents urged caution about the degree of influence such collaborators might exude (P3). Collaborations could work well given the fast pace of technological change and a lack of time to continue learning evolving platforms. One academic believed that we could no longer innovate in isolation, and corporate partnerships were increasingly necessary (P1). Among respondents, it was commonly held that innovative practice evolved with understanding <u>how</u> and <u>why</u> to educate, not simply what to profess. This belief underpinned the emphasis on academics as educators; supporting their need to develop their agency within education, increase their capacity for teaching and learning, and extend their role beyond a conduit of the textbook:

...you get thrown into a classroom with no training. I find it a wild injustice, very upsetting...they don't know what they're doing. Most of them have never worked a day in their life so what do you do? Ok, well, I'll use this slide that teach... (P4)

A teaching-oriented environment enabled innovative practice. Several interviewees chose to work at their institution because of the openness to quality education over an intensive research focus and smaller class sizes over traditional lecture halls. This enabled them to be innovative and use their time to consider alternative ways of doing instead of engaging in a rigorous publishing programme. However, they also acknowledged that students had greater difficulty learning when there was no prescribed way of doing it (P3) or when they or teachers used technology unfamiliar to them (P15).

Academics were further challenged in working across departments to collaborate effectively when systems and internal cultures differed (P15). Additionally, the failure of organisations to provide needed support led to frustration and blocked innovative practice (P11). The preference of others in accepting the status quo also reinforced resistant behaviours toward change:

> ...little and/or no support from colleagues at the workplace to introduce new practice as, more often than not they prefer the existing status quo. Put differently, they have a fear for the unknown, thus, resist change (P6)

Recent shifts towards online learning were causing some academics difficulty in finding solutions to quality distant learning. Covid-19 resulted in many uplifting face-to-face teachings on a digital platform where existing strategies and approaches did not replicate well. Academics acknowledged this and the need to address it with new practices and, in one situation, used an inter-departmental working group to explore possible solutions (P9). Innovative approaches needed to fit within the educational environment (P9), and any perceptions had to match the reality of its development. It was not just changing for change's sake. New practice should be meaningful (P7) and evidence based (P9), and academics need sufficient time to achieve this (P13). Compatibility was a key factor:

...ensure that the innovation/new practice is compatible with the existing and/or future practices (P6)

Existing systems were recognised as supporting and suppressing attempts to innovate, not the least concerning university politics (P12). Some academics preferred to innovate first and ask for forgiveness later, ignoring the stated ways of doing, in favour of challenging the status quo to evolve their practice. Again, this notion of agency and belief in what they can do underpinned personal motivations to enact change. Regardless of knowing the purpose for change (P3) or providing evidence via some foundational basis, there still needed to be validity, as illustrated in the quote below:

> ...have a purpose. What do I want with this? Not just go and – Oh, I found this idea, I'm going to do it just for doing it. Having a kind of... maybe not a theoretical background but at least to know where you go (P11)

Some still believed that it was necessary to gain support (P7). However, even if the need for support was acknowledged by management, the realities could be quite different from what was anticipated, as explained by one academic:

...they always tell you – Good, great idea, we're going to support you. But that's it...when it comes to when you start working nobody has time... (P11)

The rigidity of systems, in some cases, required substantial research and cost-benefit analysis before attempting new practices (P9). Past failed attempts to innovate had led to a more cautious or reduced approach that made it more acceptable for others to implement (P4), reducing the extent and sustainability of any change being considered, which could also reduce the potential value (Vaikunthavasan et al., 2019). Alternatively, institutional intransigence could block the change entirely (P15). A heavy emphasis on procedures and mechanistic approaches stifled creativity and learning and, in one academics' opinion, 'dehumanized education' (P7). The trust management had in their staff to act within reasonable boundaries, to the extent they were hands-off, was deemed a positive influence in innovating processes (P8). So too was the degree and quality of communication in encouraging wider adoption of new practices. The perceived benefits from the change and steps for its implementation and support channels had to be clear (P9). Management had a critical role to play in supporting valued initiatives.

Recognising different ways of doing things was central to an innovative perspective, yet respondents confirmed this was not easy to achieve. Individuals varied in how they acknowledged

alternative ways of doing and the solutions they evolved. These differences could be problematic, as one academic explained:

...to be honest, her way of seeing innovation was a different one to the one that I saw, or some of us saw, so it was difficult (P3)

Respondents recommended carefully unpacking expectations and changing perspectives about how things were traditionally done. This could involve changing students' thinking about learning or developing educators' beliefs about essentials to meet the changing global knowledgebased economy of the 21st century and beyond (P6). The type of learner and attitude towards education provided challenges regarding independence in their thinking (collective vs. independent culture) and openness to novel practice. One respondent stated the barrier to change is not what they were doing but within the students themselves (P13). Ironically, so was the case with academics, wherein one claimed cultural differences in the institution they were teaching in resulted in them becoming more conservative in approaching their work, reducing their level of innovativeness (P12). Understanding context, relevancy, industries' needs for the future of work, and external connections were revealed as essential in informing and shaping practice. However, the innovative practice also needed to fulfil the role of education as explained:

...at first you can't really say for sure whether this is going to be a success or failure, but to a certain level we have to serve the students, we have to be able to fulfil our promise of the possibility to learn, so we can't really just tip everything upside down.. Sometimes if a course has been too experimental, they're saying like – You screwed our chance of learning up (P3)

Feedback from learners helped shape changes in practice. Seeking feedback on their experience provided insight into the effectiveness of the activity and to what extent it worked as expected (P13). From an educator's perspective, ownership of the introduced change was vital to shaping it. Failure of individuals to commit to seeing the practice through or acknowledging or understanding what went wrong eroded subsequent value for all stakeholders (P3). This study revealed that academic experience provided the freedom and license needed to shape new practices (P12). High levels of personal agency and robust and open leadership towards change could facilitate any innovation attempts (P13). This agency provided a capacity for acting independently, as illustrated in the following:

As an educator who is later in their career and a full professor, I have a bit more freedom to stand back and be more critically aware than those who feel they must follow the dictates of others (P7)

Creating an environment for innovating

This study has acknowledged the ways and barriers to evolving innovative practice and the role of the individuals, institutions, and other external stakeholders in relation to those. From this, it was possible to establish an understanding of conditions for innovative practice (**Error! Reference s ource not found.**), including providing the capacity to do so, as one academic expressed:

if I was at a Uni that limited me to (publishing) 3-5 A+ journals, I would never have developed my personality or my innovativeness (P1)



Figure 14: Conditions for innovative practice
Cultivating the right cultural fit was critical to enabling innovative practice, with one academic recruiting staff based on 'who' they are, not what was on paper alone (P5). Innovative academics being 'born not bred' appeared to be true of those willing to explore new teaching and learning methods. They were able to respond well to catalysts and identify opportunities in crisis and safety (P12) if the room to innovate was provided. While smaller departments appeared to be more agile and able to respond innovatively, larger departments still encouraged novel thinking if organisational or administrative structures remained uncomplicated (P6). Perhaps it should be embedded into large organisations' structures, missions, and visions to ease the adoption of innovative practice. However, irrespective of the organisation's size, management needed to be flexible and avoid micro-managing staff. Ultimately, staff benefitted from being given enough time to evaluate what they did and how they conceived novel practices (P4).

Most interviewees acknowledged that while individuals needed to drive the change, *support from management* helped expand the practice and overcome resistance to change, contributing to its long-term sustainability. Giving permission to try, fail, and retry was deemed necessary. Promoting this from the top-down relaxed expectations, created possibilities, and enabled others to learn from their mistakes (P3). Having allies was important in the pursuit of change, as one academic acknowledged:

It's important to have allies when you try to make improvements or have a vision to do so (P7)

An openness towards co-creation during the process of innovating strengthened the potential success of the new practice, including collaboration with peers or students as parties to the process. Letting them define themselves and their learning through innovative experiences and examining its impact helped realise opportunities for refinement and identify key success factors (P3). Opportunities for others came from sharing resources, contacts, solutions, and experiences (P1). Benefits were claimed beyond the immediately recognisable outcome, and it was key to *clearly define and redefine the purpose of the new practice* as it evolved. The goal should be communicated to all stakeholders to enable further development and achieve sustainable change (P2). In innovating, there were likely variances and challenges arising from the heterogeneity of the stakeholders involved. These need to be accommodated. *Not everyone adopted new approaches in the same way*, making the process more challenging (P3, P12). This could potentially be achieved by humanising oneself and introducing personal experiences to improve understanding and believability in the opportunity presented by changing practices (P13).

However, it was important to *recognise when desired outcomes or positive changes were impossible*. Covid-19 has challenged face-to-face teaching environments, resulting in many practical, innovative solutions being temporarily redundant (P7) or replaced by different online solutions. The perceived risk of change could reduce the scope of adopting innovative practices, limiting them to the 'lone pioneer' or the educator who simply likes to give things a go without ruffling any feathers, thereby flying under the radar (P4). Some of these risks could be mitigated through *effective communication*. Simple changes in the language used in applying for or introducing novel approaches to education could garner greater support from stakeholders. For instance, 'knowledge base' over 'theory' suggested a more practical orientation (P3). Looking through the lens of the target audience was an important aspect in framing the communication of intended new practices as explained:

> I think of myself - If I was a student what would I like, how would I like to be engaged with, and I use a lot of why, how...(P13)

While some interviewees acknowledged the use and benefit of official forums for discussing or sharing new practices, they predominantly believed *informal channels were more effective* in gaining real and sustained interest from others. Self-selection was a key success factor in the diffusion of innovative practice by others. More formal, structured approaches to wider adoption were acknowledged as less effective, with individuals reverting to previous practices or finding shortcuts to minimise their efforts.

...they have a fear for the unknown, thus, resist change (P6)

As illustrated (Figure 14, pg.108), an environment for innovative practice requires flexibility, trust, openness, and support. True pioneers sought out new solutions *when they chose to*, not because it was mandated. Good leadership could encourage, excite, and support staff to innovate but largely relied on individuals choosing to change. This links back to cultivating the right environment and recognising some individuals are 'born that way', eager and willing to invest time and energy in evolving educational practice, not necessarily for the broader adoption but simply for increased student engagement and job satisfaction (P4).

4.8 Summary of Findings

These findings have focused on exploring experiences of innovative practice. The initial four cases within marketing education gave evidence to practice examples through collaborations, curriculum, andragogy, and technology. These same themes resonated in the approaches discussed by the sample of 15 geographically dispersed academics. The individual, their motivations, solutions, use of technology and processes, and the moderating variables influencing them were essential to understanding this group's evolving practices.

Key results suggested that an assumed identity of 'undercover academic' and license to act (agency) were critical to evolving academic practice. With such agency and educational experience, these respondents acquired beliefs and knowledge in their ability to comprehend the need for change and developed novel practices within the scope of their habitus. These academics were passionate about higher education and ensuring stronger connections with industry and society. They were largely independent, agile, flexible, and strong identities, open to taking risks for the greater good.

Driven by authenticity and a desire for students to learn more deeply and achieve higher levels of self-actualisation, innovative academics sought alternative ways of doing. These varied in the involvement of technology, as the change outcome was prevalent to their need and not the mechanism. For this reason, their solutions focused on different themes of practice as previously introduced.

An acknowledgement was made of the impact organisational factors had on how innovative practice emerged within an institution. The perceived focus on teaching or research, assumed role of education, availability of resources, and flexibility of the institution to respond to environmental changes collectively shaped how the academics adapted.

These findings have provided insights into how innovative practice might evolve within my institution, and with further discussion, some of these conclusions can now be determined. Chapter five explores these findings with respect to the literature and determines key insights arising from this comparison.

5 Discussion

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, I reflect on my research findings. I draw on my positionality to realise similarities and differences between established literature and make sense of these in finding meaning for academic practice concerning the research questions.

This study aimed to explore academic experiences in innovative practice to benefit wider practice. This small-scale qualitative study involved 15 in-depth interviews with self-acknowledged innovative practitioners in higher education. Underpinning this was an initial review of the literature, extended with a specific investigation into four examples of innovative applications within the marketing discipline, guided by the research questions. Collectively these led me to a framework of innovation (Kahn, 2018), which I then conceptually extended to explore key components as they might apply in higher education. In doing so, this also provided structural consideration in how participants were questioned.

According to Kahn (2018), it is important to recognise its existence as a mindset, process, or outcome to understand innovation. These three elements relate to components of a strategic focus that emphasises the state, means, and ends within which innovative practice might be situated. This study confirmed pathways toward new academic practice are indeed located in these elements. However, in researching academics experienced with educational innovations, this investigation has further revealed the critical role individuals have in evolving relevant and manageable change that is more tactical than strategic, an emphasis not given by Kahn (2018). This realisation became apparent as I analysed my data and established my findings. I used this initial framework to explore innovative practice in higher education and, in doing so, revealed the importance of the individual in this.

My research highlighted high levels of agency by academics in organically evolving their practice. While this may be expected, given individual academics are the unit of analysis, their stories recounted ownership in new ways of academic practice that drove them to evolve it, furthering learning, enjoyment, and education. This level of focus was valuable in acknowledging how academia might respond to challenges impacting higher education and society, fostering individual agency at the heart of evolving practice, which then emphasises the mindset, process, and outcome that will ultimately lead to innovativeness. This ecological approach to individual agency assumed agency, not as something to behold but as an emergent phenomenon that enabled an outcome (change in practice) to be achieved (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998). In times of disruption, like that arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, a managerial approach that fosters, harnesses and facilitates individual agency may be the essential ingredient for assisting academia in navigating through such difficult times, building resilience and sustainability within its walls.

Beyond these perceptions of agency, additional moderating factors were also recognised by way of the environment, technology, and resources; and the leniency and support of academic institutions towards enabling and cultivating environments for change. Contexts, experiences, and confounding factors influenced variability in degrees of innovativeness; however, as illustrated by the novel applications observed in this study, these practices were unlikely to be entirely ground-breaking. Further, depending on where they were conceived, participants acknowledged the new practice may or may not gain momentum for wider diffusion. For instance, Usher (2021) claimed that 'technology-taker' is a role assumed by every country, suggesting instead that differences lie with its creative use. Thus, it is not necessarily the tool but the perspective. As illustrated by my findings, at the heart of innovative practice in higher education *was* the academic.



Figure 15 Conceptual Framework Revisited

The conceptual framework I initially conceived (Figure 15) assisted me in understanding aspects of individuals' journeys in innovative practice and helped reveal additional principles that shaped its application in academia. Key areas of investigation included academic identity (RQ1), process (RQ2), and contributory factors shaping those practices (RQ3). From these insights, it was anticipated that key understandings might be gained for translation into guiding practice (RQ4).

In the following sections, I relate the findings of my study to the initial literature examined and research questions formulated to make sense of these outcomes. In turn, I look at each of the initial research questions and work towards how this knowledge might be used to inform practice, my fourth research question.

5.2 How does academic identity align with experiences in innovative practice? (RQ1)

Innovative practitioners assumed a strong academic identity regarding independence, confidence, and self-belief. Rarely was the journey of new practice discussed as part of a broader strategic, stepwise adoption by groups or departments. This could be due to the focus on individual academics as the sample. Stories and experiences focused on their journeys, and in doing so, examples of externally sourced or institutionally led innovative practice remained unexplored. This is interesting as it reiterates the ownership and connection academics have to innovative practice and the power that 'accountability for change' provides. This was also linked to their agency, supporting and driving their belief and knowledge in what they were doing and how they were looking to evolve the academic practice. And further to their mindset in how they were influenced to change, drawing on their views of educational practice (Nadelson et al., 2020).

In hearing their stories, a diversity of identity was evident (Ylijoki & Ursin, 2013), including negotiator, facilitator, choreographer, undercover agent, parent, child, scientist, overloaded worker, actor, and more. It extended well beyond the single role of academics, supporting the notion that academic identity is a composite measure (Briggs, 2007). Respondents acknowledged these various assumed personas as contributing to their agency and subsequent agility to respond in different environments (Annala et al., 2020). Agency underlined these individuals' ability to manage their educational systems while enabling the resources for innovative success (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998).

As mentioned by several interviewees, their approach was somewhat organic, less reliant on strategic forethought or research, and such was the strength of their academic agency. In some cases, we might be concerned by this and the capacity of academics to act responsibly in navigating change. However, this did not present in this sample. They appeared to implicitly understand the risks and ways to minimise these as they innovated. Some participants acknowledged being 'born that way inclined', while others related their upbringing and independence at an early age as possible reasons for being comfortable in challenging the status quo. This tenacity for innovating was attributed to more than the habitus of the educator (Bourdieu, 1990). This was their past, their now, and their future intertwined into agency (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998). "It's just who I am". They felt driven to innovate.

The lens of innovative practice is attributed to these individuals and their interest and curiosity in seeing education differently. It is not in the notion of higher education for qualification (Biesta, 2015) but in the need to know (subject) and the opportunity to know (for socialisation).

Although these pioneering behaviours are not confined only to education or managerial processes (field), they can be challenged. This was evidenced in some of the comments mentioned wherein others resisted change for fear of the unknown, support was negligible, or the rigidity of environments made it more difficult to achieve (page 108). For the most part, it seems that these innovative academics operated as members of a secret society of practice, where they assume the role of undercover academic - licensed to play, licensed to indulge, and licensed through their belief of agency to do so. This is not to say that there are no rules. Only that the rules are somewhat fluid or agile in how these academics view them and that they know how to act freely within them. This is the mindset of the innovative practitioner.

Annala et al. (2020) acknowledge that one's principles and traditions are essential to achieving change. This is their agency (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998), shaped and recrafted as they navigate their educational landscape.

Kahn's innovation framework focused on mindset, process, and outcome and, in doing so, ignores any predisposition that may exist to support innovative perspectives as they relate to these elements. My study has highlighted agency, which I propose is quite different from the mindset in understanding innovative practice in higher education, yet it appears related. From the interviews I collected, there was a suggestion that agency is the predisposition that evidences a preclusion for innovative practice when present. Thus, agency influenced the response via mindset, process, and outcome. And, it is agency that needs to be enabled to equip institutions with the tools to remain sustainable and achieve diffusion of continued innovation and innovative practice.

This leads to the question of leadership and its role in innovation within higher education. Interviewees acknowledged leadership as enabling and valuable in supporting new practice, aligning with Zhu and Engels (2014) claims that this enables individual competencies to be strengthened. However, leadership was also deemed as not entirely necessary for the new practice to occur in the first instance. This could be related to interviewees being experienced academics, which is also closely linked to their assumption of agency. In most cases, respondents had been in education for several years, providing them with knowledge, experience, familiarity, and academic maturity to attempt innovative practice. The specific leadership style of managers was rarely mentioned in depth, promoting the idea that both transactional and transformational styles could support innovativeness amongst academics. This aligned with literature claiming that a facilitatory approach

was more conducive to supporting innovative practice, but this could also be contingent on an academic's predispositions for being innovative.

Also interesting to managerial practice was the omission of extrinsic rewards in driving innovative behaviour. This reinforces the notion that the individual was essential to the emergence of innovative practice rather than relying on the process or outcome. This supports beliefs that innovative practices will follow as long as individuals have freedom, autonomy, and space to explore new ways (Hairon & Goh, 2015; Owusu-Agyeman, 2019).

Management support was emphasized to broaden the adoption of innovative solutions, resulting in the diffusion of innovation as 'best practice' across a wider application. This is interesting, as in most cases, the innovative practice was conceived and applied by only one or two academics – the innovative practitioners. Sources of innovativeness came largely from within the individual. Although others incorporated processes as needed, it was always at the directive of the individual. There was no evidence of academics pushing for wider adoption of the novel practice in these instances. Rather it was left to diffuse organically by word of mouth or watercooler conversations. This is important as it suggests an informal channel for emerging new practice is valuable to adoption by those who see the value; not change or newness of its' sake, but authenticity in the novel practice being beneficial for learner and educator. That is not to say this is the situation in which all innovative practices evolve, only that these academics recognise this approach.

However, this may be a challenge. If individual practitioners' networks of contact constrain innovative practice, organisational benefits from widespread adoption of highly beneficial innovative practices will remain unrealised. The agility of individuals and institutions to respond promptly in the face of change is compromised. If individual academics are confronted by too many requests to learn, adapt, or react to the resources they use in educating, they are at risk of burnout. In such cases, these academics could use their agency negatively to act as a diffuser in adopting new practices. Perhaps it is best that this level of 'license to operate' is retained within academia to benefit the individual practitioners who thrive on novel practice and allow the average academic to continue unaffected.

Drawing on earlier findings (pages 84-86), the individual academic appears central to how innovative practice evolves in higher education. Important to this was their belief in how they could add value to their learners and that it was their responsibility to drive new practice, not the system. This ownership model is built on intrinsic motivations as the drivers of innovativeness and their

passion for advancing learning. Their strength of character was also acknowledged as vital to their success.

Their capacity for change and perspectives on new practices were important and likely to have impacted the successful adoption of any innovation within education. Drawing on this notion, Figure 16 proposes that an understanding of academic identity and innovative practice might be gained by considering variations in 'agency' and associated 'level of innovativeness'. This study acknowledged these concepts as important to evolving academic practice, yet their relationship has not been fully explored in the existing literature.



Figure 16: Proposed relationship between Agency and Innovative practice

This proposed Agency-Innovation matrix (Figure 16) reveals four potential dimensions that academics might position themselves in innovative practice. **Activators**, those leading the way, have high agency and innovative perspectives, including the majority of those who participated in this study. **Supporters** have high agency but low levels of innovativeness, positioning them as potential early adopters but not through their conceptualisations of new practice. **Followers** have a low tendency for innovativeness and low agency, thus becoming more inclined to join the majority in adopting new practices as determined by leadership. The last group, '**Managed**', is in a challenging position. Despite a high tendency for innovativeness, they likely lack the agency to implement and may be more inclined to feel frustrated and stymied in any attempts to initiate change. The study has revealed this proposed model as a valuable finding. Further exploration is warranted to determine how the proposed relationship between agency and innovative practice exists in higher education.

5.3 How are academics innovating within higher education? (RQ2)

Innovative practice applications in higher education range according to individuals' agency, context, experience, resources, motivations, and expectations for and of change. Despite differences in the perceived or actual level of need for new academic practice (Maslow, 1981) or the solution introduced, each academic appeared confident in revealing their stories relating to innovative practice during the interviews. This indicated an authenticity to their identity and agency, which should be emphasised given the importance of agency for evolving practice, as revealed in the first research question.

Innovating with agency appears to be the initial stage within how innovative practice is developing, extending the perspectives of Kahn (2018) beyond the components of innovation and aligning with the earlier matrix conceiving the relationship between agency and innovativeness. In acknowledging research participants in the capacity of 'Activator', it is proposed conceptually that their agency leads to awareness for innovative practice, which connects to a motivation that then drives conception of the educational innovation (response), which is evaluated and activated. This is visually expressed in Figure 17:





This proposed framework (Figure 17) aligns with earlier work undertaken by Bannan-Ritland (2003), where she drew on academic practice in developing an integrated research development framework for developing 'educational interventions'. Her work introduces exploration and enactment as core processes, which then are evaluated in terms of both local and subsequently broader impact, supporting the introduction of an evaluation stage in the model (**Error! Reference s ource not found.**). In my study, agency is proposed as precluding both the exploration (awareness) and enactment (motivation and response). In doing so, I recognise the critical role the individual has in this process and its subsequent effect on both awareness and motivation toward innovative practice.

5.3.1 Types of innovative practice

According to Zhu et al. (2013), who conducted an extensive review of the literature related to innovative teaching, examples of innovative practice align with four key competencies; learning, social, educational, and technological competencies (Zhu et al., 2013). These further consider innovativeness related to perspective, content, and approach in evolving new practice.

In this study, examples revealed innovative practices in the use of evaluations (assessment), resources (Google cardboard), methods (constructivist through Lego & storytelling), content (industry partnerships), and application (communities of learners and alternative environments), supporting Zhu's findings. These novel practices further align with shifts in education theory from cognitivism to social constructivism and communities of practice, focusing on higher-order active learning, interpretation, and application of ideas (Miedijensky et al., 2021). The focus on innovative practice appears to support these goals for achieving deeper learning.

It is worthy to note the levels of innovative practice were within legitimate scopes of power associated with the role of experienced academics (Aboramadan et al., 2020). The catalyst in prompting the change lay within the individual or further evolved through discussions with others (collaborative partners). The innovative academics were responsible for the difference and how it evolved. Considering this, innovative practices revealed in these interviews did not extend to curriculum overhauls by an individual. Nor did they extend to highly risky adventures for change, which would require approval and process to occur at managerial levels beyond those interviewed. It might be proposed that joint innovation attempts may be easier to approach at a more personal (individual) level than forming teams to address change. At the individual level, it may be easier to manage, nurture or discard according to their effectiveness in serving the educational purpose sought by the academic and institution. Such flexibility enables trialling of 'shiny new buttons' and supports their dumping when the novelty or purpose wears off.

5.3.2 Solutions are relevant to the context

As stated in the literature, differences in geographical location (Africa, USA, UK, Europe, Asia/Pacific) or inequities in student access to resources mean variations in the innovative practices' academics will likely apply (Schröder & Krüger, 2019). This was supported in these interviews where online technologies were used in an innovative approach to improve communication in Africa. Technology was deployed via virtual reality in the USA to enhance the immersive learning experience. Elsewhere entire curriculums are being set around technology, in contrast to the introduction of specialised elective papers attempting to do the same in other settings. Some of these reduce digital divides, while others build digital resilience (Chelliah & Clarke, 2011). In addition to frailties in higher education, contextual settings contribute to wide-ranging solutions to address its challenges in the 21st century.

5.3.3 Technology is not everything in evolving innovative practice

There was a reliance on technology when challenged with the emergency response teaching (ERT) to Covid-19. The rush to move traditional face-to-face courses into an online environment provided challenges (Hodges et al., 2020). While this study is not about innovative practice in a pandemic, some of the interviews were conducted over this period (2019/2020). Some academics discussed their solutions considering these current challenges. Arising from this was their concern over the role and reliance on technology, their competencies in innovating quickly with new technology, and academic practices' rigor.

Alternative approaches to learning via technology must account for concerns over distractions or equitable learning for all (Schröder & Krüger, 2019). This study has illustrated the supportive role largely evident in practice, affirming claims that innovative practice should not hang on or in technology (Kopcha et al., 2016; Tidd & Bessant, 2018). In their experiences, academics looked beyond the gimmick of new technology to the foundations for learning, supporting educational shifts based on evidence, not a novelty (Kantar, 2013).

Technology can be the innovative lens to good practice, but not without preparation or alignment. The call for a holistic approach to underpin change is evident in other education aspects, including curriculum development (Annala et al., 2020). This was clear with the 'Digital First' strategy employed by Rohm et al. (2018). While no academics interviewed in this study were amid a curriculum overhaul, they did acknowledge the need to ensure currency and relevancy for education and society. This leads to the need to ensure 'learning-centred' remains at the heart of innovativeness in education. Irrespective of collaborative, technology-based, curriculum-centred, or andragogy-oriented focuses, these academics chose novel ways to engage in education for inquiry and the betterment of society (academic and external). They were also cognisant of the disparities amongst learners. They sought less resource-intensive solutions to engage learners in a more connected experience, e.g. Google Cardboard. In doing so, they reduced the impacts of social inequities and exclusivities (Choudaha & van Rest, 2018) arising from socio-economic constraints (Schröder & Krüger, 2019) while enabling economical ways to deliver education (Christensen & Eyring, 2011).

5.4 What factors are shaping innovative practice? (RQ3)

Multiple influences have been identified in contributing to how innovative practice is shaped. Earlier studies by Bourdieu (1990) discussed field, habitus, and capital; Ylijoki and Ursin (2013) focus on the individual and discuss the variability in enthusiasm and passion; Maslow (1981) also takes a unit perspective in establishing different needs behind the motivations and outcomes sought. In addition to the conception of the innovative practice itself, this study has revealed multiple institutional, environmental, managerial, and cultural factors shaping the practice of evolving academia. These are discussed as follows.

There is an assumed responsibility for academia and self-preservation by these innovative educators. The extent of the new practice is predominantly oriented towards dynamically continuous changes not reliant on extensive involvement from others. Such practices enhance experience and satisfaction in the role, providing meaningful work (Riivari et al., 2020). Interviewees did not acknowledge extrinsic motivation behind their behaviour, only intrinsic, claimed as foundational to meaningful practice (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016). However, they did recognise the necessity for ensuring they delivered on essentials for learning and their responsibility to students. These academics manage change under a duty and guidance of care, and to some extent, with a degree of self-preservation. The process of evolving academic practice is motivational for them, and they appear committed to the organisation with a license to innovate afforded to them. They find the time to do so despite scarce resources (Riivari et al., 2020). This agility, and adaptable mindset, distinguishes them in perceptions as valued employees, providing greater job protection in these uncertain times.

On odd occasions when academics did seek input or guidance in shaping the introduction of their new practice, this was mainly via informal communities of practice or close colleagues. Managers were typically consulted when additional resourcing was needed, or the source driving change in practice was external to the individual. Overall, academics are open to feedback but do not rely on it when the prompt for innovative practice is sourced within the academic realm.

That academics need balance for educational practice to evolve is evident. Literature has acknowledged the seriousness of the afflictions shaping education and society (Baliga, 2020; Curnalia & Mermer, 2018; Megoran & Mason, 2020). Beyond mere regulatory criteria, academia is under significant pressure to perform – to deliver an essentialist (Chankseliani et al., 2021) role of advancing knowledge to benefit the greater good within an era of unprecedented change. One concern raised in the literature was the degree of academic burnout (Evers et al., 2002). Academia is fragile. Academics are fragile. Employment is uncertain. Demand for learning is erratic and evolving through numerous alternative channels. Academics are challenged with managing discipline-related

changes, adopting new technologies, and a disengaging student population in conjunction with demands for research outputs. These interviewees acknowledge their role and existence are at risk. Balance must be achieved between a research and practitioner-based workforce to comply with current models of tertiary funding; but they must also be balanced within the individual's role itself. This is essential to the agility of a responsive higher education system, and to an understanding that academics can become weary from continuing to evolve new and novel ways of practice.

Alternative views on academic roles can seed opportunities for the new practice. Interviewees acknowledge the challenge of finding time for research alongside daily academic work. Still, perhaps this is when the academic pathway becomes more relevant – research academic vs. professional academic. One respondent proposed that we go so far as to recognise a change in academics' role from 'professing' to 'coaching', which they believe enables them to bring value to the classroom. They claim that due to ready access to information, the focus is on how information is applied and modified as work environments adapt. The shift towards learners who can 'do' and hit the ground running upon employment benefits society more than those who extoll the virtues of knowledge, unaware of its relevance today. This supports much of the literature that discusses the scholarship of teaching and learning and the development of a 'T' shaped scholar, cognisant of knowledge in breadth and depth, agile for today's workforce (Martin & Rees, 2019). Extending academic practice beyond vertical discipline expertise towards additional cross-sectional competencies equips learners to navigate or respond to wicked problems more effectively.

The freedom to keep moving feeds a growth mindset. One might call on the notion of these 'Undercover Academics' as rogues and disrespectful of organisational frameworks within which they are employed. The truth could not be further from this. These academics seek ways to survive, remain relevant, 'be cool,' and be engaged in an environment deconstructing around them. How do you respond to change? You move with it. These academics acknowledge the necessity of moving with the times, connecting more intimately with learners, and developing solutions for the faceless learner. The innovative practitioner believes in higher education for social good. They are willing to invest time and effort, often bereft of recognition, in finding ways to connect content and students to enable deeper learning. However, academics must maintain a novel experience relevant to learners at the heart of these changes. Fraser (2019) alerts academics to the risks of taking on an additional workload, reducing the focus on discipline research, and heightening public failure of new practice. However, in the view of participants in this study, this risk is inconsequential. They believe innovative practice is essential to avoiding obsolescence or irrelevance of education.

The role of teaching academics is changing. In this study, academics acknowledged differences amongst their peers, claiming evidence of tenure, research orientation, and an aging workforce as restrictive in evolving innovative practice. That is not to say that longer serving research-focused or older academics cannot innovate, only that from their experience, these identities are less inclined to do so. Perhaps changes in career structure are needed to support and foster entrepreneurial academics. An initial statement from Enders and Musselin (2008) claimed that higher education needed revaluating to better equip itself for responding to educational challenges has, to an extent, fallen on deaf ears. Respondents contend that academics risk being replaced by YouTube or Wikipedia. They are concerned that such sources of information lack credibility or reliability, and one-way consumption of data reduces fair consideration and due diligence in the acquisition of knowledge.

The need for academic practice that fosters critical engagement with knowledge instead of simply its transfer gives foundational support towards an innovative practice that achieves such outcomes. That knowledge is easily located via the Internet is clear. However, such knowledge does not sufficiently prepare students for an unpredictable future in how they might discover or produce new knowledge (Stalheim, 2020). Education can add value through critical evaluation and extension, beyond relying on it simply being available, to eventually arrive at a point of knowing and understanding. This is not limited to traditional delivery modes (Itow, 2020). Many of the innovative applications revealed among these respondents sought to engage students in this learning outcome.

Employment strategies can support or constrain innovative practice. In this study, academics suggest that the 'research professor' is ill-equipped for agility in the face of pedagogical change. This is likely for those immersed in traditional research advancing a discipline instead of research in the scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL). Respondents determinedly choose to work in institutions that value andragogy, are flexible, enable change, and open their arms to investing in the agency of their appointments. While Macfarlane (2011a) discussed the unbundling of academic roles towards artisanal roles that might provide the support academics needed to innovate (Brew et al., 2018), this research suggests such moves are irrelevant. This is a valuable insight as institutions turn to weighty administrative appointments to streamline activities yet disconnect the practitioner from opportunities to ideate and innovate. The individual and their capacity as an active educator, interested instigator of knowledge, and undercover academic appear essential for innovative practice to evolve and extend. Most academics interviewed in this study are not under threat of casualisation due largely to their length of service in academia. However, those more recently appointed did act in more cautionary ways. This suggests an impact on innovative practice exists due to the specifics of their appointment. The risk factors are higher, and personal agency is lower. These

newer academics look to structure and boundaries to ascertain the realm of contemporary practice. It is challenging to academia, for with the novelty of new appointments comes a fresh perspective. If these risks increase for the newly recruited faculty member, universities run the danger of remaining agile enough to cope sufficiently with external and internal challenges.

New practice is situated across multiple perspectives and aspects related to teaching. It lies in curriculum, technology, andragogy, and collaboration. Novel practice looks to innovativeness in thought, use of content, method and strategy, resources, and evaluation. Irrespective of focus or approach, as clearly illustrated in this research, individual academics are central to evolving academia. In knowing this, the innovation framework (Kahn, 2018) benefits from modifications that recognise and emphasise this agency as critical to sustaining innovative practice's evolution (and the innovation itself). The advantage of individuals having agency and contextualising alternative learning methods can provide foundational support for agility within academic practice that extends above and beyond replication/introduction of others' new practices.

6 Conclusions

6.1 Contribution to new knowledge

The essence of innovative practice has been acknowledged in this study as aligning with the individual academic, reinforcing the importance of the first research question (RQ1) in seeking to understand how their identity aligns with innovative practice. Academics' expertise in discipline knowledge, crafting effective relationships with learners, adapting to technological changes, and collaborating with external stakeholders, were evident in shaping their educational responses for effective learning. However, their agency appeared to be what is most notable in underpinning their awareness and motivation to affect an innovative response.

In most instances in this study, there was no formal tipping point. No crescendo. No, Do or Die. Rather the innovative responses evolved naturally via agency and the academics' experiences in educating, their need to connect, via personal mandates evolving from their experiences, and through desire for meaningful work (Riivari et al., 2020).

Considering both the level of agency and innovativeness, findings suggest that innovative academics become activated when both components are high. This conclusion has been drawn from a new understanding of this relationship not previously expressed in the literature, adding to the original value of this research. As depicted by the Agency-Innovativeness relationship matrix (Figure 16), this relationship is relevant to how institutions might look to their sustainability in enabling individuals to develop high agency and a culture of innovativeness. Failure to acknowledge high levels of agency amongst innovatively activated academics could hinder their growth potential and sense of meaningfulness in work, resulting in disengagement with the organisation or defection.

Recognising the scope for innovative practice within the realms of individual contexts is important to acknowledge and addresses the second and third research questions (RQ2 & RQ3), which seek to know the ways academics are innovating and the key factors shaping those practices. As Blair (1998) claimed and supported herein (Figure 13: Summary of process variables for developing new practice), innovative practice was enabled in different ways and by different drivers. There was no singular reliance on technology to fuel new practices.

The range of innovative solutions applied by academics in this study was variable, drawing on the satisfaction of academics' basic needs to avoid boredom and achieve higher-order needs around knowledge and self-actualisation (Maslow, 1981). This finding indicated that innovative practice could occur at any level and was not reliant on higher order needs to contribute to authentic changes in academic practice. Addressing boredom by developing innovative teaching methods enabled academics to find meaningfulness in their work, extending their self-preservation and potential value to their organisation.

Regardless of its locus, the extent of innovative practice amongst this academic group was close to their identity as practitioners and within the four pillars initially introduced in the literature – collaboration, curriculum, andragogy, and technology. They drew on their own experiences identifying authentic alternative practices and acted largely independently of institutional influences but were aware of environmental resources. They were generally unimpeded by financial barriers or administrative cobwebs, looking instead to novel ways to address potential constraints. Their lack of conversation around leadership constraints also suggested that non-transactional approaches were absent, allowing instead for non-coercive managerial approaches that activated self-motivation amongst staff (Hansen & Pihl-Thingvad, 2019). This finding would support developing the individuals' license, or agency, to innovate (Owusu-Agyeman, 2019).

Arising from this investigation was understanding the alignment between agency and innovativeness and the essential role agency played in evolving innovative practices in higher education. This realisation has been conceptualised in an extended framework (**Error! Reference s ource not found.**), building on previous work by Kahn (2018, and emphasising agency. Awareness and motivation were also introduced as predeterminants for an innovative response. The findings indicated that agency allowed academics the opportunity to notice the potential for new practice, which, when aroused, elicited action. Evaluation was introduced as a necessary reflective measure to complete the framework, demonstrating its relevance to evolving agency levels.



Figure 18: Conceptual framework of evolving innovative practice in education

6.2 Observations aligned with the theory

This study has confirmed a focus on innovative practice toward socialisation and personal development, as Biesta (2016) asserted in assessing the purpose of Higher Education. While critical to higher education, accreditation was not central to innovative practice per se.

Academics evolving practices leaned toward the skills necessary for the 21st century (Harrigan & Hulbert, 2011) and varied learning methods to accommodate emerging problems created by digital divides and disparities amongst communities of learners and academics.

Drawing on initial calls (Boyer, 1996) to institutions to engage more closely with communities to better align with solutions to wicked societal problems, Ehlers (2020) claimed that higher education should equip students with adaptability to face society; and that the need for collaboration was evident. In this study, collaboration and relationships between academics and stakeholders benefitted when individual agency was high irrespective of who they were. This occurred when the individuals were activated in the way they worked. Agency could enable academics to find meaningfulness and empowerment, equipping them to adjust to environmental change, including claims of toxicity evolving in academia due to workforce casualisation (Bottrell & Manathunga, 2019). Thus, despite practices that might dehumanise academics, agency could ultimately contribute to their ability to respond more agilely and more innovatively in the face of such challenges.

A note of caution. Innovative practice could become an evolving wicked problem, polarising or siloing academics into different camps of academic practice not dissimilar to the researchteaching divide that currently exists within some higher education institutions. Ironically this research-teaching nexus has been acknowledged as challenging innovative practice in both time available to innovate and prioritisation. Most academics interviewed had purposefully chosen institutions with a strong industry connection and andragogical lens aligned with their perspectives on higher education, providing them the best opportunity to use resources (Serdyukov, 2017). Their choices insinuated an assumed value by the organisation for, and of, agency amongst academics. It also assumed an environment and leadership that enabled this. Such a choice supported the opportunity for effective education through the continual reshaping of practice and the idea of a triple helix approach to acquiring and developing knowledge (Yonezawa et al., 2020).

Mintz (2019) also called on innovative practices that extended beyond a single discipline focus toward a broader, more inclusive lens in society. Both calls are important to how institutions considered the boundaries within which academics felt able to operate. Acknowledging certain maintenance conditions was necessary to the academic role, but allowing and enabling individuality and diversity of perspective, and agency growth were also valuable to the craft of innovative practice. Housekeeping issues that prevented individuals from freeing themselves – time, motivation, or creativity – would quash attempts to realise alternative educational approaches. An appropriate leadership style that supported innovative behaviour was likely to be that of 'servant

leadership' wherein leaders were oriented toward employee development and wellbeing, listened and communicated well, focused on positive working environments, and used resources effectively to enable others (Aboramadan et al., 2020).

As many institutions structure towards centralising stakeholder relations for control and resource efficiencies, perhaps more consideration of the individual "shokunin" or artisanal appointments is warranted (Brew et al., 2018). Despite having agency to evolve practice, maybe some mechanisms could support the agent academic without quelling their innovative, pioneering practice or the institution's vision. Such support might be all that is needed to seed communities of novel practice more efficiently and effectively than the isolated practitioner. Examples could include allowing time for innovative thinking, seed funding for research of new ideas, or institutional events celebrating novel practice, i.e. cross-faculty conferences. There is a risk for the organisation in allowing organic innovative practice. Innovative practice is less likely to result if the scope of practice is outside the department's direction or contradictory to the current leadership vision and mission. However, when it's outside of traditional educational capacities but within the applications in society, the attempts appear to garner greater legitimacy and thus the opportunity for acceptance. Pioneering academics unself by looking to industry and collaborative partners for insight and validation in what and how they evolved practice (Olsson, 2018). This approach enables transformative education to develop, particularly relating to curriculum and andragogy (Summerlee, 2018). This is valuable in determining opportunities for the broader academic community, e.g. sharing resources, alternative class configurations, central intermediaries, assignment practice, or sponsored positions.

A collaborative and shared understanding of pathways for learning could help manage concern for risk and determine the locus for innovative applications. It could also increase the legitimacy of attempts to innovate by academics. This is important for institutions, particularly when recognising high degrees of agency assumed by innovative practitioners can potentially destabilise otherwise solid educational practices, i.e. when attempts to innovate are stymied.

The risk was evident not just in the idea for practice but in the process applied and the outcome that arises, as illustrated in the initial conceptual model for this study (Figure 6). Environmental conditions within the institution could support or constrain innovativeness (Jääskelä et al., 2017). This included applications and processes the provider offers, from the general working conditions to resources, norms, hierarchies, time, and structures. Looking to broaden interactions and expectations might help to manage those boundaries. For example, the literature specific to change in marketing practice revealed multiple benefits from external relationships, including

mutual understanding/development of goals, access to leading-edge technologies, and reducing education-practice gaps.

Similarly, a second example also alerted me to the need for a wide lens of comprehension in understanding the value of novel practice in and for society, alongside the need for alignment with existing content and the avoidance of silos. Internal collaborations across institutions, effective allocation of resources, and collective teaching models contributed to this. In determining these collaborations, the risk remains in the choice of partner, alignment with educational expectations, and overall academic fit. Tensions were likely to arise due to differences in the parties' individualistic vs. collectivist culture, in the realities of implementing novel ideas vs. expectations of processes, organisational support, outcomes, and the acceptance of oneself as an innovative practitioner.

The notion of innovative practice as providing meaningfulness to work (Riivari et al., 2020) was evidenced within this study by a group of largely individualistic practitioners. Despite acknowledging that rewards for innovative practice were limited and, in some cases, steered academics towards a discourse with limited career value, their intrinsic motivation provided these practitioners with self-fulfilment and higher levels of personal satisfaction. Those interviewed were generally accepting of the agency they had to be innovative. However, there was some evidence amongst the less experienced, and with it caution, in how they approached novel practice. For example, changes in context impacted how one academic was willing to be seen trialling new approaches. They had only recently shifted institutions, so they felt less confident in asserting their previously assumed agency. However, over time a collective efficacy is likely to integrate into their positions (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998).

While environmental conditions moderated the boundaries within which innovative practice evolves, this study reinforced the value of higher education in enabling 'undercover' academics to exist. In finding meaningfulness in work, these academics found their superpower. They stimulated learners, developed and harnessed inquiry, and contributed to evolving academic practice necessary to society, industry, and ourselves. In their alternate lens of higher education practice, these academics contributed to a more critical reflection in innovating ways, contributing to how learning and teaching evolved within academia.

6.3 Implications for practice

The findings emphasised the importance of the individual and their desire to find meaningfulness in their work as critical to enabling entrepreneurial practice. Academics needed to be assured of a breadth of responsibility for this to continue. Managerial approaches benefitted from being aligned with servant leadership styles (or similar). This leadership style enabled, supported, and facilitated innovative practice (Aboramadan et al., 2020) while also acting as gatekeepers and advocates against restrictive policies that ultimately challenged the level of self-efficacy assumed.

Formal processes for sharing and learning novel approaches have had variable success in diffusing new practices according to the social capital assumed by individuals, with dyadic relationships recognised as highly valuable in seeding early stages of evolvement (Han et al., 2020). The research indicated that agential academics were likely to seek solutions instead of attending formal workshops. Thus, in enabling the initial introduction of new practice, the University would benefit from allowing trial and error within a safe environment. It would also benefit from cross-disciplinary discussions, as valuable insights could be gained from different applications and contexts. Such was the case here, where I have identified opportunities for innovating within marketing education due to the shared insights provided by participants. This research has revealed that innovative marketing education practices benefit from considering non-marketing applications.

Once the practice has been understood, and outcomes successfully determined, more formal attempts to broaden the practice are warranted. However, in some cases, an organic adoption network may prove more successful. Intrinsic motivation was high for innovative practitioners. They 'do' because they wanted to and valued the meaningful work this provided for them. Intimately sharing experiences with smaller collectives, i.e. personal knowledge networks (Han et al., 2020), could give them greater opportunity to self-actualise. The development of mechanistic systems and processes is likely to dehumanise education and disable meaningful work by entrepreneurial academics.

Various alternative solutions were introduced in earlier discussions, drawing on the environment, collaborations, assessment, co-creation, creativity, and technology. For each of these, recommendations could be made to enable wider adoption within the university. Any attempt should be mindful of the individual and collective agency assumed by academics and departments to avoid rigid structures' restrictions (Kunnari & Ilomäki, 2016). However, these structures may be directed towards the diffusion of innovations and the formalisation of practices to gain wider acceptance and advance higher education practice. As is expected in such circumstances, more formal workshops and guidelines would assist in decision-making, e.g. choice of partner for collaboration, use of new technology, etc. Such guidelines enable faculty to make more informed decisions and ultimately reduce erroneous experimentation and decision-making.

Central to all the examples in this study was a focus on social constructivism for learning and academics as the source of innovation. Critical to any effective solution was how it was carefully unpacked with the expectations of all stakeholders and managed accordingly. Using my university as an example, it is feasible that most of these solutions could be adopted within my academic marketing department, particularly given they could occur within the designated activities associated with my educational role. The single practice that management might challenge would likely be the novel approach to assessment and the need to assure equity and parity across courses and students.



Figure 19: Summary of process variables for developing new practice

Recommendations for adoption realised through interviewees in this study acknowledged numerous process variables for shaping new practices, as shown in Figure 19. Due to the individual being such a critical focus for innovative practice, these variables were largely focused on how they worked through evolving academia instead of an organisational perspective. While Elmore (1996) claimed that incentive structures were warranted, intrinsic factors were more prevalent for these academics. Each of these identified process variables should be considered in how they aid individuals' translation and embedding of innovative practice.

Evolving educational practice benefits from the right environment to cultivate innovative activity. Figure 20 introduces factors important for the translation of innovative practice within an institution. In seeking to know others' experiences innovating within higher education, this study has determined what is needed for innovative practice to evolve beyond the scope of those interviewed.



Figure 20: Conditions for innovative practice

6.4 Researchers' reflection

When I began this study, I assumed that I could begin to know solutions to develop new and novel practice within my context by understanding how academics evolve academic practice. I focused on the outcome, the innovation and why, and the educational process to enable new practices. By asking academics directly about their experiences, I anticipated realising similarities and triggering points to draw on in personally effecting novel practice. I expected to uncover tricks and tips for managing resource and institutional constraints in shaping practice and highlighting unconsidered processes to achieving transformation within higher education. I also anticipated that innovative practice was prevalent in academia as an organic, unassuming practice underneath it all. I sought to do so because I believe that innovative practice is necessary for the evolvement of education, particularly given the changing 21st Century landscape and the massification of Higher Education. For these reasons, undertaking this study was important to understand how academia evolves and what lay ahead for me in finding meaningfulness in my career.

What I have discovered is more valuable than I originally conceived. I have gained an immense appreciation of the role of agency in evolving innovative practice. I have affirmed some of my original assumptions regarding innovative practice as organic evolution, and I have extended my understanding of the criticality of agency in evolving practice. I assumed that the individual had a lot to do with how new practices were trialled and developed. But like Kahn (2018), I focused on

perspectives of the innovation itself, the bright shiny button. I have recognised the academic role is important, but this agency has been illuminated. If I can know my agency, if I can centre myself on this core, then novel organic practice could have the potential to be both recognised and evolved.

This research has confirmed my understanding of the range of different applications within which innovative practice is seeded. Technology is not absolute in how future innovative practice must be centred. Perhaps in some instances, technology may even be the wicked problem that constrains innovative practice and dampens personal agency via increasing workloads and burnouts as academics seek to remain agile and current in technology. COVID19 is a further example of where immediate changes in course delivery using technology were necessary to enable learning during campus closures. However, in a rush to adapt to distance and remote delivery via learning and adopting new (innovative) technologies, the individuals' capacity for agency is likely to have been impacted. Understanding how workload and different teaching practices affect agency might contribute to how academics could be managed for evolving sustainable educational responses.

I have understood contextual and organisational boundaries can contribute to the degree and locus of attempts to introduce new teaching practice, and consideration must be made of those factors. As an academic in a young university, working within a discipline that is continuing to move at pace, I feel comforted by the extent to which others are evolving practice. Originally, I sought to know ground-breaking practice, anticipating identifying exciting, leading-edge solutions for integration into my practice. My research has led me down a different pathway. To begin understanding how marketing education might be innovated, I have realised there is no magic solution. Still, there is the agency, and agency is necessary to remove chains of replication that can constrain innovative practice. I find this somewhat challenging as I struggle to reconcile my experiences in differing leadership styles and how they have impacted my sense of agency. Current institutional climates where academics are more distanced, choosing to work remotely, and engaging less in spontaneous interactions, are also compromising levels of agency. Understanding this change in academic work practices may lead to new knowledge enabling agency for innovativeness in education.

Many changes occur within marketing in society, driven by advancements in technology and adjusted skillsets for emerging roles within the discipline. But this is the nature of knowledge. These changes must be reflected in higher education such that our roles as educators remain relevant. In my understanding, the reality of an emergent innovative practice that advances higher education lies predominantly not with the solution per se but with the individual academic and their agency for evolving practice that ultimately benefits society. The individual, self-efficacy, and agency in

assuming a legitimate power to introduce new perspectives in higher education must be supported and enabled.

6.5 Reflections on research methodology

In focusing the literature review on a specific focus on marketing education, I developed an understanding of innovative practice within my discipline. In drawing on these insights and a framework of innovation (Kahn, 2018), I moved partially towards triangulating my primary research findings via in-depth interviews. Originally, I sought to study four examples of innovative marketing education practices through initial interviews and case analysis. However, access to participants was challenging largely due to COVID19 and increasing demands on academics. I drew on specific journal publications, blogs, and other secondary sources associated with the chosen examples. This limited my attempt to utilise an innovative two-stage methodology focused on marketing education and individual experiences (the sample). However, I advanced my understanding of the novel practice by gathering secondary data sources, specifically on the four examples of innovative marketing practices. I prepared myself for conducting the primary interviews.

The COVID19 pandemic impacted the data collection stage of this thesis. Most data were collected between December 2019 and April 2020, when the pandemic was firmly taking hold worldwide. Campus closures and changes in working environments meant that academics were confronted with working differently, which contributed to some realisations they acknowledged (but otherwise may not have, had the pandemic not occurred). This event may have impacted an individual's ability to recall some of the criticality of events in innovating, and I reflected on this as I reviewed each of the interviews and transcripts. I had to maintain an awareness of how their data was being interpreted.

Using Zoom to conduct the interviews was an efficient mode for data collection in the way that I was able to record interviews and replay for transcribing and quality checks. It was also necessary given that this study covered multiple continents and was largely conducted when international borders were closing in response to COVID19.

In-depth interviews were highly appropriate to the purpose of this study. Although I predominantly only ever saw the head/shoulders of my respondents, I was still able to ascertain the passion and emotion associated with each response, enabling me to gain a greater sense of understanding of their perspective.

6.6 Limitations

This study has sought to explore academic experiences of innovative practice. As with many studies, it is limited by several factors that ultimately provide the opportunity for additional research. Firstly, as an exploratory study, these results are not generalisable to a wider population, in essence, because of the sample size of 15 and applied qualitative design. I interviewed self-identified innovative practitioners identified through the literature, personal networks, and conference attendance. This group provided individual perspectives limited to those from an academic lens. While the data was rich and revealed their experiences, the inclusion of management and administrative staff would have contributed to a wider understanding of the nuances in practice. The literature indicated additional factors important to shaping innovative practice, which would have been included in this wider participation scope.

The sample crossed multiple continents and included different disciplines, career stages, ethnicity, and gender of respondents. However, key heterogeneous differences were not strongly evident due to the small sample size. Future research might consider cross-cultural comparisons to understand more in this domain.

A focus on individual perspectives gave rise to agency in the context of the individual rather than a shared agency. In taking this approach, consideration of structural issues was limited.

This research included novel innovative practices of these respondents instead of cuttingedge examples. In this way, the choice of the sample may have precluded findings that did not reveal a critical moment in the course of innovating. The realisation of agency is a key outcome. Future studies might emphasize cases where the degree of innovation was more significant; however, the individual academic perspective may become less evident, overshadowing the important findings that this study has revealed.

As an academic researcher within academia, I may have been biased on my chosen themes. I attempted to manage this by using both an inductive and deductive approach to analysis. I further tried to resolve my proximity to the study by drawing on an innovation framework (Kahn, 2018) alongside additional literature when shaping my questions.

6.7 Dissemination and impact on practitioner research

My research sought to uncover insights from this study to inform practice, particularly how I could draw on these results to inform my practice and others. Beyond the suggestions I proposed within this conclusion, my final thoughts focus on 'How might agency be developed?'

My study has revealed a focus on enabling innovative practice in higher education that will benefit from high levels of agency amongst academics. Irrespective of the concentration of innovativeness, i.e. collaboration, curriculum, andragogy, or technology, my findings suggest managerial and organisational approaches that value and enable individual agency can benefit from the alternative perspectives such agency can help flourish. How can we begin to evolve this? And importantly, how can I begin to develop this within my context?

I have found that formal and informal channels are equally valuable for embedding novel views. Furthermore, my attempts to innovate within educational practice can be used to assist wider recognition and adoption of new practices by my institution. I should not shy away from either channel, as adopter or instigator, in contributing to developments within educational practice. This means I need to be more aware and encourage others to be involved in innovating educational practice, e.g. promoting workshops, speaking engagements, and other on-campus or marketplace initiatives. If not personally leading these, then I need to encourage the adoption of this practice within the department as part of regular group communications.

The emphasis on how each academic's agency can be developed signals valuable insights into enriching academic practice and organisational sustainability. I believe that this can be done effectively through open discussions around agency, i.e. what it is and how it can be enhanced, through individual development opportunities, i.e. one-to-one mentoring or leadership. I have recognised that the internal culture of the environment and 'fitness' for agency and its activation by practitioners are equally important to this.

As educators, I and others in the field can also be innovative in embedding desire and drive for alternative practices that benefit differing educational contexts. I encourage institutions to look at relevant educational conferences targeting early-career academics and ways to nurture agency and identity through such opportunities. Alternatively, I am looking at options to develop an 'academic survival kit' specific to my institution, revealing insights into the academic journey. This kind of toolkit can contribute to how new academics understand, view, and develop their agency. It is more than induction into educational practice within the institution. It can draw on the insights revealed in my study to provide new academics with a vision of academic practice with sustainability at its core.

I encourage a greater level of awareness of ways to develop agency through informational materials (Appendix 3: Infographic) or perhaps through developing a board game, 'The World of Academia,' an educator-focused version of the Milton Bradley 1960's board game: 'The Game of Life ©.' In place of children, marriage, houses, and life, the game would focus on the educational journey of academics, i.e., promotions, publishing, student ratings, sabbaticals, and conferences

alongside challenging decisions (problems and opportunities) which prompt early-career academics to begin to consider their positionality and their journey ahead. I have already started conversations with colleagues regarding this idea, and they have recognised the merits of its potential. I have also shared my infographic with others through an internal department presentation, and I am proud to see this poster now displayed in many of my colleagues' offices. I have received feedback that this is a good prompt to how they are thinking about their practice as marketing educators. I will look to refine and develop this further for wider dissemination within the institution.

The need to disseminate these research findings is clear to me. That promotion to managerial roles is often made without academics having managerial expertise or experience further supports the need for alternative channels of enabling agency amongst academics if we are to achieve innovative practice. Failure to help individual academics realise their potential, or even their agency, can constrain academic practice in unsustainable and potentially destructive ways. I believe academic practice must continue to evolve; standing still is not an option.

Agency is significant. It has taken me 21 years as a marketing academic to realise this is my challenge. Improved mentoring, greater collaborative support networks, and institutional policies that emphasise the academic identity beyond research generator, and channels to nurture agency, have the power to equip all of us in education with the tools to navigate change. These tools maximise our ability to respond to challenges and add value to how we can each contribute towards an evolving educational practice, benefitting learners, institutions, and society.

6.8 Future Research and Conclusions



Figure 21: Conceptual framework of evolving innovative practice in education

Reflecting on my findings, research that seeks to explore the proposed framework of evolving innovative practice in education (**Error! Reference source not found.**) might provide a dditional insights into the specifics of the relationship between elements, obtaining a more concrete understanding of the impact of each.

Individual differences in context can also be determined yet restricted in this study due to methodology and sample size. Additionally, an investigation into how innovative practice is diffused through institutions vis-à-vis leadership can also enrich this investigation area.

Innovative practice is essential in the desire to advance higher education to pursue all its intended aims. In comprehending agency's role and importance in organically evolving academic practice, we can understand the need for institutions to embrace organisational practices that exemplify and support developing agency.

Further investigation of the proposed Agency-Innovation matrix as a useful tool for guiding and supporting innovative practice in Higher Education might benefit various stakeholders, including practitioners, managers, and collaborative partners.

Having completed this study, I have been reawakened to my potential and the potential that I can be. My agency is fuelled by the realisation I can be the change I wish to see in academia.

7 References

- Aamodt, P. O., Reiling, R. B., Bjørnstad, S., Snåre, M., & Finnanger, E. (2016). Comparing Costs Between Higher Education Institutions in Norway. In R. M. O. Pritchard, A. Pausits, & J. Williams (Eds.), *Positioning Higher Education Institutions: From Here to There* (pp. 247-263). SensePublishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-660-6_14</u>
- Aboramadan, M., Dahleez, K., & Hamad, M. (2020, 2020/11/01). Servant leadership and academics' engagement in higher education: mediation analysis. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, *42*(6), 617-633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2020.1774036</u>
- Ackerman, D. S., & Hu, J. (2011, 2011/12/01). Effect of Type of Curriculum on Educational Outcomes and Motivation Among Marketing Students With Different Learning Styles. *Journal of Marketing Education, 33*(3), 273-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475311420233</u>
- Agle, B. R., & Caldwell, C. B. (1999). Understanding Research on Values in Business [Article]. *Business & Society, 38*(3), 326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/000765039903800305</u>
- Akerlind, G. (2012). Variation and commonality in phenomenological research methods. *Higher Education Research & Development, 31,* 115-117. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360500284672</u>
- Al-Husseini, S., El Beltagi, I., & Moizer, J. (2019). Transformational leadership and innovation: the mediating role of knowledge sharing amongst higher education faculty. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 1-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1588381</u>
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies, 5*(2), 9-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9</u>
- Albers-Miller, N. D., Straughan, R. D., & Prenshaw, P. J. (2001). Exploring Innovative Teaching among Marketing Educators: Perceptions of Innovative Activities and Existing Reward and Support Programs. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 23(3), 249-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475301233010</u>
- Allen, D., Baker, T., & Rootes, D. (2014). Becoming a nursing and social work student an interpretive phenomenological analysis of interprofessional education. *Journal of Research in Interprofessional Practice and Education*, 4(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.22230/jripe.2014v4n1a147
- Altbach, P., & de Wit, H. (2020). Postpandemic outlook for higher education is bleakest for the poorest. *International Higher Education*(102), 3-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.36197/IHE.2020.102.01</u>
- Altbach, P., & Lewis, L. (1995). Faculty versus Administration: A Universal Problem. *International Higher Education*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.6017/ihe.1995.2.6175</u>
- Amabile, T. M. (1997, Fall97). Motivating Creativity in Organizations: ON DOING WHAT YOU LOVE AND LOVING WHAT YOU DO [Article]. *California Management Review, 40*(1), 39-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41165921</u>

- Amorim Neto, R. d. C., Rodrigues, V. P., Stewart, D., Xiao, A., & Snyder, J. (2018, 2018/05/01/). The influence of self-efficacy on entrepreneurial behavior among K-12 teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *72*, 44-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.02.012</u>
- Annala, J., Lindén, J., Mäkinen, M., & Henriksson, J. (2021). Understanding academic agency in curriculum change in higher education. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1881772</u>
- Annala, J., Mäkinen, M., Lindén, J., & Henriksson, J. (2020). Change and stability in academic agency in higher education curriculum reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2020.1836261</u>
- Annells, M. (2006). Triangulation of qualitative approaches: hermeneutical phenomenology and grounded theory. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *56*(1), 55-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03979.x</u>
- Anteby, M., & Occhiuto, N. (2020). Stand-in labor and the rising economy of self. *Social Forces, 98*(3), 1287-1310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soz028</u>
- Appel, J., & Kim-Appel, D. (2018). Towards a Transdisciplinary View: Innovations in Higher Educat. International Journal of Teaching and Education, 6(2), 61-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.20472/TE.2018.6.2.00</u>
- Apuke, O. D., & Iyendo, T. O. (2018, 2018/12/01/). University students' usage of the internet resources for research and learning: forms of access and perceptions of utility. *Heliyon*, 4(12), e01052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e01052</u>
- Atiku, S. O., & Anane-simon, R. (2020). Leadership and Innovative Approaches in Higher Education. In *Quality Management Principles and Policies in Higher Education* (pp. 83-100). IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-1017-9.ch005</u>
- AUT. (n.d.). Sustainability at AUT. <u>https://www.aut.ac.nz/about/social-responsibility/sustainability-at-aut</u>
- Babić, V., & Nedelko, Z. (Eds.). (2020). *Handbook of Research on Enhancing Innovation in Higher Education Institutions*. IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-2708-5</u>.
- Baliga, R. (2020). Challenges Confronting Higher Education: Prospects for and Obstacles to Innovation. In B. Verica & N. Zlatko (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Enhancing Innovation in Higher Education Institutions* (pp. 26-48). IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-2708-5.ch002</u>
- Bannan-Ritland, B. (2003). The role of design in research: The integrative learning design framework. *Educational researcher, 32*(1), 21-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X032001021</u>
- Bates, T. (2010). New challenges for universities: Why they must change. In *Changing cultures in higher education* (pp. 15-25). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-03582-1_2</u>

- Baumeister, R. F. (2016). Toward a general theory of motivation: Problems, challenges, opportunities, and the big picture. *Motivation and Emotion, 40*(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-015-9521-y</u>
- Berg, M., & Seeber, B. K. (2016). *The slow professor: Challenging the culture of speed in the academy*. University of Toronto Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12321</u>
- Biesta, G. (2015). What Is Education For? On Good Education, Teacher Judgement, and Educational Professionalism. *European Journal of Education*, *50*(1), 75-87. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12109
- Biesta, G. (2016). The Rediscovery of Teaching: On robot vacuum cleaners, non-egological education and the limits of the hermeneutical world view. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 48*(4), 374-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2015.1041442</u>
- Billot, J. (2010). The imagined and the real: identifying the tensions for academic identity. *Higher Education Research & Development, 29*(6), 709-721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2010.487201</u>
- Blair, E., & Briggs, G. (2019). A tribe hidden in plain sight: the ambiguous role of the instructor in a Caribbean university. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management, 41*(3), 292-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2019.1596388
- Blair, M. M. (1998). For whom should corporations be run?: An economic rationale for stakeholder management. *Long Range Planning, 31*(2), 195-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-6301(98)00003-X</u>
- Bøe, T., Gulbrandsen, B., & Sørebø, Ø. (2015, 2015/09/01/). How to stimulate the continued use of ICT in higher education: Integrating Information Systems Continuance Theory and agency theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 50, 375-384. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.084
- Bottrell, D., & Manathunga, C. (2019). Shedding light on the cracks in neoliberal universities. In *Resisting Neoliberalism in Higher Education Volume I* (pp. 1-33). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95942-9_1</u>
- Bourdieu, P. (1990). *The logic of practice*. Stanford university press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781503621749
- Bowden, J. A. (2000). The nature of phenomenographic research. *Phenomenography*, 154, 1-18.
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Sage.
- Boyer, E. L. (1996). The scholarship of engagement. *Bulletin of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, 49*(7), 18-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3824459</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021, 2021/03/04). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13*(2), 201-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846</u>
- Brennan, L., Lu, V. N., & von der Heidt, T. (2018). Transforming Marketing Education: Historical, Contemporary and Future Perspectives. *Australasian Marketing Journal, 26*(2), 65-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.05.011</u>
- Brettel, M., Oswald, M., & Flatten, T. (2012). Alignment of market orientation and innovation as a success factor: A five-country study. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 24*(2), 151-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2012.647640</u>
- Brew, A., Boud, D., Lucas, L., & Crawford, K. (2018, July 01). Academic artisans in the research university [journal article]. *Higher Education*, 76(1), 115-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0200-7</u>
- Briggs, A. R. J. (2007, 2007/11/01). Exploring professional identities: middle leadership in further education colleges. *School Leadership & Management, 27*(5), 471-485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13632430701606152</u>
- Bruce, M. (2018). Motivation, Major and Marketing: How do simulations impact student learning? Marketing Educators Association, Santa Fe, New Mexico.
- Buckley, S. (2012, 2012/08/01). Higher education and knowledge sharing: from ivory tower to twenty-first century. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 49*(3), 333-344. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2012.703015
- Buechler, C., Kromrei, H. T., & Hall, L. M. (2020). Enhancing Student Engagement in Wayne State University School of Medicine (WSUSOM) Curriculum Design, Development, Evaluation, and Implementation. *Medical Student Research Symposium*, 1. <u>https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/som_srs/1</u>
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper & Row.
- Busso, S., & Rivetti, P. (2014). What's love got to do with it? Precarious academic labour forces and the role of passion in Italian universities. *Recherches sociologiques et anthropologiques*, 45(45-2), 15-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/rsa.1243</u>
- Cai, Y. (2017). From an analytical framework for understanding the innovation process in higher education to an emerging research field of innovations in higher education. *The Review of Higher Education*, 40(4), 585-616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2017.0023</u>.
- Cantrell, K., & Palmer, K. (2019). The casualties of academia: A real conversation about the 'benefits' of casualisation in our universities. *Advocate*, *26*(2), 24-25. <u>https://search.informit.org/doi/epdf/10.3316/informit.524337516022334</u>
- Catterall, K., Mickenberg, J., & Reddick, R. (2019, Summer 2019). Design Thinking, Collaborative Innovation, and Neoliberal Disappointment: Cruel Optimism in the History and Future of Higher Education. *Radical Teacher* (114), 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.5195/rt.2019.548</u>

- Cerna, L. (2014). Innovation, Governance and Reform in Education: CERI Conference Background Paper. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- Chang, Y.-C., Chang, H.-T., Chi, H.-R., Chen, M.-H., & Deng, L.-L. (2012). How do established firms improve radical innovation performance? The organizational capabilities view. *Technovation*, 32(7-8), 441-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2012.03.001</u>
- Chankseliani, M., Qoraboyev, I., & Gimranova, D. (2021, 2021/01/01). Higher education contributing to local, national, and global development: new empirical and conceptual insights. *Higher Education*, *81*(1), 109-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00565-8</u>
- Chatterjee, S., Moody, G., Lowry, P. B., Chakraborty, S., & Hardin, A. (2020). Information Technology and organizational innovation: Harmonious information technology affordance and couragebased actualization. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 29*(1), 101596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2020.101596</u>
- Chelliah, J., & Clarke, E. (2011). Collaborative teaching and learning: overcoming the digital divide? On the Horizon. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/10748121111179402</u>
- Chen, K.-D., & Huang, Y.-Y. (2017). A coordinative mechanism of career coaching practice in innovativeness and creativity training programs in higher education – a case study [JOURNAL]. International Journal of Innovation Science(3), 283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJIS-03-2017-0023</u>
- Cheng, Y. C., Cheung, A. C. K., & Ng, S. W. (2016). Internationalisation of higher education: Conceptualization, typology and issues. *Internationalization of Higher Education*, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-667-6_1</u>
- Chonko, L. B. (2003, 2003/03/01). A Look to the Future of Marketing Education: Observations of One Teacher-Researcher Curmudgeon. *Marketing Education Review*, 13(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2003.11488806</u>
- Choudaha, R., & van Rest, E. (2018). Envisioning Pathways to 2030: Megatrends Shaping the Future of Global Higher Education and International Student Mobility. *Online Submission*. <u>https://studyportals.com/2018-megatrends-higher-education-webinar/</u>
- Christensen, C. M., & Eyring, H. J. (2011). *The innovative university: Changing the DNA of higher education from the inside out*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Christensen, M., Aronsson, G., Clausen, T., Hakanen, J., & Straume, L. V. (2012). Building engagement and healthy organisations. A test of the Nordic questionnaire on Positive Organisational psychology (N-POP). *Health promotion–theory and practice*, 25-36. <u>https://www.ntnu.edu/documents/16848459/0/Health+Promotion+-</u> <u>+Theory+and+Practice.pdf#page=26</u>
- Christensen, M., Dyrstad, J. M., & Innstrand, S. T. (2020). Academic work engagement, resources and productivity: empirical evidence with policy implications. *Studies in Higher Education*, 45(1), 86-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1517304</u>

- Cibangu, S. K., & Hepworth, M. (2016, 2016/04/01/). The uses of phenomenology and phenomenography: A critical review. *Library & Information Science Research*, *38*(2), 148-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2016.05.001
- Couros, G. (2015). The innovator's mindset. San Diego, CA: Dave Burgess Consulting.
- Cranmer, S., & Lewin, C. (2017, 2017/08/08). iTEC: conceptualising, realising and recognising pedagogical and technological innovation in European classrooms. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education, 26*(4), 409-423. https://doi.org/10.1080/1475939X.2017.1299791
- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five approaches.* (Fourth ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2008). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*. Prentince Hall.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage publications.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. Sage.
- Curnalia, R. M. L., & Mermer, D. (2018, 2018/04/03). Renewing our commitment to tenure, academic freedom, and shared governance to navigate challenges in higher education. *Review of Communication*, 18(2), 129-139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15358593.2018.1438645</u>
- Curtis, B., & Matthewman, S. (2005). The managed university: the PBRF, its impacts and staff attitudes. *New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations, 30*(2), 1.
- Cutcliffe, J. R. (2003). Reconsidering reflexivity: Introducing the case for intellectual entrepreneurship. *Qualitative Health Research, 13*(1), 136-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732302239416</u>
- Dallyn, S. (2011). Innovation and financialisation: Unpicking a close association. *Ephemera: Theory & Politics in Organization, 11*(3), 289.
- Day, G. S. (1994). Continuous learning about markets. *California Management Review, 36*(4), 9-31. https://doi.org/10.2307/41165764
- de la Torre, E. M., Rossi, F., & Sagarra, M. (2019, 2019/12/02). Who benefits from HEIs engagement? An analysis of priority stakeholders and activity profiles of HEIs in the United Kingdom. *Studies in Higher Education, 44*(12), 2163-2182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1479847</u>
- De Silva, M., Howells, J., & Meyer, M. (2018). Innovation intermediaries and collaboration: Knowledge–based practices and internal value creation. *Research Policy*, *47*(1), 70-87. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.09.011</u>
- Dede, C. J., & Richards, J. (2020). *The 60-Year Curriculum: New Models for Lifelong Learning in the Digital Economy*. Routledge.
- Devloo, T. (2014). Intrinsic motivation and innovative work behavior revisited: reciprocal relationships at different stages of the innovation process Ghent University]. <u>https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/4298603/file/4298641</u>
- Dirk, W. P., & Gelderblom, D. (2017). Higher education policy change and the hysteresis effect: Bourdieusian analysis of transformation at the site of a post-apartheid university. *Higher Education*, 74(2), 341-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0051-7</u>
- Dowling, M. (2007, 01 / 01 /). From Husserl to van Manen. A review of different phenomenological approaches [Article]. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 44*(1), 131-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.11.026</u>
- Downs, Y. (2017). Neoliberalism and the Value of Higher Education. In T. Rudd & I. F. Goodson (Eds.), *Negotiating Neoliberalism: Developing Alternative Educational Visions* (pp. 59-70). SensePublishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-854-9_5</u>
- Drennan, J., Clarke, M., Hyde, A., & Politis, Y. (2017). Academic Identity in Higher Education. In J. C. Shin & P. Teixeira (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of International Higher Education Systems and Institutions* (pp. 1-6). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9553-</u> <u>1_300-1</u>
- Driscoll, A. (2008). Carnegie's community-engagement classification: Intentions and insights. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 40*(1), 38-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.3200/CHNG.40.1.38-41</u>
- Du Toit, A. (2000). Knowledge management: an indispensable component of the strategic plan of South African universities. *South African journal of education, 20*(3), 187-191.
- Dumont, H., Istance, D., & Benavides, F. (2010). *The nature of learning : using research to inspire practice* [Electronic document]. OECD Pub. <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/ceri/50300814.pdf</u>
- Edwards-Schachter, M. (2018, 2018/06/01/). The nature and variety of innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Studies*, 2(2), 65-79. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijis.2018.08.004
- Ehlers, U.-D. (2020). *Future skills: The future of learning and higher education*. BoD–Books on Demand.
- Ehlers, U. (2010). Innovation and Quality for New Learning Cultures Springer.
- Elena, F. (2017). Entrepreneurial Curriculum through Digital-Age Learning in Higher Education A Process-based Model [article]. *TEM Journal*(3), 591. <u>https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM63-22</u>
- Elmore, R. (1996). Getting to scale with good educational practice. *Harvard educational review*, 66(1), 1-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.66.1.g73266758j348t33</u>
- Elrehail, H., Emeagwali, O. L., Alsaad, A., & Alzghoul, A. (2018, 2018/04/01/). The impact of Transformational and Authentic leadership on innovation in higher education: The contingent role of knowledge sharing. *Telematics and Informatics, 35*(1), 55-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.09.018

- Emirbayer, M., & Mische, A. (1998). What is agency? *American journal of sociology, 103*(4), 962-1023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/231294</u>
- Enders, J., & Musselin, C. (2008). Back to the future? The academic professions in the 21st century. *Higher Education to 2030*(1), 125-150. <u>https://spire.sciencespo.fr/hdl:/2441/f0uohitsgqh8dhk97i61h4lcm/resources/enders-</u> <u>musselin-clean-dl-svl2.pdf</u>
- Erickson, M., Hanna, P., & Walker, C. (2020). The UK higher education senior management survey: a statactivist response to managerialist governance. *Studies in Higher Education*, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1712693</u>
- Etherington, M. (2019). The Challenge with Educational Transformation. *Journal of Culture and Values in Education*, 2(1), 96-112. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/210577/</u>
- Etzkowitz, H., Webster, A., Gebhardt, C., & Terra, B. R. C. (2000, 2000/02/01/). The future of the university and the university of the future: evolution of ivory tower to entrepreneurial paradigm. *Research Policy*, *29*(2), 313-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(99)00069-4</u>
- Evers, W. J. G., Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2002). Burnout and self-efficacy: A study on teachers' beliefs when implementing an innovative educational system in the Netherlands. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 72, 227-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709902158865</u>
- Finch, D., Nadeau, J., & O'Reilly, N. (2013). The Future of Marketing Education: A Practitioner's Perspective. Journal of Marketing Education, 35(1), 54-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475312465091
- Fischbach, S., Labban, A., & Bauer, S. (2018). Virtual Reality in the Marketing Classroom. Marketing Educators' Association, Phoenix, Arizona.
- Fischer, C. T. (2009). Bracketing in qualitative research: Conceptual and practical matters. *Psychotherapy Research*, 19(4-5), 583-590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300902798375</u>
- Fitzgerald, H. E., Bruns, K., Sonka, S. T., Furco, A., & Swanson, L. (2019). The centrality of engagement in higher education. *Building the Field of Higher Education Engagement: Foundational Ideas and Future Directions*.
- Fraser, S. (2019). Understanding innovative teaching practice in higher education: a framework for reflection. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 38(7), 1371-1385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1654439</u>
- Freire, P. (1972). Pedagogy of the oppressed Harmondsworth. Penguin.
- Friga, P. N. (2020). Under Covid-19, university budgets like we've never seen before. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. <u>https://f.hubspotusercontent00.net/hubfs/6885257/Under%20Covid-19,%20University%20Budgets%20Like%20We%E2%80%99ve%20Never%20Seen%20Before%20-%20The%20Chronicle%20of%20Higher%20Education%20-%20Friga1.pdf</u>
- Fullan, M. (2007). Educational reform as continuous improvement. *The keys to effective schools:* Educational reform as continuous improvement, 1-12. <u>http://www.michaelfullan.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/13396039520.pdf</u>

- Furst-Bowe, J. A., & Bauer, R. A. (2007). Application of the Baldrige model for innovation in higher education. New directions for higher education, 2007(137), 5-14. <u>https://knilt.arcc.albany.edu/images/0/02/Balrige_Model_for_HE.pdf</u>
- Fuster Guillen, D. E. (2019). Qualitative Research: Hermeneutical Phenomenological Method. *Journal* of Educational Psychology-Propositos y Representaciones, 7(1), 217-229. https://doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n1.267
- Garza, G. (2007). Varieties of phenomenological research at the University of Dallas: An emerging typology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *4*(4), 313-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880701551170</u>
- Giddens, A. (1986). *The constitution of society: Outline of the theory of structuration* (Vol. 349). Univ of California Press.
- Giorgi, A. (1997, 01 / 01 /). The theory, practice, and evaluation of the phenomenological method as a qualitative research procedure [Article]. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology, 28*(2), 235-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/156916297X00103</u>
- Godin, B. (2015). Innovation contested: The idea of innovation over the centuries. Routledge.
- Green, J., & Thorogood, N. (2004). Qualitative Methods for Health Research. Sage.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 191-215). Sage.
- Hairon, S., & Goh, J. W. (2015). Pursuing the elusive construct of distributed leadership: Is the search over? Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 43(5), 693-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143214535745</u>
- Han, S. H., Yoon, S. W., & Chae, C. (2020). Building social capital and learning relationships through knowledge sharing: A social network approach of management students' cases. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-11-2019-0641</u>
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, B. (2017). *Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers*. Teachers College Press.
- Hanifah, H., Halim, H. A., Ahmad, N. H., & Vafaei-Zadeh, A. (2019). Emanating the key factors of innovation performance: leveraging on the innovation culture among SMEs in Malaysia. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-04-2018-0130</u>
- Hansen, J. A., & Pihl-Thingvad, S. (2019, 2019/06/03). Managing employee innovative behaviour through transformational and transactional leadership styles. *Public Management Review*, 21(6), 918-944. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1544272</u>

Hardy, C. (2014). Hysteresis. In Pierre Bourdieu (pp. 138-158). Routledge.

- Harrigan, P., & Hulbert, B. (2011). How can marketing academics serve marketing practice? The new marketing DNA as a model for marketing education. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 33(3), 253-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475311420234</u>
- Harvey, A., Burnheim, C., & Brett, M. (2016). *Student Equity in Australian Higher Education : Twentyfive Years of A Fair Chance for All*. Springer.
- Hasanefendic, S., Birkholz, J. M., Horta, H., & van der Sijde, P. (2017). Individuals in action: bringing about innovation in higher education. *European Journal of Higher Education*, 7(2), 101-119. https://doi.org/10.1080/21568235.2017.1296367
- Hazelkorn, E., & Gibson, A. (2019, August 01). Public goods and public policy: what is public good, and who and what decides? [journal article]. *Higher Education, 78*(2), 257-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0341-3</u>
- Heffernan, T. A., & Bosetti, L. (2020, 2020/10/01). The emotional labour and toll of managerial academia on higher education leaders. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 52(4), 357-372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2020.1725741</u>

Heidegger, M. (1962). Being and Time. Harper & Row.

- Henard, F., & Roseveare, D. (2012). Fostering quality teaching in higher education: Policies and practices. *An IMHE Guide for Higher Education Institutions*, 7-11. <u>https://learningavenue.fr/assets/pdf/QT%20policies%20and%20practices.pdf</u>
- Ho, S. (2020). Culture and learning: Confucian heritage learners, social-oriented achievement, and innovative pedagogies. *Diversity and Inclusion in Global Higher Education: Lessons from across Asia. Singapore: Palgrave Macmillan*, 117-159.
 https://library.oapen.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12657/23168/1006985.pdf?sequence=1
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., & Bond, A. (2020). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning. *Educause review*, 27, 1-12.
 <u>https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-remote-teaching-and-online-learning</u>
- Holloway, I., & Todres, L. (2003). The status of method: flexibility, consistency and coherence. *Qualitative research, 3*(3), 345-357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794103033004</u>
- Ilo, P. I., & Ifijeh, G. (2010). Impact of the Internet on final year students' research: A case study of Covenant University, Ota, Nigeria. *Library Philosophy and Practice (e-journal)*, 1-7. <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/403</u>
- Itow, R. C. (2020). Fostering valuable learning experiences by transforming current teaching practices: practical pedagogical approaches from online practitioners. *Information and Learning Sciences*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ILS-04-2020-0106</u>
- Jääskelä, P., Häkkinen, P., & Rasku-Puttonen, H. (2017). Supporting and constraining factors in the development of university teaching experienced by teachers. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 22(6), 655-671. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2016.1273206</u>

- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing Interview Protocols and Conducting Interviews: Tips for Students New to the Field of Qualitative Research. (The Qualitative Report, Issue. Retrieved from <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss42/3</u>
- Jadhav, V. (2018). Issues and Challenges1. In M. Abraham (Ed.), *Sociology and Social Justice* (pp. 48). Sage.
- Jarvis, P. (2006). *The theory and practice of teaching*. Routledge.
- Johnston, C. M., Wallis, M., Oprescu, F. I., & Gray, M. (2017). Methodological considerations related to nurse researchers using their own experience of a phenomenon within phenomenology. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73(3), 574-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13198</u>
- Joplin, L. (1981). On Defining Experiential Education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 4(1), 17-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382598100400104
- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic Qualitative Approaches: Pitfalls and Benefits of Methodological Mixology. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 13(1), 37-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300119</u>
- Kahn, K. B. (2018). Understanding innovation. *Business Horizons, 61*(3), 453-460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.01.011
- Kahveci, A., Kahveci, M., Mansour, N., & Alarfaj, M. M. (2018). Exploring science teachers' affective states: Pedagogical discontentment, self-efficacy, intentions to reform, and their relationships. *Research in Science Education*, 48(6), 1359-1386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9606-y</u>
- Kantar, L. D. (2013). Demystifying instructional innovation: The case of teaching with case studies. Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 13(2), 101-115. <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1011686.pdf</u>
- Kavnaugh, M. H. (2018). The impact of technology on teaching and learning: Does anyone miss the chalkboard? . In R. J. Harnish, K. R. Bridges, D. N. Sattler, M. L. Signorella, & M. Munson (Eds.), *The Use of Technology in Teaching and Learning* (pp. 16). <u>http://teachpsych.org/ebooks/</u>
- Ketelaar, E., Beijaard, D., Boshuizen, H. P., & Den Brok, P. J. (2012). Teachers' positioning towards an educational innovation in the light of ownership, sense-making and agency. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 28*(2), 273-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.10.004</u>
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology, 44*(4), 536-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12049</u>
- Kohli, A. K., & Haenlein, M. (2021). Factors affecting the study of important marketing issues: Implications and recommendations. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 38(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2020.02.009</u>

- Koivu, K. L., & Damman, E. K. (2015). Qualitative variations: The sources of divergent qualitative methodological approaches. *Quality & Quantity*, 49(6), 2617-2632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-014-0131-7</u>
- Kop, R., & Bouchard, P. (2011). The role of adult educators in the age of social media. In M. Thomas (Ed.), *Digital education: Opportunities for social collaboration* (pp. 61-80). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kopcha, T. J., Rieber, L. P., & Walker, B. B. (2016). Understanding university faculty perceptions about innovation in teaching and technology. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(5), 945-957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12361</u>
- Kumar, R. S. (2019). Industry-Academia Collaboration in Business Schools. In Handbook of Research on Ethics, Entrepreneurship, and Governance in Higher Education (pp. 519-537). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-5837-8.ch024
- Kunnari, I., & Ilomäki, L. (2016, 2016/03/03). Reframing teachers' work for educational innovation. Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 53(2), 167-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2014.978351</u>
- Kushman, J. W. (1992). The Organizational Dynamics of Teacher Workplace Commitment: A Study of Urban Elementary and Middle Schools. *Educational Administration Quarterly, 28*(1), 5-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x92028001002</u>
- Larkin, M., Watts, S., & Clifton, E. (2006, 2006/01/01). Giving voice and making sense in interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative research in psychology, 3*(2), 102-120. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp062oa
- Larrivee, B. (2000). Transforming teaching practice: Becoming the critically reflective teacher. *Reflective practice*, 1(3), 293-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/713693162</u>
- Lašáková, A., Bajzíková, Ľ., & Dedze, I. (2017, 2017/07/01/). Barriers and drivers of innovation in higher education: Case study-based evidence across ten European universities. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 55, 69-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2017.06.002</u>
- Lau, J., Yang, B., & Dasgupta, R. (2020). Will the coronavirus make online education go viral? . <u>https://www.timeshighereducation.com/features/will-coronavirus-make-online-education-go-viral</u>
- Lauckner, H., Paterson, M., & Krupa, T. (2012). Using constructivist case study methodology to understand community development processes: proposed methodological questions to guide the research process. *Qualitative Report, 17*, 25. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1790</u>
- Laverie, D., Humphrey, W., Manis, K. T., & Freberg, K. (2020, 2020/01/02). The digital era has changed marketing: A guide to using industry certifications and exploration of student perceptions of effectiveness. *Marketing Education Review*, 30(1), 57-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2020.1716806</u>

Lazowska, E. (2016). *Is technology crucial for innovation?* https://www.washington.edu/innovation/2016/06/02/is-technology-crucial-for-innovation/

- Lee, S. H., Sergueeva, K., Catangui, M., & Kandaurova, M. (2017, 2017/05/19). Assessing Google Cardboard virtual reality as a content delivery system in business classrooms. *Journal of Education for Business, 92*(4), 153-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2017.1308308</u>
- Lines, L. (2016). Ghostwriters guaranteeing grades? The quality of online ghostwriting services available to tertiary students in Australia. *Teaching in Higher Education, 21*(8), 889-914. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2016.1198759
- Litomitz, B. E. (1997). 33 Just say no: Responsibility and resistance. *Mind, culture, and activity: Seminal papers from the laboratory of comparative human cognition,* 473.
- Liu, Q., Geertshuis, S., & Grainger, R. (2020, 2020/07/01/). Understanding academics' adoption of learning technologies: A systematic review. *Computers & Education*, 151, 103857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103857</u>
- Lopez, K. A., & Willis, D. G. (2004). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology: Their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(5), 726-735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304263638</u>
- Lynch, K., & Ivancheva, M. (2015). Academic freedom and the commercialisation of universities: a critical ethical analysis. *Ethics in Science and Environmental Politics*, *15*(1), 71-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esep00160</u>
- Macfarlane, B. (2011a). The Morphing of Academic Practice: Unbundling and the Rise of the Paraacademic. *Higher Education Quarterly, 65*(1), 59-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-</u> <u>2273.2010.00467.x</u>
- Macfarlane, B. (2011b). The morphing of academic practice: Unbundling and the rise of the paraacademic. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 65(1), 59-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-</u> <u>2273.2010.00467.x</u>
- Majgaard, G., & Weitze, C. (2020). Virtual Experiential Learning, Learning Design and Interaction in Extended Reality Simulations. 14th European Conference on Games Based Learning, ECGBL 2020,
- Mantovani, F. (2001). 12 VR learning: Potential and challenges for the use of 3d environments in education and training. *Towards cyberpsychology: mind, cognition, and society in the Internet age, 2*(207).
- Marginson, S. (2013). The impossibility of capitalist markets in higher education. *Journal of Education Policy, 28*(3), 353-370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2012.747109</u>
- Mars, M., & Medak, T. (2019). Against innovation: Compromised institutional agency and acts of custodianship. *Ephemera: Theory & Politics in Organization, 19*(2). <u>https://hcommons.org/deposits/view/hc:25216/CONTENT/19-2ephemera-jul19.pdf/#page=145</u>

- Martin, A. J., & Rees, M. (2019). Student Insights: Developing T-Shaped Professionals through Work-Integrated Learning. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning, 20*(4), 365-374. <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1238481.pdf</u>
- Martin, B. R. (2013). Innovation studies: an emerging agenda. In J. Fagerberg, B. R. Martin, & E. Sloth Andersen (Eds.), *Innovation studies: evolution and future challenges* (pp. 168-186). Oxford University Press.
- Marton, F. (1986). Phenomenography—a research approach to investigating different understandings of reality. *Journal of thought*, 28-49. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/42589189</u>
- Maslow, A. H. (1981). Motivation and personality. Prabhat Books.
- Mateo, J., & Vlachopoulos, D. (2013). Reflexiones en torno al aprendizaje ya la evaluación en la universidad en el contexto de un nuevo paradigma para la educación superior. *Educación XX1, 16*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/educxx1.2.16.10338</u>
- McDonough, P., & Polzer, J. (2012). Habitus, hysteresis and organizational change in the public sector. *Canadian Journal of Sociology*, *37*(4), 357-380. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/canajsocicahican.37.4.357
- McGovern, E. (2017). *The Introduction of Virtual Reality to Education: Should the Marketing Discipline Engage?* Marketing Management Association Annual Fall Conferences, Pittsburgh, PA.
- McKibbon, K. A., & Gadd, C. S. (2004). A quantitative analysis of qualitative studies in clinical journals for the 2000 publishing year. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 4(1), 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-4-11</u>
- McKinley, J., Houke, C., & Kizer, L. (2017). Blue Ocean MBA's in The Era of Wicked Problem Disruption From Automation, Robotics, & Artificial Intelligence. *Business Education Innovation Journal*, 9(2), 80. <u>http://elmstreetpress.com/images/V9N2_final.pdf#page=80</u>
- McTaggart, R., Nixon, R., & Kemmis, S. (2017). Critical participatory action research. In *The Palgrave international handbook of action research* (pp. 21-35). Springer.
- Megoran, N., & Mason, O. (2020). Second class academic citizens: The dehumanising effects of casualisation in higher education. University and College Union. <u>https://www.ucu.org.uk/article/10527/Casualised-staff-are-second-class-citizenswarnsreport</u>
- Miedijensky, S., Sasson, I., & Yehuda, I. (2021, 2021/02/19). Teachers' Learning Communities for Developing High Order Thinking Skills—A Case Study of a School Pedagogical Change. Interchange. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-021-09423-7</u>
- Miettinen, R. (1999, 1999/01/01). The riddle of things: Activity theory and actor-network theory as approaches to studying innovations. *Mind, Culture, and Activity, 6*(3), 170-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10749039909524725</u>
- Mills, A., & Robson, K. (2019). All-or-Nothing Performance Assessment. Marketing Educators' Association, Phenix, Arizona.

- Minocha, S. (2015). The state of virtual reality in education–Shape of things to come. *International Journal of Engineering Research*, 4(11), 596-598.
- Mintz, S. (2019, February 6). Higher Education Needs to Innovate. But How? *Not for innovation's* sake, but to support student success. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/higher-ed-gamma/higher-education-needs-innovate-how</u>
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.
- Muduli, A., Kaura, V., & Quazi, A. (2018, 2018/06/01/). Pedagogy or andragogy? Views of Indian postgraduate business students. *IIMB Management Review, 30*(2), 168-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2018.01.008
- Myyryläinen, H. (2017). Measuring the promise of innovation in the higher education. UPDATE 2017 ON HIGHER EDUCATION International week 25.-29.9. 2017, 48.
- Nadelson, L. S., Albritton, S., Couture, V. G., Green, C., Loyless, S. D., & Shaw, E. O. (2020). Principals' Perceptions of Education Equity: A Mindset for Practice. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 9(1), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v9n1p1</u>
- Nusair, N., Ababneh, R., & Bae, Y. K. (2012). The impact of transformational leadership style on innovation as perceived by public employees in Jordan. *International Journal of Commerce and Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/10569211211260283</u>
- OECD. (2016). Innovating education and educating for innovation : the power of digital technologies and skills [Electronic document]. OECD. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264265097-en</u>
- Olsson, A. L. (2018). A moment of letting go: Iris Murdoch and the morally transformative process of unselfing. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, *52*(1), 163-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12278</u>
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2005). Taking the "Q" out of research: Teaching research methodology courses without the divide between quantitative and qualitative paradigms. *Quality and Quantity, 39*(3), 267-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-004-1670-0</u>
- Owusu-Agyeman, Y. (2019). Transformational leadership and innovation in higher education: a participative process approach. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1623919</u>
- Palmer, P. J. (1997). The heart of a teacher identity and integrity in teaching. *Change: The Magazine* of Higher Learning, 29(6), 14-21.
- Pardo, A., & Kloos, C. D. (2011). Stepping out of the box: towards analytics outside the learning management system. Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Learning Analytics and Knowledge,
- Pefanis Schlee, R., & Harich, K. R. (2010). Knowledge and skill requirements for marketing jobs in the 21st century. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *32*(3), 341-352. https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475310380881

- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 1: Introducing the philosophy of qualitative research. *Manual Therapy*, *17*(4), 267-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2012.03.006
- Philbin, S. (2008). Process model for university-industry research collaboration. *European Journal of* Innovation Management. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14601060810911138</u>
- Pintrich, P. R., & Zusho, A. (2002). The development of academic self-regulation: The role of cognitive and motivational factors. In *Development of achievement motivation* (pp. 249-284). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012750053-9/50012-7</u>
- QS. (2022). QS World University Rankings 2022. <u>https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2022</u>
- Radio New Zealand. (2021). *Timeline: The year of Covid-19 in New Zealand*<u>https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/437359/timeline-the-year-of-covid-19-in-new-zealand</u>
- Reeve, J. (2016). A grand theory of motivation: Why not? *Motivation and Emotion, 40*(1), 31-35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-015-9538-2
- Reeves, S., Peller, J., Goldman, J., & Kitto, S. (2013). Ethnography in qualitative educational research: AMEE Guide No. 80. *Medical Teacher, 35*(8), e1365-e1379. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2013.804977</u>
- Reiners, G. M. (2012). Understanding the differences between Husserl's (descriptive) and Heidegger's (interpretive) phenomenological research. *Journal of Nursing & Care, 1*(5), 1-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-1168.1000119</u>
- Riivari, E., Malin, V., Jääskelä, P., & Lukkari, T. (2020). University as a workplace: searching for meaningful work. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 25(3), 286-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2018.1563061</u>
- Rogers, E. M. (2010). Diffusion of innovations. Simon and Schuster.
- Rohm, A. J., Stefl, M., & Saint Clair, J. (2018). Time for a Marketing Curriculum Overhaul: Developing a Digital-First Approach. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 0(0), 0273475318798086. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475318798086</u>
- Rohn, J. (2017). Should aging academics be forced to quit? <u>https://www.theguardian.com/science/occams-corner/2017/jun/02/should-ageing-academics-be-forced-to-quit</u>
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-Determination Theory and the Facilitation of Intrinsic Motivation, Social Development, and Well-Being. *American Psychologist*(1), 68. <u>http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=edsovi&AN=edsovi.00000487.200001000.00007&site=eds-live</u>
- Rybnicek, R., & Königsgruber, R. (2019). What makes industry–university collaboration succeed? A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of business economics, 89*(2), 221-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-018-0916-6</u>

- Sabagh, Z., Hall, N. C., & Saroyan, A. (2018, 2018/04/03). Antecedents, correlates and consequences of faculty burnout. *Educational Research*, *60*(2), 131-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2018.1461573
- Saldaña, J. (2015). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.
- Salmi, J., & D'Addio, A. (2021). Policies for achieving inclusion in higher education. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, 5(1), 47-72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2020.1835529
- Sancho-Gil, J. M., Rivera-Vargas, P., & Miño-Puigcercós, R. (2020). Moving beyond the predictable failure of Ed-Tech initiatives. *Learning, Media and Technology, 45*(1), 61-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2019.1666873
- Sannino, A. (2010). Teachers' talk of experiencing: Conflict, resistance and agency. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 26*(4), 838-844. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.10.021</u>
- Schneckenberg, D. (2009, 2009/12/01). Understanding the real barriers to technology-enhanced innovation in higher education. *Educational Research*, *51*(4), 411-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131880903354741</u>
- Schot, J., & Geels, F. W. (2008). Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: theory, findings, research agenda, and policy. *Technology analysis & strategic management*, 20(5), 537-554. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537320802292651</u>
- Schot, J., & Steinmueller, E. (2016). Framing innovation policy for transformative change: Innovation policy 3.0. SPRU Science Policy Research Unit, University of Sussex: Brighton, UK. <u>https://tipconsortium.net/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/03/SchotSteinmueller_FramingsWorkingPaperVersionUpdated2018.</u> <u>10.16-New-copy.pdf</u>
- Schröder, A., & Krüger, D. (2019). Social Innovation as a Driver for New Educational Practices: Modernising, Repairing and Transforming the Education System. *Sustainability*, 11(4), 1070. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11041070</u>
- Schumpeter, J. A., & Stiglitz, J. E. (2010). *Capitalism, socialism, and democracy*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203857090
- Schwandt, T. A. (1994). Constructivist, interpretivist approaches to human inquiry. *Handbook of qualitative research, 1,* 118-137.
- Scruton, R. (1987, 1987/01/01). Expressionist Education. *Oxford Review of Education, 13*(1), 39-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305498870130104
- Serdyukov, P. (2017). Innovation in education: what works, what doesn't, and what to do about it? Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning, 10(1), 4-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIT-10-2016-0007</u>

- Serrano, D. R., Dea-Ayuela, M. A., Gonzalez-Burgos, E., Serrano-Gil, A., & Lalatsa, A. (2019). Technology-enhanced learning in higher education: How to enhance student engagement through blended learning. *European Journal of Education*, 54(2), 273-286. <u>https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12330</u>
- Sharma, M. K., & Sharma, R. (2021). Innovation framework for excellence in higher education institutions. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, 22(2), 141-155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40171-021-00265-x
- Siddiqui, J. A., & Adams, R. (2013). The challenge of change in engineering education: Is it the diffusion of innovations or transformative learning? 2013 ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition, Atlanta.
- Silver, H. (1999). Managing to innovate in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Studies,* 47(2), 145-156. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8527.00108</u>
- Smellie, P. (2020). Kiwi universities brace for disruption as Govt restricts China travel. *New Zealand Herald*. <u>https://www.nzherald.co.nz/business/kiwi-universities-brace-for-disruption-as-govt-restricts-china-travel/552CBCJ4GQNOGJLOUTS36TUPXQ/</u>
- Smith, J. A. (2011). Evaluating the contribution of interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Health Psychology Review, 5*(1), 9-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2010.510659</u>
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis : theory, method and research*. SAGE.
- Smith, K. (2012, 2012/05/01). Lessons learnt from literature on the diffusion of innovative learning and teaching practices in higher education. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 49*(2), 173-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2012.677599</u>
- Somekh, B. (2007). *Pedagogy and learning with ICT: Researching the art of innovation*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203947005
- Stackhouse, M., Falkenberg, L., Drake, C., & Mahdavimazdeh, H. (2020, 2020/07/03). Why Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) have been resisted: A qualitative study and resistance typology. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *57*(4), 450-459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2020.1727353</u>
- Stake, R. E. (2013). *Multiple case study analysis*. Guilford press.
- Stalheim, O. R. (2020). Developing professional knowledge through innovation in higher education. Higher Education, Skills and Work-Based Learning. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-06-</u> 2019-0082
- Starks, H., & Brown Trinidad, S. (2007). Choose your method: A comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, *17*(10), 1372-1380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307307031
- Summerlee, A. J. (2018). Inquiry-based learning: A socially just approach to higher education. *Journal* of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 28(4), 406-418. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1438956

- Ta, T. N. (2018). Leaders facilitating innovation: leadership for innovation in a Finnish university in time of change. <u>https://doi.org/http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:jyu-201806083124</u>
- Taylor, S. E., & Gollwitzer, P. M. (1995). Effects of mindset on positive illusions. *Journal of personality* and social psychology, 69(2), 213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.2.213</u>
- Tidd, J., & Bessant, J. R. (2018). *Managing innovation: integrating technological, market and organizational change*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A. W., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of educational research, 68*(2), 202-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543068002202</u>
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative social work, 11*(1), 80-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316</u>
- Usher, A. (2021, March 3). A very Canadian innovation proposal. <u>https://higheredstrategy.com/a-very-canadian-innovation-proposal/</u>
- Vähäsantanen, K., Hökkä, P., Eteläpelto, A., Rasku-Puttonen, H., & Littleton, K. (2008). Teachers' professional identity negotiations in two different work organisations. *Vocations and Learning*, 1(2), 131-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12186-008-9008-z</u>
- Vaikunthavasan, S., Jebarajakirthy, C., & Shankar, A. (2019, 2019/05/27). How to Make Higher Education Institutions Innovative: An Application of Market Orientation Practices. *Journal of Nonprofit & Public Sector Marketing*, 31(3), 274-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10495142.2018.1526741</u>
- Van Manen, M. (1997). Researching lived experience : human science for an action sensitive pedagogy (2nd ed.). Althouse Press
- Van Petegem, W. (2010). Stories of Change: The KU Leuven, Belgium. In *Changing cultures in higher* education (pp. 235-238). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-03582-1_18</u>
- Wagenheim, G., Clark, R., & Crispo, A. W. (2008). Metaphorical Mirror: Reflecting on Our Personal Pursuits to Discover and Challenge Our Teaching Practice Assumptions. *International journal* of teaching and learning in higher education, 20(3), 503-509. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ869334
- Weber, K. M., & Rohracher, H. (2012). Legitimizing research, technology and innovation policies for transformative change: Combining insights from innovation systems and multi-level perspective in a comprehensive 'failures' framework. *Research Policy*, *41*(6), 1037-1047.
- Wick, C. (2000). Knowledge management and leadership opportunities for technical communicators. *Technical communication*, 47(4), 515-529. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/43748971</u>
- Wierenga, B. (2021). The study of important marketing issues in an evolving field. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *38*(1), 18-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2020.10.007</u>

- Wilson-Kennedy, Z. S., Huang, L., Kennedy, E., Tang, G., Kanipes, M. I., & Byrd, G. S. (2019). Faculty Motivation for Scholarly Teaching and Innovative Classroom Practice—An Empirical Study. In *Research and Practice in Chemistry Education* (pp. 65-88). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6998-8_5</u>
- Wix. (2020). Wix brings first of its kind remote learning initiative to Phillipines Department of Education. <u>https://www.wix.com/press-room/home/post/wix-helps-bring-first-of-its-kind-</u> remote-learning-initiative-to-philippines-department-of-education
- Woo, B. S. (2019). *Lecturers' Engagement with Digital Pedagogy in a Polytechnic in Singapore* University of Sussex]. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/201000473.pdf</u>
- Yaoyuneyong, G., Foster, J. K., & Flynn, L. R. (2014, 2014/10/02). Factors impacting the efficacy of augmented reality virtual dressing room technology as a tool for online visual merchandising. *Journal of Global Fashion Marketing*, 5(4), 283-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20932685.2014.926129</u>
- Ye, C., Van Os, J., Chapman, D., & Jacobson, D. (2017). An online project-based competency education approach to marketing education. *Journal of Marketing Education, 39*(3), 162-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475317724843</u>
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2020). What can be learned from growth mindset controversies? *American psychologist, 75*(9), 1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000794</u>
- Yin, R. (2003). Designing case studies. Qualitative Research Methods, 359-386.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case Stdy Research: Design and Methods (5th ed.). SAGE.
- Ylijoki, O.-H., & Ursin, J. (2013). The construction of academic identity in the changes of Finnish higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 38(8), 1135-1149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2013.833036</u>
- Yonezawa, A., Hammond, C. D., Brotherhood, T., Kitamura, M., & Kitagawa, F. (2020). Evolutions in knowledge production policy and practice in Japan: a case study of an interdisciplinary research institute for disaster science. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 42(2), 230-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2019.1701850</u>
- Zafar, D. S. T. (2019). Role of information communication technology (ICT) in education and its relative impact. *International Journal of Engineering Research & Technology (IJERT)*, 2278-0181.
- Zealand, U. N. (2020). *Responding to an Aging Academic Workforce*. <u>https://www.universitiesnz.ac.nz/files/Responding_to_an_ageing_academic_workforce_FIN_AL.pdf</u>
- Zhu, C., & Engels, N. (2014). Organizational culture and instructional innovations in higher education: Perceptions and reactions of teachers and students. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 42(1), 136-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143213499253</u>

- Zhu, C., Wang, D., Cai, Y., & Engels, N. (2013). What core competencies are related to teachers' innovative teaching? *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, *41*(1), 9-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866X.2012.753984</u>
- Zimmer, W. K., & Keiper, P. (2020). Redesigning curriculum at the higher education level: challenges and successes within a sport management program. *Educational Action Research*, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2020.1727348</u>

8 Appendix 1: Interview Questions

Innovative Practice: Proposed questions for case study/interviews.

My environment

Please describe your role and the Institution you work for in brief (to give context to your environment):

Innovative practice - overview

- 1) What does innovative practice mean to you?
- 2) What is the role of innovative practice in higher education?
- 3) How do you think academics are innovating in higher education? (ways, areas of focus, tools being used, etc.)

Mindset

- 4) How would you describe your academic identity? i.e. the type of academic you are. Your beliefs and approaches to your academic practice.
- 5) How do you think your academic identity impacts the way you approach innovative practice?
- 6) What challenges have you personally experienced in attempting to introduce new practices?
- 7) How has this affected the way you think about trying new ways of doing things?

Process

- 8) Tell me about your experiences in innovating
 - a. What was the innovative practice?
 - b. Why was it introduced? How did you recognise it was needed? What was the problem you sought to solve through this new practice?
 - c. How 'innovative' was the anticipated change you sought? Small change, significant change, or radical change? Why is it so?
 - d. Can you describe the process you went through in arriving at the new practice?
 - e. How closely did the outcome match what you had originally intended as the innovative practice? Why? How did your focus change? What influenced the shift?
 - f. Who else was involved in the process? What were their roles? How active were they?
 - g. What factors contributed to the ease or difficulties you experienced during the process of innovating?
- 9) How did your context impact on the introduction of that practice?
 - h. Departmental processes? Values? Mission and vision?

Outcome

- 10) What has affected the success or otherwise of the new practice?
- 11) To what extent have you/others continued with the innovative practice?
- 12) How has the practice been altered since you originally introduced it? What contributed to those changes?
- 13) How have others been affected by your attempts to innovate? Students? Colleagues? Managers?
- 14) What advice do you have for others attempting to innovate and introduce new practice?

9 Appendix 2: Ethics Approval

Dear Helene Wilkinson,							
I am pleased (VPREC) has a conditions of	to inform approved the appro	you that your app oval can k	the EdD. Virt lication for et pe found belo	ual Programme hical approval fc w.	Research Et or your stuc	thi ly.	cs Committee Details and
							<u> </u>
Sub-Committee:		EdD. Virtual Programme Research Ethics Committee (VPREC)					
Review type:		Expedited					
PI:					_		
School:		Lifelong	Learning				
Title:		Reimagining Education: Towards an understanding of how new academic practice might lead to transformational education					
First Reviewer:		Dr. José Reis Jorge					
Second Reviewer:		Dr. Dimitrios Vlachopoulos					
Other members of the Committee		Dr. Lucilla Crosta, Dr. Eileen Kennedy, Dr. Janet Hanson					
Date of Approval:		1/07/2019					
The application was APPROVED subject to the following conditions:							
			[[
Conditions							
1	Mandato	ry	M: All serious adverse events must be reported to the VPREC within 24 hours of their occurrence, via the EdD Thesis Primary Supervisor.				

This approval applies for the duration of the research. If it is proposed to extend the duration of the study as specified in the application form, the Sub-Committee should be notified. If it is proposed to make an amendment to the research, you should notify the Sub-Committee by following the Notice of Amendment procedure outlined at

http://www.liv.ac.uk/media/livacuk/researchethics/notice%20of%20amendment.doc.

Where your research includes elements that are not conducted in the UK, approval to proceed is further conditional upon a thorough risk assessment of the site and local permission to carry out the research, including, where such a body exists, local research ethics committee approval. No documentation of local permission is required (a) if the researcher will simply be asking organizations to distribute research invitations on the researcher's behalf, or (b) if the researcher is using only public means to identify/contact participants. When medical, educational, or business records are analysed or used to identify potential research purposes (even if the researcher normally has access to that data to perform his or her job).

Please note that the approval to proceed depends also on research proposal approval. (update from researcher 2/7/19: This has already been granted)

10 Appendix 3: Infographic

